

FACULTY HANDBOOK

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Welcome

Chapter 1

Mission of the University

- I. Activities to Support the Mission
- II. History of the University
- III. Administrative Organization
 - A. Board of Trustees
 - B. Office of the Chancellor
 - C. Office of the President
 - D. Provost and the Office for Academic Affairs (OAA)
 - E. Office of Research and Economic Development
 - F. Office of Community Affairs
 - G. Office for Student Life
 - H. Office of University Advancement
 - I. Division of Finance and Operations
 - J. Office for Strategic Communications
 - K. Office for Diversity, Equity and Inclusion
 - L. Academic Divisions of the University
 - 1. Capstone College of Nursing
 - 2. College of Arts and Sciences
 - 3. College of Communication and Information Sciences
 - 4. College of Community Health Sciences
 - 5. College of Continuing Studies
 - 6. College of Education
 - 7. College of Engineering
 - 8. College of Human Environmental Sciences
 - 9. Culverhouse College of Commerce
 - 10. Graduate School
 - 11. Honors College
 - 12. Hugh F. Culverhouse Jr. School of Law
 - 13. School of Social Work

- 14. University Libraries
 - M. Departments and Areas
 - N. Faculty Members
- IV. Faculty Participation
 - A. Committees and Task Forces
 - B. Curriculum Matters
 - 1. Graduate Curricula
 - 2. Undergraduate Core Curriculum
 - 3. Honors Courses
 - C. Faculty Senate
- V. Research and Allied Organizations
- VI. University Accreditations

Chapter 2

Faculty Personnel Policies

- I. Introduction
- II. Criteria and Standards for Appointments
 - A. Instructor
 - B. Tenured/Tenure-Track Professor Ranks
 - 1. Tenured/Tenure-Track Assistant Professor
 - 2. Tenured/Tenure-Track Associate Professor
 - 3. Tenured/Tenure-Track Professor
 - C. Renewable Contract Professor Ranks
 - 1. Renewable Contract Assistant Professor
 - 2. Renewable Contract Associate Professor
 - 3. Renewable Contract Professor
 - D. Endowed Chairs and Professorships
 - 1. Criteria and Procedures for Endowed Chairs and Professorships
 - a. General Criteria for Appointments for Endowed Chairs and Professorships
 - b. Procedures for Recruitment of Candidates for Endowed Chairs
 - c. Procedures for Recruitment of Candidates for Endowed Professorships

- d. Terms of Appointment for Endowed Chairs and Professorships
 - E. University Professorships
 - F. Temporary Ranks
 - G. Joint Appointments
 - H. Adjunct and Visiting Professor Appointments
 - I. Non-Faculty Research Appointments
- III. Terms of Appointment and Reappointment for Renewable Contract Faculty
 - A. Initial Appointments for Renewable Contract Faculty
 - B. Reappointment for Renewable Contract Faculty
 - 1. Renewable Contract Professor Ranks
 - 2. Instructors
- IV. Criteria and Standards for Promotion
 - A. Promotion for Tenured/Tenure-Track Professor Ranks
 - 1. Promotion from Assistant Professor to Associate Professor
 - 2. Promotion from Associate Professor to Professor
 - B. Promotion for Renewable Contract Professor Ranks
 - 1. Promotion from Renewable Contract Assistant Professor to Renewable Contract Associate Professor
 - 2. Promotion from Renewable Contract Associate professor to Renewable Contract Professor
 - C. Promotion from Renewable Contract Instructor to Renewable Contract Senior Instructor
- V. Criteria and Standards for Awarding Tenure to Probationary Faculty
 - A. Criteria and Standards
 - B. Duration of Probationary Status
 - C. Initial Appointment with Tenure
- VI. Composition of Faculty Committees for Appointments, Promotions, Progress Reviews, and Tenure
- VII. Preparation of Dossiers; Subsequent Additions
 - A. Dossiers for Retention and Reappointment of Renewable Contract Faculty
 - B. Dossiers for Tenure and Promotion
- VIII. Progress Reviews of Probationary Faculty

- IX. Procedures for Making Tenure Recommendations
 - A. Departmental Tenure Recommendations
 - B. Divisional Tenure Recommendations
 - C. University Tenure Decision
- X. Procedures for Making Promotion Recommendations
- XI. Policy and Guidelines on Faculty Evaluation
- XII. Resignations
- XIII. Termination and Severance
 - A. Adequate Cause to Revoke Tenure or to Terminate Before the End of an Employment Term
 - B. Financial Exigency and Termination of Tenured Faculty
 - C. Notice of Termination
 - 1. Tenured/Tenure-Track Faculty
 - 2. Renewable Contract and Temporary Faculty
 - D. Leave with Pay Pending Tribunal Review
- XIV. Appointment, Evaluation, and Replacement of Administrators
- XV. Conversion from Administrative to Tenured Faculty Status
 - A. Academic Year Salary
 - B. Awarding Administrative Leave and Phasing Out Administrative Stipends
 - C. Other Conditions
 - 1. Date of Conversion
 - 2. Salary During Administrative Leaves
 - 3. Accrued Leave
- XVI. Faculty Participation in Selection of Vice Presidents

Chapter 3

Faculty Conduct and Compensation

- I. Academic Freedom
- II. Code of Conduct / Standards of Behavior
 - A. AAUP Statement on Professional Ethics
 - B. Compliance with Laws, University Policies, and Professional Licensure

Standards of Conduct

- III. Progressive Discipline
 - A. Minor Discipline
 - B. Severe Sanctions
- IV. Workload Assignments and Removal from the Classroom
- V. Participation in Political Activities
- VI. Policy on Contributions
- VII. Mediation and Grievance System
- VIII. Faculty Work Loads and Assignments
 - A. Workload and Full-Time Equivalent
 - B. University Convocations
- IX. Supplemental Compensation Policy
 - A. Definitions
 - B. Supplemental Compensation
 - 1. Approval for Supplemental Compensation
 - 2. Limitations on Supplemental Compensation Leave
 - 3. Working for Another Higher Education Institution
 - 4. Discipline for Violations
 - C. Internal Supplemental Compensation
 - D. Reporting Procedures
 - E. Conflict Provisions
- X. Faculty Exchange
- XI. Support for Research
 - A. Departmental Support
 - 1. Reassigned Time
 - 2. Expenses for Faculty Professional Travel
 - B. Divisional Support
 - C. University Support
 - 1. The Office for Research and Economic Development
 - 2. Information Services
 - D. Research Grants Committee

- XII. Conflict of Interest
 - A. Government-Sponsored Research
 - B. Textbook Selection
- XIII. Patent Procedures
- XIV. Copyright Policy
 - A. Determination of Rights in Copyrightable Materials at The University of Alabama
 - B. Ownership of Copyright
 - C. Exceptions
 - D. Administration
- XV. Reproduction of Copyrighted Materials
- XVI. Academic Calendar and Compensation Periods
 - A. Calendar
 - B. Compensation Periods
- XVII. Summer Session and Interim Program Compensation
- XVIII. Internal Degree Candidacy
- XIX. Pay Transparency Policy Statement

Chapter 4

Faculty Benefits

- I. Retirement, Insurance, and Other Miscellaneous Employee Benefits and Services
- II. Leaves
 - A. Annual Leave and Sick Leave for 12-Month Faculty Members
 - B. Extended Sick Leave for Faculty
 - C. Maternity Leave
 - D. Other FML-Covered Leave
 - E. Leave Associated with Distinguished Fellowships, Awards, and Grants
 - F. Voluntary Leave Without Pay
 - G. Effect of Leaves on Insurance Programs

- III. Sabbatical Leaves
 - A. Eligibility
 - B. Term of Leave and Compensation
 - C. Application and Approval Process
 - D. Administration
 - E. Reporting
 - F. Effect on Retirement

Chapter 5

Faculty Instructional Guidelines

- I. Introduction
- II. Advising, Office Hours, and Registration
 - A. Academic Advising
 - B. Office Hours
 - C. Registration
 - D. Advising Student Organizations
 - E. Tutoring
- III. Class Scheduling and Class Attendance
 - A. Class Schedule
 - B. Faculty Class Attendance
 - C. Student Attendance
- IV. Course Requirements and Textbooks
 - A. Accurate Course Descriptions and Syllabi
 - B. Textbooks
 - C. Distribution of Materials in Class Subject to Copyright Policy
 - D. Academic Honor Code
 - E. Collection of Student Fees
- V. Assignments and Evaluations, Study Week, and Final Examinations and Evaluations
 - A. Assignments and Evaluations
 - B. Study Week
 - C. Final Examinations and Evaluations
 - D. Opportunities for Making Up Examinations and Assignments
- VI. Records and Grades

- A. Class Records
- B. Student Records
- C. Reporting Grades
- D. Posting Grades
- E. Changing Grades

VII. Student Opinion of Instruction

APPENDIX A:

Policies and Guidelines for Faculty Participation in the Selection of Deans and Department Chairpersons and the Evaluation of Their Leadership

APPENDIX B:

Mediation and Grievance System

APPENDIX C:

Academic Misconduct Disciplinary Policy

APPENDIX D:

University-Wide Academic Grievance Procedures

APPENDIX E:

On Preventing Conflicts of Interest in Government-Sponsored Research at Universities

APPENDIX F:

Policy on Conflict of Interest/Financial Disclosure in Research and Other Sponsored Programs

APPENDIX G:

The University of Alabama Patent Policy

APPENDIX H:

Policy on Academic Misconduct in Scholarly Activities

APPENDIX I:

Principles and Procedures for Merger or Discontinuance of Academic Units

APPENDIX J:

Qualifications for the Graduate Faculty of The University of Alabama

Welcome

The purpose of the *Faculty Handbook* is to describe the administrative policies and procedures of the University that affect faculty-rank employees in academic units. Reasonable efforts have been made to cover all important matters and to ensure that the contents are accurate; in the event that areas of policy have been omitted or are not stated clearly, or if ambiguities or inconsistencies are found to exist, decisions will be made by appropriate officials of the University.

The provisions of and policies referenced in the [Employee Handbook](#) (except for provisions and policies applicable only to non-exempt employees) apply to faculty members. Faculty members are responsible for reviewing and adhering to the [Employee Handbook](#), the *Faculty Handbook*, and all applicable rules of [The Board of Trustees of The University of Alabama](#). If, in applicable situations involving faculty-rank employees, a conflict exists between the language of the *Faculty Handbook* and the language of the [Employee Handbook](#), the language of the *Faculty Handbook* will control and supersede the language of the [Employee Handbook](#) provided that interpretation is consistent with the University's custom and practice with applicable faculty status.

Faculty with rights and responsibilities under this Handbook are understood to be all persons who have full-time tenured, tenure-track, or renewable contract appointments. Part-time, temporary, emeritus, and adjunct faculty are understood to have responsibilities dictated by this Handbook (e.g. compliance with policies and upholding instructional standards), but do not have full rights as defined herein. Some faculty rights are exclusive to those holding a tenured or tenure-track position; these rights are noted in the appropriate sections.

The University reserves the right to amend or alter the conditions and terms contained in this *Faculty Handbook* as it deems necessary. The University will attempt to give notice of changes of information, policy, and procedure to faculty members and administrative personnel; inquiries as to whether the information contained herein is the current policy and procedure of the University should be made at the Office for Academic Affairs. [Board of Trustees Rule 108](#) ~~contains~~ requires this statement appear in this *Faculty Handbook*:

"Although the policies contained herein are intended to reflect current rules and policies of the University, users are cautioned that changes or additions may have become effective since the publication of this material. In the event of a conflict, current statements of Board policy contained in the Bylaws, Rules, official minutes, and other pronouncements of the Board or Chancellor, or superseding law, shall prevail."

This *Handbook* will be reviewed annually. The revision process will include consultation with the Council of Deans and with the Steering Committee of the Faculty Senate. Suggestions for changes should be addressed to the Provost. All changes will be made in compliance with Board of Trustees Rule 108.

Note: Please e-mail provost@ua.edu to notify the Office for Academic Affairs of any broken links, formatting issues, or technical issues with this document.

Commented [GJ1]: We moved this statement up from Page 6 – Verbatim – just as it clarifies immediately who this applies to (it was under faculty participation but didn't seem to make sense there).

Formatted: Font: Italic

Chapter 1

Mission of the University

The University of Alabama will advance the intellectual and social condition of the people of the state, the nation and the world through the creation, translation and dissemination of knowledge with an emphasis on quality programs in the areas of teaching, research and service.

For information about the University's mission, vision, core values, and strategic goals see [Mission and Objectives](#).

I. Activities to Support the Mission

The University of Alabama's activities emerge from a broad range of research and creative activities, many of which are recognized for their contributions to the economic, technological, and cultural growth of the State. Research and creative activity yields continuing stimulation for the instructional programs offered by the University's colleges and schools, which are supported by the ~~Amelia Gayle Gorgas Library~~ [University Libraries](#), a member of the Association of Research Libraries. At the undergraduate level, the University offers a broad range of baccalaureate programs in the arts and humanities, science and technology, pre-professional, and professional fields. A University-wide core curriculum provides a general education component as the keystone of every undergraduate program. Graduate programs, built on these undergraduate foundations, concentrate on the development of original scholarship, research, and creative activity. Professional programs, including the State's only public law school, prepare students with high levels of competence and for leadership roles. As one of the major residential campuses in the State, the University enhances the academic and personal growth of its students through its on-campus environment. Recognizing that education is a lifelong endeavor, the University offers an array of educational opportunities for non-traditional students.

The University's research, creative activities, and instructional programs form a foundation for extensive service activities, establishing a number of partnerships with business, non-profit organizations, and government through applications of new knowledge. These relationships often extend beyond the bounds of the State as the University assists developmental efforts at regional, national, and international levels.

II. History of the University

The University opened its doors on April 18, 1831. See [History of UA](#) for the University's history.

III. Administrative Organization

A. Board of Trustees

The State constitution vests management and control of the University in The Board of Trustees of The University of Alabama. In 1969, the Board promulgated bylaws establishing The University of Alabama System with a Chancellor as chief executive officer. The System includes The University of Alabama, the University of Alabama at Birmingham, and the University of Alabama

in Huntsville. Each University within the System is administered by a President who reports to The Board of Trustees through the Chancellor.

Current information about The Board of Trustees (including its members, officers, meetings, and committees) and Board meetings and minutes is available from [The University of Alabama System](#).

B. Office of the Chancellor

The bylaws of The Board of Trustees state that the Chancellor shall exercise such executive powers as are necessary for the governance of the University System and shall be the principal link between the Board's responsibility for policy and each President's responsibility for the individual campus. The authority and duties of the Chancellor are set forth in [The Board of Trustees Bylaws](#).

C. Office of the President

The President is the University's chief executive officer. The President, who reports to The Board of Trustees through the Chancellor, is the main representative of the University to the public and works closely with the Chancellor in dealing with state and federal agencies. It is the President's responsibility to provide educational and administrative leadership to the institution. The President's duties encompass all aspects of educational programs, external relations, personnel management, and financial management.

In carrying out the duties of the office, the President is assisted by the Provost, who serves as the chief administrative officer, and by vice presidents of the other major functional areas listed below, by deans of the academic colleges, and by other administrative staff. More information about the President is available from the [Office of the President](#).

D. Provost and the Office for Academic Affairs (OAA)

The Provost, who also serves as the Vice President for Academic Affairs, is the senior vice president and the chief academic officer for the University. The Provost plans, coordinates, directs, and facilitates the University's efforts in fulfilling its comprehensive mission in teaching, research, and service. Information about the Provost, the Office for Academic Affairs staff and affiliated units, and resources and reports from this office are available from the [OAA](#).

E. Office of Research and Economic Development

The Office of the Vice President for Research and Economic Development offers a number of programs designed to build the research community on the campus of The University of Alabama. These activities include networking sessions to foster collaboration, funding research resources, internal funding opportunities, and professional development to enhance the ability of faculty, staff, and students to secure funding for research and other scholarly activities. Information about the office, research support, economic development, undergraduate research, and research development is available from [Research and Economic Development](#).

F. Office of Community Affairs

The Office of the Vice President of Community Affairs and this division's subsidiary units help the University fulfill its mission to advance the intellectual and social condition of the people of Alabama through establishing quality programs that connect the University's mission of teaching, research, and service in ways that improve the quality of life for individuals and communities. More information about this division and its initiatives is available from the [Office of Community Affairs](#).

G. Office for Student Life

The Office of the Vice President for Student Life supervises departments that offer programs and services to support students and maximize their learning experiences. More information about this division and its departments and resources is available from the [Office of Student Life](#).

H. Office of University Advancement

The Vice President for Advancement oversees development activities, advancement services, planned giving, and the Alumni Association. More information about this division and its initiatives is available from the [Office of University Advancement](#).

I. Division of Finance and Operations

The Vice President for Finance and Operations has full responsibility for investment management, budgeting, financial accounting and reporting, human resources, auxiliary services, land management, business services, facilities and maintenance, construction, public safety, and risk management. More information about departments in this division is available from the [Division of Finance and Operations](#).

J. Office for Strategic Communications

The Vice President of Strategic Communications oversees internal and external communications for the University and manages and promotes The University of Alabama brand worldwide. More information is available from the [Division of Strategic Communications](#).

K. Office for Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion

The Vice President and Associate Provost for Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion nurtures collaborative and engaging relationships with both internal and external constituents to provide effective leadership in the coordination of all diversity-related programs and initiatives. More information about these departments and initiatives is available from the [Office of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion](#).

L. Academic Divisions of the University

The term “academic division” refers to any of the colleges and schools headed by a dean. The academic divisions have diverse roles, scopes, and organizations.

The chief administrative officer of an academic division is a dean. The dean, with assistance from ~~an~~ appropriate staff, receives and makes recommendations on curriculum, staffing, promotion, tenure, development, space, equipment, and all financial aspects of a division’s operation.

If the term “college” is used independently in this *Handbook*, it refers to any academic division (a school or college) headed by a dean. If the term “school” is used, it refers to those schools headed by a dean, unless otherwise noted.

For more information, please see each of the academic divisions below.

1. [Capstone College of Nursing](#)
2. [College of Arts and Sciences](#)
3. [College of Communication and Information Sciences](#)
4. [College of Community Health Sciences](#)
5. [College of Continuing Studies](#)
6. [College of Education](#)
7. [College of Engineering](#)
8. [College of Human Environmental Sciences](#)
9. [Culverhouse College of Business](#)
10. [Graduate School](#)
11. [Honors College](#)
12. [Hugh F. Culverhouse Jr. School of Law](#)
13. [School of Social Work](#)
14. [University Libraries](#)

M. Departments and Areas

In those schools and colleges divided into academic and administrative units, the department or area is both an academic unit and an administrative unit. The chief administrative officer of the department is the departmental chairperson or head. In areas, the chief administrative officer is the area head. The chief administrative officer of a school within a college is the director.

N. Faculty Members

An individual who holds an academic appointment, either full-time or part-time, and performs a combination of teaching, research, [clinical](#), and/or service functions normally will have one of the faculty ranks described in [Chapter 2](#). However, there are distinguished faculty titles, which can be awarded by The Board of Trustees. These distinguished faculty titles include professor emeritus, research professor, University professor, endowed chair, and endowed professor.

Commented [MOA2]: Internal link

IV. Faculty Participation

Faculty governance is vital to the life of The University of Alabama. ~~Faculty with rights and responsibilities under this Handbook are understood to be all persons who have full-time tenured, tenure track, or renewable contract appointments. Part-time, temporary, emeritus, and adjunct faculty are understood to have responsibilities dictated by this Handbook (e.g. compliance with policies and upholding instructional standards), but do not have full rights as defined herein. Some faculty rights are exclusive to those holding a tenured or tenure track position; these rights are noted in the appropriate sections.~~

Commented [GJ3]: Moved to page 1

The advice of faculty members concerning administrative leadership and academic programs is sought actively and systematically. Faculty and administrators are partners in the enterprise of education at The University of Alabama. Processes guiding all important decisions that shape the University's educational potential and that allocate its resources are the joint responsibility of faculty and administrators. (See [generally](#) [Appendix A](#), "Policies and Guidelines for Faculty Participation in the Selection of Deans and Departmental Chairpersons and in the Review of their Leadership;" ~~See as well and~~ [Appendix I](#), "Principles and Procedures for Discontinuance or Merger of Academic Units".)

Commented [MOA4]: Internal link

Commented [MOA5]: Internal link

Faculty voting privileges concerning issues within academic units are determined by each individual school or college, except where specified within the *Faculty Handbook*. For example, membership on faculty committees that make recommendations on tenure is limited to persons holding tenured positions.

A. Committees and Task Forces

The University maintains a number of University Standing Committees and appoints University Task Forces that deal with special matters not in the purview of a Standing Committee to assist the administration in reaching decisions and to ensure representation of appropriate segments of the University community. These Committees and Task Forces make recommendations on issues of concern to the University community, as well as work closely with the President and the Provost both to oversee the University's planning process and to help establish University budgetary priorities and allocations. The importance of their work is recognized by giving them access to all information relevant to their missions and by giving them timely written responses to their recommendations. These Committees and Task Forces make annual written reports, which are filed in the Provost's office and are available upon request.

The chairs and the faculty and staff membership of Standing Committees and, where appropriate, Task Forces are selected by the President from the nominees and alternates presented by the Committee on University Committees (with the exceptions noted below). Faculty and staff are invited each spring to indicate to the Committee on University Committees their preferences about service on University Committees. A listing of Standing Committees is available from the [University's Standing Committees](#). Appointments to Standing Committees are announced in the spring semester, and such committees are expected to begin their work promptly at the beginning of each fall.

The Faculty Senate appoints one person to membership on each appropriate University Standing Committee and, normally, on each Task Force appointed by the President or the Provost.

The faculty membership of the Committee on University Committees constitutes a voting majority of the Committee and is selected by the President from a group of faculty recommended by the Faculty Senate. The Committee on University Committees annually elects its chair from its faculty membership.

When the President chooses not to accept a nomination or recommendation, the President contacts the chair of the Committee on University Committees or the President of the Faculty Senate, as appropriate, in order to reach agreement. If agreement cannot be reached, the President requests another nomination or recommendation.

Membership on appropriate Standing Committees rotates in order to involve different members of the University community in University governance. Normally, one-third of a committee's membership rotates off the Committee each year, and normally at least one year will intervene before a person can be reappointed to a Committee. Members are selected to reflect the diversity of disciplines, race, and gender of the faculty and staff, unless the charge to a Committee or Task Force makes it impractical to do so. A faculty or staff member does not ordinarily serve on more than two University Committees or Task Forces at one time. A term of service for a Committee member usually will not exceed three consecutive years.

Academic divisional, departmental, or area Committees assist the institution by making recommendations on aspects of divisional and departmental activities.

B. Curriculum Matters

Normally, recommendations about curricular matters are initiated at the program level and are reviewed at appropriate administrative levels. Implementation of recommendations depends on the availability of resources.

1. Graduate Curricula

The [Graduate Council](#) and the dean of the Graduate School evaluate proposals for new graduate degree programs and recommend whether to seek approval for such programs. Contact information for current Graduate Council members and committees is available from the [Graduate School](#).

2. Undergraduate Core Curriculum

The undergraduate core curriculum is overseen by the Core Curriculum Oversight Committee (CCOC) in accordance with the [Guidelines for the Core Curriculum Committee](#). Courses approved for the core curriculum are available from the [Office of the University Registrar](#). More information about the committee structure as well as approval of core curriculum courses is available from the [Office for Academic Affairs](#).

3. Honors Courses

The Honors College is responsible for the review and approval of all Honors-designated courses. The procedures for obtaining Honors designation for a course are available from the [Honors College](#).

C. Faculty Senate

The Faculty Senate consists of faculty members elected from the various divisions. The Senate aids the University in making decisions on issues of policy, development, and operations by:

1. Offering advice and suggestions on matters of general faculty concern; and
2. Providing a channel for communication between the faculty and University officials.

The Faculty Senate's deliberations and recommendations should reflect the opinion of the faculty at large. Service in the Senate is a high honor, carrying with it responsibility to report to one's division about the Senate's activities, to solicit the opinion and advice of divisional colleagues on issues before the Senate, and to represent divisional colleagues in Senate debate and votes. All regular meetings of the Faculty Senate and of its committees are open to all who wish to attend.

The Faculty Senate appoints one person to membership on each appropriate University Standing Committee, and, normally, on each Task Force appointed by the President or the Provost.

The President of the Faculty Senate can request to meet with the Council of Deans (decided by the Provost) or to meet with the Vice Presidents (decided by the President) on specific occasions to discuss issues that are of mutual importance to the Faculty Senate and these groups and with the intent to streamline processes of input on these issues to the Provost/President.

Those matters the Faculty Senate or University Administration deem to be especially important, and are not specific to individual academic divisions, are referred to the faculty for a faculty-wide referendum.

The wording of such referenda will be determined by the Faculty Senate and Provost after consultation with other University officials or committees, as appropriate. Voting will be administered by the Office for Academic Affairs and generally will commence within six weeks following a decision by the Faculty Senate that a referendum is required. The Office for Academic Affairs will print, distribute, receive, and count ballots. Faculty will have a minimum of two weeks to submit ballots after they have been distributed. The Office for Academic Affairs should provide a written statement of voting results within two weeks after the deadline for submission of ballots.

The voting process normally should be completed within 10 weeks following a decision by the Faculty Senate that a referendum is required.

Except as governed by other sections of the *Faculty Handbook*, for purposes of voting on referenda, “faculty” is defined to include all tenured, tenure-track, and renewable contract full-time faculty with the rank of instructor, assistant professor, associate professor, professor, or equivalent and whose administrative appointments do not exceed fifty percent of their total appointments. Visiting, adjunct, and emeriti faculty are not included in this definition. The Faculty Senate may elect, by a majority vote of the Senate, to modify the list of faculty eligible to vote on a particular referendum.

Except as governed by other sections of the *Faculty Handbook*, a question on a referendum will pass if it is approved (1) by a majority of the faculty who vote in the referendum and (2) by a majority of colleges and equivalent academic divisions (determined by a majority of their voting faculty) that participate in the referendum. The Faculty Senate may modify these rules as necessary in cases of referenda asking the faculty to choose between more than two options.

Faculty are entitled to vote only in the academic division in which they hold their primary appointment. In cases of joint appointment, primary appointment is typically spelled out in the initial letter of offer. If that letter is silent on primary appointment, faculty must choose an academic unit in which to vote.

Matters specific to individual colleges or equivalent academic units and not affecting a broad cross-section of faculty outside of those academic units are not governed by these policies.

The constitution, bylaws, and other details of the Faculty Senate are available from the [Faculty Senate](#).

V. Research and Allied Organizations

The University of Alabama operates numerous centers, institutes, programs, services, bureaus, laboratories, consortia, offices, and clinics to provide a variety of services to students, University personnel, and others. [Board of Trustees Rule 503](#) requires periodic reviews for formally approved centers and institutes. More information on the University’s policy outlining the process for annual review of research and service centers/institutes and a list of Board-approved centers and institutes are available from [Research Centers/Facilities](#).

VI. University Accreditations

Information on regional and specialized accreditation is available from the [Office for Academic Affairs](#).

Chapter 2

Faculty Personnel Policies

I. Introduction

The accomplishments and reputation of The University of Alabama depend on the quality of its faculty and the record of teaching, creative scholarship, and service/academic citizenship that the faculty generates. The success of the faculty in its scholarly activities ultimately determines the caliber of the University's academic programs.

Given the faculty's central importance to the University's educational mission and given the University's steadfast commitment to academic excellence, it is incumbent upon the University leadership to promote and support an academic climate in which the faculty can be successful. It is incumbent upon faculty members to be active, consistent, and energetic contributors to the University's academic programs. In particular:

1. All faculty members with teaching responsibilities are expected to be effective teachers, to demonstrate a level of teaching performance commensurate with their rank and experience, and to make substantive contributions to the overall instructional effectiveness of the academic programs in which they have assigned duties.
2. All tenured and probationary faculty members and renewable contract faculty members with research responsibilities are expected to engage in an ongoing program of research, publication, creative activity, and scholarly effort that is appropriate to their appointment, discipline, and fields of specialization.
3. All faculty members are expected to engage in responsible service/academic citizenship activities appropriate to their appointment, rank, length of service, and discipline. External service/academic citizenship activities are those that extend the influence and expertise of the faculty to areas and populations external to the University. These activities may include, but are not limited to, education beyond the classroom, research partnerships and collaboration, professional leadership, community engagement, clinical service and training, and public/community leadership and consultation. The intent is to extend the knowledge and skills of the University faculty to the public in a manner [that is](#) mutually beneficial and that contributes to the University's tripartite mission, which includes service. Furthermore, internal service/academic citizenship are defined to include service to students and to the institution through effective governance. There is no presumption that service/academic citizenship are alternatives to 1. and 2. above. Flexibility in meeting the service/academic citizenship requirements of each department and division is critical, and consequently, individual responsibilities may vary from time to time.
4. All faculty are expected to behave collegially. Lack of collegiality is defined as the inability and/or unwillingness to work cooperatively and civilly with colleagues and University administration. This includes, but is not limited to, engaging in extremely disrespectful and grossly offensive remarks aimed at colleagues and administrators. This standard is consistent with the AAUP Statement on Professional Ethics (Chapter 3, Section II) and should not violate the principles of academic freedom, as defined in [Chapter 3, Section I](#).

Commented [MOA6]: Internal link

Commented [MOA7]: Internal link

From time to time, faculty members are assigned administrative and/or service-related duties beyond those required by responsible academic citizenship. In these cases, the quantity of instructional effort and creative scholarship expected from individual faculty members may be reduced, and the assigned administrative and/or service duties may play a larger role in promotion or tenure decisions. The change in assignment and expectations should be documented. Except in rare cases, an individual cannot earn tenure or promotion primarily by performing in an administrative or service capacity as a faculty member (even though such performance is always considered in the award of salary increases). It is the policy of The University of Alabama to require evidence of academic merit as demonstrated by the individual's academic credentials, record of scholarly achievements, service, and instructional skills, before awarding tenure or promotion in academic rank.

In recognition of the extreme importance to the University of the academic credentials, academic achievements, and potential academic contributions of its faculty members, the University has established a set of criteria and standards to be observed in appointing new faculty, in promoting faculty members to higher academic rank, and in awarding tenure. These criteria and standards apply throughout the University except insofar as a department or academic division formally establishes higher or more detailed requirements and these receive appropriate administrative approval. All departments and academic divisions are encouraged to amplify the University criteria and standards for appointment, promotion, and tenure with more explicit and specific criteria that apply to their discipline or profession. These amplifications must in no way diminish or conflict with the University criteria and standards, and they must be approved by the academic dean and by the Provost in the case of divisional supplements. Copies of the current criteria, standards, and procedures for each unit and the University should be kept current and made available to faculty members at the time of initial appointment (start date for employment as a faculty member). Continuing faculty members should be notified of any changes.

In cases of tenure and promotion from assistant professor to associate professor, the departmental/college requirements at the time of the individual's initial appointment shall govern unless the faculty member chooses to be reviewed according to the updated requirements. In cases of promotion from associate professor to professor, requirements in effect at the time the individual applies for promotion shall govern.

Some colleges or schools are divided into departments, while others have subdivisions called areas or programs. In what follows, the appropriate substitutions should be made for the words "chairperson" and "department," when applicable.

II. Criteria and Standards for Appointments

Appointments to the faculty of The University of Alabama are based on the personnel requirements of the University's academic programs and on the goal of achieving and maintaining excellence in its teaching, research, and service/academic citizenship activities. Recruiting for faculty positions is conducted according to the University's Affirmative Action Plan and other approved administrative procedures established in the various administrative and academic units. It is a [policy](#) of the University to involve faculty, students, and others as may be appropriate in the review of candidates for positions of academic and administrative leadership (see [Appendix A](#)).

Commented [MOA8]: Internal link

Faculty appointments fall in three broad categories: tenured/tenure-track, renewable contract and temporary. In the tenured/tenure-track category, those who have not been awarded tenure are considered probationary. Probationary faculty are employed with the understanding that performance that meets expectations (as defined by departmental, college, and university criteria) during a probationary period may result in the award of tenure. Employment as a renewable contract or temporary faculty member conveys no right or expectation of continued employment beyond the period specified in the letter of appointment.

The University of Alabama has four ranks for faculty members: instructor (including senior instructor), assistant professor, associate professor, and professor. Rank depends on qualifications. Eligibility for promotion is limited to full-time regular faculty members. Titles for temporary appointments may be prefixed by the words Adjunct or Visiting.

Candidates for appointment to the rank of associate professor or Professor in an academic area of specialization are expected to possess an appropriate terminal degree. Candidates for appointment to the rank of assistant professor normally are expected to have completed requirements for an appropriate terminal degree.

Faculty members with split or joint appointments should have one unit (typically a department) designated as their primary home unit. This is noted in their letter of appointment or their personnel file. ~~The faculty member participates in formal votes on tenure and promotion only in the home unit. For university wide or college wide votes, those on split appointment can only vote once.~~

Commented [GJ9]: Moved to section on joint appointments

A. Instructor

A candidate for appointment to the rank of instructor must have an appropriate record of educational achievement, typically possessing a graduate degree or relevant experience or both and must have the potential to be an effective teacher. All Instructors are expected to demonstrate a high level of performance in the classroom, to contribute to instructional effectiveness in assigned courses, and to engage in service/academic citizenship. Instructors may hold temporary or renewable contract appointments, but they cannot be classified as tenured/tenure track. Instructors cannot be promoted to any rank other than senior instructor ([Chapter 2, Section IV, Subsection C](#)) and cannot be appointed to any professor rank (a tenured/tenure-track or renewable contract position) without having been selected through an open search.

Commented [MOA10]: Internal link

B. Tenured/Tenure-Track Professor Ranks

1. Tenured/Tenure-Track Assistant Professor

Appointment to the position of tenured/tenure-track assistant professor is based on educational achievement and/or related professional experience and potential for outstanding instructional effectiveness and scholarly contributions appropriate to the discipline and field of specialization. The candidate normally should have completed a doctoral program or other terminal academic program appropriate to the discipline. There should be substantial evidence to indicate that the individual has the capabilities and competencies required for successful performance of all anticipated professional responsibilities.

An individual who has not completed requirements for a terminal degree may be offered an appointment as assistant professor. If the offer of appointment is made contingent upon completion of requirements for the degree, but the appointee fails to meet this contingency by the effective date of employment, the individual will be assigned the rank of instructor, and a revised appointment letter should be issued that specifies a period of time during which the individual is expected to complete requirements for the degree. If no period of time is specified, the period in rank as an instructor cannot exceed one academic year. Failure to complete all degree requirements will serve as cause for non-retention. If a decision is made to retain the individual, a new appointment at the rank of assistant professor will be offered as soon as requirements specified in the appointment letter are met.

For tenure-track assistant professors, the mandatory tenure decision time for an individual who completes degree requirements after the effective date of employment may, by mutual agreement, be as late as the sixth academic year after the academic year during which requirements for the terminal degree are satisfied, even if this results in a probationary period of more than six years; the terms of any such agreement shall be specified in a new letter of appointment issued at the time degree requirements are met.

All tenure-track/tenured assistant professors are expected to maintain a good level of performance in the classroom and/or other appropriate instructional settings; to contribute to the overall instructional effectiveness of the academic programs in which they have assigned duties; to engage in an ongoing program of research, publication, creative activity, or scholarly efforts appropriate to their disciplines and fields of specialization; and to engage in service/academic citizenship appropriate to their areas and expertise.

2. Tenured/Tenure-Track Associate Professor

Appointment to the position of tenured/tenure-track associate professor is based upon a candidate's instructional effectiveness and record of scholarly contributions appropriate to the candidate's discipline and field of specialization; however, candidates who have no prior record at the rank of assistant professor may be appointed at the rank of associate professor provided they possess a combination of educational achievement, typically possessing a terminal degree, and professional contributions that give them the capabilities and competencies required for successful performance at the associate professor rank and also the professional stature commensurate with that rank.

All faculty members who hold the rank of associate professor are expected to approach a standard of outstanding performance in the classroom and/or other appropriate instructional settings; to make a strong contribution to the overall instructional quality of the academic programs in which they have assigned duties; to engage in an ongoing and substantive program of research, publication, creative activity, or scholarly efforts appropriate to their disciplines and fields of specialization; and to engage in service/academic citizenship appropriate to their areas and expertise.

3. Tenured/Tenure-Track Professor

Appointment to the position of tenured/tenure-track professor is based upon a candidate's instructional effectiveness and record of scholarly contributions appropriate to their discipline and field of specialization; however, candidates who have no prior record at the rank of associate professor may be appointed at the rank of professor provided they possess a combination of educational achievement, typically possessing a terminal degree, and professional contributions that give them the capabilities and competencies required for successful performance at the rank of professor and also the professional stature commensurate with that rank.

All faculty members who hold the rank of professor are expected to contribute to the leadership of academic programs; to maintain an outstanding level of effectiveness in the classroom and/or other appropriate instructional settings; to make a strong contribution to overall instructional quality; to engage in an ongoing and substantive program of research, publication, creative activity, or scholarly efforts appropriate to their disciplines and fields of specialization; and to engage in service/academic citizenship appropriate to their areas and expertise.

C. Renewable Contract Professor Ranks

Academic units, e.g. the Hugh F. Culverhouse Jr. School of Law, with accreditation requirements that mandate deviations from the renewable-contract professor appointment, retention, and promotion policies contained in this *Faculty Handbook* can request that the Provost approve an alternate policy for that division. In those cases, the approved alternate appointment, retention, and promotion policies must be made public for all faculty members in the affected unit to review and consult.

1. Renewable Contract Assistant Professor

Appointment to the position of renewable contract assistant professor is based on educational achievement, related professional experience or clinical practice, and potential for outstanding instructional effectiveness and/or scholarly contributions appropriate to a candidate's disciplines and fields of specialization. The candidate normally should have completed a doctoral program or other terminal academic program appropriate to the discipline. There should be substantial evidence to indicate that the individual has the capabilities and competencies required for successful performance of all anticipated professional responsibilities.

An individual who has not completed requirements for a terminal degree may be offered an appointment as assistant professor. If the offer of appointment is made contingent upon completion of requirements for the degree but the appointee fails to meet this contingency by the effective date of employment, the individual will be assigned the rank of instructor, and a revised appointment letter should be issued that specifies a period of time during which the individual is expected to complete requirements for the degree. If no period of time is specified, the period in rank as an instructor cannot exceed one academic year. Failure to complete all degree requirements will serve as cause for non-retention at the end of the academic year. If a decision is made to retain the individual, a new appointment at the rank of assistant professor will be offered as soon as requirements specified to hold the rank of assistant professor are met.

All renewable contract assistant professors are expected to engage in service/academic citizenship appropriate to one's area and expertise. Additionally, they are expected to 1) maintain a good level of performance in the classroom and/or other appropriate instructional settings and to contribute to the overall instructional effectiveness of the academic programs in which they have assigned duties or 2) engage in an ongoing program of research, publication, creative activity, scholarly efforts, and/or clinical practice appropriate to their disciplines and fields of specialization.

2. Renewable Contract Associate Professor

Appointment to the position of renewable contract associate professor is based upon a candidate's instructional effectiveness, record of scholarly contributions, and/or clinical practice appropriate to the discipline and field of specialization; however, candidates who have no prior record at the rank of assistant professor may be appointed at the rank of associate professor provided they possess a combination of educational achievement, typically possessing a terminal degree, and professional contributions that give them the capabilities and competencies required for successful performance at the associate professor rank and also the professional stature commensurate with that rank.

All renewable contract associate professors are expected to engage in service/academic citizenship appropriate to their areas and expertise. Additionally, they are expected to 1) approach a standard of outstanding performance in the classroom and/or other appropriate instructional settings and to make a strong contribution to the overall instructional quality of the academic programs in which they have assigned duties or 2) to engage in an ongoing and substantive program of research, publication, creative activity, scholarly efforts, and/or clinical practice appropriate to their disciplines and fields of specialization.

3. Renewable Contract Professor

Appointment to the position of renewable contract professor is based upon a candidate's instructional effectiveness, record of scholarly contributions, and/or clinical practice appropriate to the discipline and field of specialization; however, candidates who have no prior record at the rank of associate professor may be appointed at the rank of professor provided they possess educational achievement, typically possessing a terminal degree, or professional contributions that give them the capabilities and competencies required for successful performance at the rank of professor and also the professional stature commensurate with that rank.

All renewable contract professors are expected to engage in service/academic citizenship appropriate to their areas and expertise. Additionally, they are expected to 1) contribute to the leadership of academic programs, maintain an outstanding level of effectiveness in the classroom and/or other appropriate instructional settings, and make a strong contribution to overall instructional quality or 2) engage in an ongoing and substantive program of research, publication, creative activity, scholarly efforts, and/or clinical practice appropriate to their disciplines and fields of specialization.

D. Endowed Chairs and Professorships

Endowed chairs and professorships enhance the quality of programs in higher education through both the recognition and contributions of the chair holders and professors. The positions are among the highest and most prestigious appointments in academia, and they honor significant scholarly or creative achievement and academic excellence. Distinguished scholars who hold these positions make significant contributions to the research and teaching missions of the University. Moreover, they increase the visibility of the University and aid in attracting additional high-quality faculty, superior students, and external resources for research, instruction, and service. In cases where the endowed chair or professor is being considered for appointment with tenure, normal procedures for awarding tenure are followed in addition to the process outlined herein.

[Board of Trustees Rule 508](#) (“Establishment of Academic Chairs, Professorships, and Endowed Lectureships and the Designation of Holders of Academic Chairs and Professorships”) sets forth guidelines the University must follow for 1) obtaining approval of a new academic chair, endowed professorship, or endowed lectureship; 2) designating a holder of an academic chair or endowed professorship; 3) short-term appointments to endowed chairs, and 4) appointments to professorships. A professorship, academic chair, or endowed lectureship may not be officially recognized until first approved by the Board of Trustees.

The Board of Trustees allows the University to appoint endowed chairs with short-term appointments of less than 12 months. These must be made with prior approval by the Chancellor, following the procedures in [Board of Trustees Rule 508](#). An annual report is presented to the Board of Trustees on the short-term appointments to endowed chairs for that academic year. Procedures described below do not apply to short-term appointments, but are applicable to appointments that exceed one year and may include tenure or some other long-term commitments by the University.

1.a. General Criteria for Appointments for Endowed Chairs and Professorships

1. Criteria and Procedures for Endowed Chairs and Professorships

Criteria for appointments to endowed chairs and professorships must reflect the highest ideals of academic excellence and scholarly or creative achievement. While all appointments to these positions are made by The University of Alabama Board of Trustees, procedures for recruitment must be consistent with the University’s Affirmative Action Plan, stipulations of the endowment, and other administrative procedures established in the various academic units. Involvement of the faculty, students, and others, as may be appropriate, is essential in the review and recommendation of candidates for endowed chairs and professorships.

a. General Criteria for Appointments for Endowed Chairs and Professorships

In addition to criteria set forth in [Board of Trustees Rule 508](#), the following general criteria will be used in the review and recommendation of candidates for endowed chairs and professorships:

- i.a. Convincing evidence of outstanding teaching performance and effectiveness;
- ii.b. An outstanding record of productive research, publication, creative activity, and scholarly achievement appropriate to the discipline and fields of specialization;
- iii.c. Evidence of a continuing record of exemplary service/academic citizenship appropriate to the discipline or profession; and

Formatted: Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.25" + Indent at: 0.5"

- iv.d. Evidence of achievement of a professional status at the national or international level that will enhance the stature of the University's faculty.

With respect to these criteria, each successful candidate should present a record sufficiently consistent in quantity and/or quality to warrant the expectation of continued performance and contributions at an outstanding level. Generally, specific qualifications required for particular endowed chairs or professorships will be based on these criteria. Position announcements will include specific qualifications, and these qualifications and those set forth in [Board of Trustees Rule 508](#) will be employed by the search committee in the review and recommendation of candidates.

2b. Procedures for Recruitment of Candidates for Endowed Chairs

Procedures for recruitment and recommendation of candidates for endowed chairs will conform to [Board of Trustees Rule 508](#), the Affirmative Action Plan of the University, and all prevailing federal and state regulatory requirements as well as stipulations of the endowment. While The University of Alabama Board of Trustees makes all appointments to endowed chairs, recommendations to the Board will be made only after considering 1) the evaluations and advice of the faculty of the department, school, or college, 2) consultation from outside peer reviewers, ~~which~~ may include but are not limited to those suggested by the candidates, and 3) the advice of a search committee, as described below:

- i.a. When a new endowed chair is established or when a vacancy occurs, the dean shall meet with the faculty of the academic unit before deciding on the nature of the search and the size and composition of a search committee. Faculty members from the academic unit will be appointed by the dean and will constitute a majority of the search committee. Other members of the search committee will be appointed by the dean in consultation with the Provost. Usually, the Provost will appoint a staff member from the Office for Academic Affairs to serve as a non-voting member on the search committee and to provide liaison and logistical support. Giving due regard to advice and concerns expressed by the faculty, the dean will designate a faculty member appointed from the academic unit to chair the search committee.

- ii.b. The search committee, working in cooperation with the dean and the Office for Academic Affairs and with appropriate participation from constituent groups, shall announce and advertise the position in a manner appropriate to the nature of the search, and coordinate the review and evaluation of candidates for the position. Throughout the search process, the committee shall solicit, encourage, and provide for faculty participation and the participation of other constituent groups. Faculty should have ample opportunity to review the credentials of qualified candidates, provided that the search committee takes steps to protect the identity of candidates who request confidentiality during the initial screening process. On the basis of faculty evaluations and its own judgment, the search committee will reduce the list of candidates to those deemed to be best qualified for the position. The committee and the dean will select those to be interviewed from this reduced list. Interviews scheduled should allow for discussions with the President, the Provost, deans, chairpersons, search committee members, faculty, and, where appropriate to the nature of the search, with students, alumni, and others, including the Chancellor or

Formatted: Outline numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering
Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at:
0.25" + Tab after: 0.5" + Indent at: 0.5"

designated representatives. Following these interviews, and other information gathering procedures appropriate to the nature of the search, every reasonable effort should be made to obtain the views of the faculty in the academic unit and appropriately interested constituent groups. The advice of the faculty may be determined by individual written evaluations, by an expression of faculty sentiment at a called faculty meeting, or by such other means as the search committee may consider appropriate. General support of the faculty in the academic unit normally will be necessary for further consideration of a candidate. In cases where the appointment includes the award of tenure, action by the tenured faculty in accordance with normal procedures in the academic unit is necessary before the dean makes a recommendation to the Provost and President.

iii.c. It shall be the responsibility of the search committee to submit to the dean both a summary of evaluations and advice received from the faculty on each person interviewed and the search committee's own advice. The dean should also receive and review outside peer reviews for candidates for endowed chair positions. The dean recommends a candidate to the Provost and President who, in turn, recommend the candidate to the Chancellor and The University of Alabama Board of Trustees. In the event the search committee and dean do not find a successful candidate for presentation to the Provost and President, the search process normally shall be continued until a candidate acceptable to the search committee, the dean, and the faculty is successfully recruited. Except in extraordinary circumstances, the Provost and President shall recommend to the Board the appointment of an endowed chair from those candidates who have general faculty support. If it should become necessary to reopen the search, the dean and the search committee may confer to establish further direction; if it appears desirable, a new search committee may be formed.

3e. Procedures for Recruitment of Candidates for Endowed Professorships

Procedures for the recruitment of endowed professorships generally will follow those for the recruitment of endowed chairs. Procedures will conform to [Board of Trustees Rule 508](#), the Affirmative Action Plan of the University, and all prevailing federal and state regulatory requirements as well as the stipulations of the endowment. While The Board of Trustees of The University of Alabama makes all appointments to endowed professorships, recommendations to the Board will be made only after considering 1) the evaluations and advice of the faculty of the department, school, or college and 2) the advice of a search committee. Exceptions to the recruitment procedures for endowed chairs may occur under the circumstances described below.

In some cases, income from the corpus for an endowed professorship may not be sufficient to justify a national or international search to fill a new or vacant position. In these cases, the dean may organize an internal search for candidates from within the department, school, or college. The dean will meet with faculty in the academic unit to determine the size and composition of the search committee. Faculty members from the academic unit will be appointed by the dean and will constitute a majority of the search committee. Other members may be appointed to the committee by the dean in consultation with the Provost. The dean may choose to chair the committee or may designate a faculty member appointed from the academic unit to chair the search committee. The responsibilities of the search committee and the procedures for recommendation of the candidate are similar to those for recruitment and recommendation of an endowed chair.

4d. Terms of Appointment for Endowed Chairs and Professorships

Terms of appointment for endowed chairs and professorships are for five academic years unless an alternate term is specified in the initial letter of appointment to the endowed position. Individuals can be reappointed to these positions after the initial term. Evaluation and reappointment procedures are determined by each academic division and must be consistent with any stipulations contained in the memorandum of agreement establishing the endowed position. Deans of the academic unit in which the endowed positions are held make the final decision on reappointment for endowed professorships, while the dean recommends reappointment of endowed chairs to the Provost, who holds the final decision.

Note: Those with appointment letters written prior to the *Faculty Handbook* revision (Fall 2019) and silent on the term of appointment must undergo re-appointment review no later than 2023-2024.

E. University Professorships

University professorships enhance the quality of programs in higher education through both the recognition and contributions of the professors. The University research professor positions recognize extraordinary, internationally recognized scholarly attainment in an individual field. The University teaching professor positions recognize extraordinary achievements within and outside the classroom in teaching and training in an individual field. By the nature of their appointment, these distinguished scholars and teachers make special contributions to the research, creative activity, and teaching missions of the home department, school, or college, and University. Moreover, they increase the visibility of the University and aid in attracting additional high-quality faculty, superior students, and external resources for research, instruction, and service. Appointments are expected to most often be made for an indefinite period; however, instances may exist where a limited term, with or without the possibility of renewal, is desirable.

While The Board of Trustees of The University of Alabama makes all appointments to the University research professorships and the University teaching professorships, recommendations to the Board will be made by the President of the University and/or Provost only after considering the criteria in [Board of Trustees Rule 508](#), as described below.

1. Candidates for University research professorships and University teaching professorships are limited to faculty members with the rank of full professor at The University of Alabama.
2. The number of University research professorships will not exceed 5 percent of the number of faculty members with the rank of full professor at the University. The number of University teaching professorships will not exceed 5 percent of the number of faculty members with the rank of full professor at the University.
3. Nominations for University research professorships and University teaching professorships arise from the home college of the candidate. Nomination packets are to be forwarded by the respective dean to the Provost.
4. Nomination packets for University research professorships will consist of a) a letter from the dean describing the extraordinary attainments in the field by the candidate (three pages or less), b) a curriculum vitae limited to five pages, c) reprints of the most significant publications or

examples of creative activity (maximum of six), and d) external letters from up to three outstanding scholars in the field. These scholars are to be “arms-length” from the candidate. Former advisors, co-authors/co-editors, research collaborators, and former colleagues [are excluded](#). The preponderance of letters should be from scholars of distinguished rank, named chairs, or similar titled professorships. When this is not possible or feasible, an explanation should be provided.

5. Nomination packets for University teaching professorships will consist of a) a letter from the dean describing the extraordinary attainments in the field by the candidate (three pages or less), b) a curriculum vitae limited to five pages, c) reprints of the most significant publications or examples of creative activity (maximum of six) if applicable, d) letters from up to three faculty members of the University, and e) letters from up to three former students describing the influence of the candidate on their lives and careers.

F. Temporary Ranks

Eligibility for appointment to a temporary rank normally requires professional preparation and experience comparable to that required for a regular faculty appointment at that academic rank. Temporary faculty members must have preparation and experience appropriate to the duties to be assigned.

Temporary appointees may be assigned to teach courses, conduct research, direct students, assist with research projects of students, direct field work of students, or provide consultation on research or instructional projects. Temporary appointments are for a predetermined period of time and convey no right or expectation of employment beyond the period specified in the letter of appointment. Temporary appointees are not eligible for promotion in rank but may apply for any other temporary faculty position, including upgraded positions they have previously held.

The recommendation to accord temporary full-time or part-time faculty appointments begins at the program level and is forwarded to the academic dean. Deans may make temporary part-time and full-time faculty appointments after receiving approval from the Provost.

The compensation for temporary appointees will depend on the type of service rendered and the rank of appointment. Unless authorized by the Provost, compensation for temporary appointees will not exceed the rates approved for regular members of the faculty.

G. Joint Appointments

Occasionally, reasons may exist for appointing a faculty member to more than one department or area. Recommendations and authorization for joint appointments follow the same policies and procedures that apply to appointments to individual departments or areas. Before approving a joint appointment, the Provost will ensure that there is agreement between and among all the authorities involved. This agreement shall include rank in each department or area and procedures for considering tenure and promotion and for assigning duties and compensation.

The faculty member on a joint appointment participates in formal votes on tenure and promotion only in the home unit as designated in their appointment letter or personnel file. For university-wide or college-wide votes, those on split appointment can only vote once.

Commented [GJ11]: Moved down from above – verbatim

H. Adjunct and Visiting Professor Appointments

Faculty members in performance of their duties at The University of Alabama may have collaborations with a faculty member(s) at other institutions where their joint activity would be enhanced if the faculty member(s) at the other institution could perform some activities at The University of Alabama. When these activities require the use of an office or other facilities or equipment at The University of Alabama, a temporary, formal affiliation with the University, such as an adjunct faculty appointment at the rank of instructor or assistant professor, associate professor, or professor, may be required.

1. Adjunct faculty appointments are normally made for a fixed period of at least one calendar year, may be renewed, and normally do not include salary from the University. The privileges associated with the adjunct position at The University should be clearly stated in the letter of appointment. Procedures for appointing and renewing adjunct faculty status are determined by the individual colleges.
2. Visiting faculty appointments are normally made for a period of less than one calendar year and normally do not include salary from the University. Visiting professor status ~~must~~ be sought by submitting the [Office for Academic Affairs Visiting Scholar Form](#).

I. Non-Faculty Research Appointments

Various research contracts, grants, and projects depend in part on the services of personnel whose primary commitment is to research rather than to a combination of teaching, research, and service appropriate for faculty status. Consequently, the University has established a category of research positions that are ~~of~~ non-tenure-earning, non-faculty positions ~~called Research Positions~~. The duration of appointments in these positions will be limited by the duration of the contracts, grants, and projects that fund the positions. While these positions are not faculty rank and therefore have no faculty rights under the *Faculty Handbook*, persons holding research positions have responsibilities dictated in this Handbook and are expected to abide by all applicable University policies.

III. Terms of Appointment and Reappointment for Renewable Contract Faculty

A. Initial Appointments for Renewable Contract Faculty

Initial appointments for renewable contract faculty are normally made for a period of three years, but appointments can range from one to six years. Initial appointments may be made at the ranks of instructor, assistant professor, associate professor, or professor, contingent upon qualifications, demonstrated expertise, and experience.

Unlike the appointments of tenured faculty, renewable contract appointments are term

appointments that, by definition, are not tenure-earning and do not convey any right or expectation of continued employment after the time specified. Continuation throughout the term of the appointment is contingent on satisfactorily meeting the departmental and college performance standards (in accordance with the annual reviews defined below) and compliance with the *Faculty Handbook*, the [Employee Handbook](#), and general UA policies applicable to all employees. Additionally, continuation to the end of the appointment is dependent upon the needs and available funding within the academic division. The University reserves the right to terminate employment immediately if, in the judgment of the department chair, dean, and Provost, such action is warranted. Examples of types of behavior that could result in the University exercising this right are listed in [Chapter 3, Section II, Part B](#) (“Compliance with Laws, University Policies, and Professional Licensure Standards of Conduct”).

Commented [MOA12]: Internal link

Consistent with appointments for tenure-track positions, an individual who has not completed requirements for a terminal degree may be offered an appointment as an assistant professor contingent upon completion of requirements for the degree. If the appointee fails to meet this contingency by the effective date of employment, the individual will be assigned the rank of instructor, and a revised appointment letter will be issued that specifies a period of time during which the individual is expected to complete requirements for the degree. If no period of time is specified, the period in rank as an instructor cannot exceed one academic year. Failure to complete all degree requirements will serve as cause for non-retention at the end of the academic year. Written notification to the faculty member by April 15 of the decision to impose this contingency constitutes notice that the individual’s employment at the University terminates at the end of the academic year unless all degree requirements are met by the specified date; however, the dean may set a later termination date.

B. Reappointment for Renewable Contract Faculty

1. Renewable Contract Professor Ranks

When a renewable contract faculty member holding a professor rank is being considered for reappointment after an initial contract term or for any subsequent reappointment to a term at the same rank (for example, in year three of a three-year appointment), this process normally begins with the departmental faculty evaluation committee communicating its reappointment evaluation results to the department chair, who recommends either reappointment or non-reappointment to the dean. The dean will make the final decision regarding whether to renew the contract.

Notification of the decision to reappoint or not to reappoint a faculty member will be made in writing to the candidate in a timely fashion and no later than April 15; however, failure to meet this deadline will not result in automatic re-appointment. At no time will contract renewal be deemed de facto tenure.

Reappointment of renewable contract professor rank faculty depends on annually documented meritorious teaching, research, or clinical performance; satisfactory service to the department and/or college; compliance with policies referenced in the *Faculty Handbook*, [Employee Handbook](#), and general UA policies applicable to all employees; continued departmental need; and continued availability of funding, as determined by the dean. The final decision and notification

of reappointment or non-reappointment will be made by the dean, except in cases where the dean determines that the renewable contract faculty member's appointment will not be continued to the contract end date. Such cases will be reviewed by the Provost, who must approve a dean's decision to terminate employment before the contract end date.

2. Instructors

When an instructor is being considered for reappointment at the end of the specified contract term, academic units may initiate a committee review, in which the committee will communicate its evaluation results to the department chair, who in turn recommends either reappointment or non-reappointment to the dean. Reappointment depends on annually documented meritorious teaching, research, or clinical performance; satisfactory service to the department and/or college; compliance with policies referenced in the *Faculty Handbook*, [Employee Handbook](#), and general UA policies applicable to all employees; continued departmental need; and continued availability of funding, as determined by the dean.

The final decision and notification of reappointment or non-reappointment will be made by the dean, except in cases where the dean determines that the appointment will not be continued to the contract end date. Such cases will be reviewed by the Provost, who must approve a dean's decision to terminate employment prior to the stated date in the appointment letter. Notification of the decision to reappoint or not to reappoint a faculty member will be made in writing to the candidate in a timely fashion and no later than April 15; however, failure to meet this deadline will not result in automatic re-appointment. At no time will contract renewal be deemed de facto tenure.

IV. Criteria and Standards for Promotion

Promotion is open only to regular, full-time faculty positions, not temporary faculty positions.

A. Promotion for Tenured/Tenure-Track Professor Ranks

A faculty member usually completes at least five years in rank before being considered for promotion from assistant professor to associate professor and at least four years in rank before being considered for promotion from associate professor to professor; consequently, candidates normally do not apply before their sixth year for promotion to associate professor and before their fifth year in rank ~~to be promoted~~[for promotion](#) to professor. Faculty members whose academic credentials and performance are outstanding, or who have held academic appointments at their present rank at other institutions, may be considered for promotion sooner.

1. Promotion from Assistant Professor to Associate Professor

To merit promotion to the rank of associate professor, candidates must possess a strong record of performance at the assistant professor rank. Decisions to promote an assistant professor to the rank of associate professor are based upon: 1) the caliber of the faculty member's teaching effectiveness and overall contribution to the quality of the instructional programs; and 2) the caliber of the faculty member's record of research, publication, creative activity, and scholarly efforts in the discipline and field of specialization. These two areas of performance are co-equal in importance

and are predominant in the evaluation of candidates for promotion from assistant to associate professor.

To meet the criteria and standards of performance for promotion to associate professor, a candidate's record of academic performance and accomplishments must satisfy the following requirements.

A. A successful candidate must present convincing evidence of good instructional performance and effectiveness; each candidate's record must be judged sufficient in quality to demonstrate continuing and substantial progress toward an outstanding level of performance.

Documentation of a candidate's instructional performance should include at least the following:

- i. Evidence of effective performance by the candidate in the classroom and/or other instructional settings and evidence of the degree of the candidate's commitment to instructional excellence, including judgments by members of the departmental promotion committee and the departmental chairperson.
- ii. Student opinions regarding the candidate's instructional performance, together with their opinions concerning the quality of the course.
- iii. Any available evidence that the candidate has made contributions (beyond those included in responsible service/academic citizenship) to improving the quality of the instructional programs in the academic area. Such contributions may include improving the presentation of course materials, developing effective instructional aids, developing new courses or programs, strengthening the content of existing courses, preparing useful and current course syllabi, participating effectively in the supervision of research efforts of graduate students, assisting in student recruitment and career placement, performing meritoriously in adult and professional continuing education programs, providing curricular or instructional leadership, and obtaining or participating significantly in grants and contracts that enhance the University's instructional efforts.

B. A successful candidate must present a strong, continuing record of productive research, publication, creative activity, and scholarly achievement appropriate to the discipline and field of specialization. This record must be sufficient in both quantity and quality to demonstrate substantial progress toward an outstanding level of performance.

Candidates have many ways to establish a strong, continuing record of productive research, publication, creative activity, and scholarly achievement; however, each successful candidate is expected to have published a number of substantial articles in recognized refereed journals in the discipline (or the equivalent in the case of candidates whose disciplines are in the creative, visual, or performing arts). In evaluating the totality of a candidate's record, consideration is given to all appropriate types of original scholarship, creative effort, and professional activity relevant to the candidate's discipline. The weight placed on each scholarly and professional activity necessarily varies according to the contribution it makes to the discipline and to the professional stature of the candidate. The following are examples of the types of scholarly and professional contributions that are considered:

- Articles published in refereed journals in the candidate's discipline;
- Books and book-length research monographs;
- Invited or juried or reviewed exhibitions, presentations, or performances;
- Chapters in books and edited collections of readings;
- Research reports submitted in connection with research grants or contracts;
- Participation in research contract or grant activities;
- Papers published in the proceedings of meetings of professional associations;
- Articles in non-refereed periodicals;
- Papers presented at professional meetings;
- Appointment as a referee, as a member of an editorial board, or as an editor of a scholarly academic or professional journal;
- Any other types of scholarly publications and creative efforts that contribute to the candidate's fields of specialization; and
- Important professional activities that contribute materially to the individual's professional stature and to the University's mission.

In appraising the quantity and quality of a candidate's scholarly and creative contributions to the discipline, emphasis is placed upon: 1) whether the amount of productive research, publication, and creative activity the candidate presents is commensurate with what should be expected of someone applying for the rank of associate professor; 2) evidence as to the substantive and consistent nature of the candidate's scholarly or creative efforts; 3) the quality of the refereed journals in which manuscripts have been published (or the quality of the invited or juried or reviewed exhibitions, presentations, or performances); 4) the caliber of the publications in which the candidate's works (other than refereed journal articles) have appeared; 5) any evidence of the impact that the candidate's works have had on the discipline or of the extent to which the candidate's publications have been recognized or cited by others; 6) the emerging professional stature of the candidate; 7) the quality of any invitations to consult or lecture; and 8) the quality of any participation by the candidate in research contract or grant activities.

C. Each successful candidate must show evidence of a continuing record of service/academic citizenship appropriate to the candidate's area and expertise, as defined at the departmental and divisional levels. These activities include, but are not limited to: work on departmental-, college-, and university-level committees and projects; mentoring students and advising student groups; providing service and education to external groups in a variety of forms; engaging in partnerships with target groups on enterprises aimed at problem-solving; working to advance the profession, including by serving on editorial boards; serving in leadership roles at the state, national, regional, and/or international levels; providing expert testimony on matters of professional expertise; serving as invited or elected members of boards, panels, and commissions; community engagement; clinical service and training; and enhancing the visibility and mission of the University by work outside the classroom.

The absence of a continuing record of service/academic citizenship on the candidate's part detracts from what otherwise may be a strong set of qualifications for promotion. Similarly, a pattern of continual lack of collegiality will be a factor in promotion decisions.

D. In cases where administrative and/or service activities are an assigned part of the candidate's professional duties, the criteria and performance standards cited above are supplemented and modified as follows:

- The quantity of teaching and creative scholarship expected of the candidate shall be modified appropriately to recognize both the person's academic appointment and the time assigned to the administrative and/or service components of the position. However, the criteria regarding the caliber of teaching effectiveness and the quality of research, publications, creative activity, and scholarly achievements remain the same, as does the expectation of responsible service/academic citizenship.
- The candidate's assigned administrative and/or service-related activities must be judged by superiors as meritorious and to have brought credit to the University.

While meritorious performance in an administrative and/or service capacity substantially enhances a candidate's case for promotion, such performance generally cannot be the primary basis upon which a faculty member receives promotion from assistant professor to associate professor. Promotion to the rank of associate professor is awarded principally on the basis of academic merit, as evidenced by a candidate's academic credentials, teaching effectiveness, instructional contributions, and record of research, publication, creative activity, and scholarly achievement.

2. Promotion from Associate Professor to Professor

To merit promotion to the rank of professor, candidates must possess a strong record of performance at the rank of associate professor. Decisions to promote an associate professor to the rank of professor are based upon: 1) the caliber of the faculty member's teaching effectiveness and overall contribution to the quality of the instructional programs; and 2) the caliber of the faculty member's record of research, publication, creative activity, and scholarly efforts in the discipline and field of specialization. These two areas of performance are co-equal in importance and are predominant in the evaluation of candidates for promotion from associate professor to professor.

To meet the criteria and standards of performance for promotion to professor, a candidate's record of academic performance and accomplishments must satisfy the following requirements.

A. A successful candidate must present convincing evidence of outstanding instructional performance and effectiveness; each candidate's record should be judged sufficiently consistent in quality to warrant the expectation of continued performance at this level.

Documentation that a candidate's instructional performance is outstanding and consistent in quality should include at least the following:

- i. Evidence of effective performance by the candidate in the classroom and/or other instructional settings and evidence of the degree of the candidate's commitment to instructional excellence, including judgments by members of the departmental promotion committee and the departmental chairperson.
- ii. Student opinions regarding the candidate's instructional performance, together with their opinions concerning the quality of the course.

- iii. Any available evidence that the candidate has made substantial contributions (beyond those included in responsible service/academic citizenship) to improving the quality of the instructional programs in the academic area. Such contributions may include improving the presentation of course materials, developing effective instructional aids, developing new courses or programs, strengthening the content of existing courses, preparing useful and current course syllabi, participating effectively in the supervision of research efforts of graduate students, assisting in student recruitment and career placement, performing meritoriously in adult and professional continuing education programs, providing curricular or instructional leadership, and obtaining or participating significantly in grants and contracts that enhance the University's instructional efforts.

B. A successful candidate must present an outstanding record of productive research, publication, creative activity, and scholarly achievement appropriate to the discipline and field of specialization; this record should be sufficiently consistent in both quantity and quality to warrant the expectation of continued performance at this level.

Although many ways exist for a candidate to establish an outstanding, continuing record of productive research, publication, creative activity, and scholarly achievement, each successful candidate is expected to have published a number of substantial articles in recognized refereed journals in the discipline (or the equivalent in the case of candidates whose disciplines are in the creative, visual, or performing arts). In evaluating the totality of a candidate's record, consideration is given to all appropriate types of original scholarship, creative effort, and professional activity relevant to the candidate's discipline. The weight placed on each scholarly and professional activity necessarily varies according to the contribution it makes to the discipline and to the professional stature of the candidate. The following are examples of the types of scholarly and professional contributions that are considered:

- Articles published in refereed journals in the candidate's discipline;
- Books and book-length research monographs;
- Invited or juried or reviewed exhibitions, presentations, or performances;
- Chapters in books and edited collections of readings;
- Research reports submitted in connection with research grants or contracts;
- Participation in research contract or grant activities;
- Papers published in the proceedings of meetings of professional associations;
- Articles in non-refereed periodicals;
- Papers presented at professional meetings;
- Appointment as a referee, as a member of an editorial board, or as an editor of a scholarly academic or professional journal;
- Any other types of scholarly publications and creative efforts that contribute to the candidate's fields of specialization; and
- Important professional activities that contribute materially to the individual's professional stature and to the University's mission.

In appraising the quantity and quality of a candidate's scholarly and creative contributions to the discipline, emphasis is placed upon: 1) whether the amount of productive research, publication, and creative activity the candidate presents is commensurate with what should be expected of

someone applying for the rank of professor; 2) evidence as to the substantive and consistent nature of the candidate's scholarly or creative efforts; 3) the quality of the refereed journals in which manuscripts have been published (or the quality of invited or juried or reviewed exhibitions, presentations, or performances); 4) the caliber of the publications in which the candidate's works (other than refereed journal articles) have appeared; 5) evidence of the impact that the candidate's works have had on the discipline and of the extent to which the candidate's publications have been recognized or cited by others; 6) the professional stature of the candidate; 7) the quality of any invitations to consult or lecture; and 8) the quality of any participation by the candidate in research contract or grant activities.

C. Each successful candidate must show evidence of a continuing record of service/academic citizenship appropriate to the candidate's area and expertise, as defined at the departmental and divisional levels. These activities include, but are not limited to, work on departmental-, college-, and university-level committees and projects; mentoring students and advising student groups; providing service and education to external groups in a variety of forms; engaging in partnerships with target groups on enterprises aimed at problem-solving; working to advance the profession by serving on editorial boards; serving in leadership roles at the state, national, regional, and/or international levels; providing expert testimony on matters of professional expertise; serving as invited or elected members of boards, panels, and commissions; community engagement; clinical service and training; and enhancing the visibility and mission of the University by work outside the classroom.

The absence of a continuing record of service/academic citizenship on the candidate's part detracts from what otherwise may be a strong set of qualifications for promotion. Similarly, a pattern of continual lack of collegiality will be a factor in promotion decisions.

D. In cases where administrative and/or service activities are an assigned part of the candidate's professional duties, the criteria and performance standards cited above are supplemented and modified as follows:

- The quantity of teaching and creative scholarship expected of the candidate shall be modified appropriately to recognize both the person's academic appointment and the time assigned to the administrative and/or service components of the position. However, the criteria regarding the caliber of teaching effectiveness and the quality of research, publications, creative activity, and scholarly achievements remain the same, as does the expectation of responsible service/academic citizenship.
- The candidate's assigned administrative and/or service-related activities must be judged by superiors as meritorious and to have brought credit to the University.

While meritorious performance in an administrative and/or service capacity substantially enhances a candidate's case for promotion, such performance generally cannot be the primary basis upon which a faculty member receives promotion from associate professor to professor. Promotion to the rank of professor is awarded principally on the basis of academic merit, as evidenced by a candidate's academic credentials, teaching effectiveness, instructional contributions, and record of research, publication, creative activity, and scholarly achievement.

B. Promotion for Renewable Contract Professor Ranks

Departments, schools, and colleges will create a committee or committees to work in conjunction with the chair or dean to evaluate renewable contract faculty for promotion. Committees for promotion to a given rank will consist of faculty who possess that rank or a higher rank. In cases in which there are fewer than three department members who are eligible to serve on the evaluation committee, the dean will appoint additional members with interests related to the faculty member's discipline from other departments. However, if possible, the chair of the committee should be a member of the candidate's home department.

The promotion process for renewable contract faculty follows the departmental, college, and dean-level timeline for tenure-track faculty. The dossier for promotion will be forwarded to the department chair by October 1 in the year of application. The permissible recommendations at each stage are to grant promotion or deny promotion. The candidate for promotion may terminate the review process at any stage by requesting ~~that his or her~~the dossier be withdrawn from consideration.

Promotions for renewable contract faculty members holding professor ranks require submission of a dossier. The dossier will include a current curriculum vitae; evidence of effective teaching, research, or clinical practice from a variety of sources; evidence of service at the department, school, college, University, and/or professional levels; a statement of professional activities; and documentation of other relevant activities. Some departments may require that external letters evaluating the candidate's professional performance or research be included in the dossier. It is expected that the documentation of outcome-~~measures~~ and student learning will generate substantial data for evaluation of teaching/clinical competency.

The departmental evaluation committee will review promotion applications and provide a written recommendation to the department chair. In those academic divisions without departmental structures, a divisional committee is used. The evaluation committee reviewing renewable faculty cases for promotion will base its written recommendation on the contents of the dossier as well as on job descriptions as stated in appointment letters, department, school, or college criteria for promotion as approved by the dean's office, annual evaluations by departmental committee (if utilized), and the annual chair/dean evaluations. The committee's written recommendation must include the actual vote totals for and against (noting all votes cast). In cases where the vote was not unanimous, the written recommendation must attempt to identify the grounds for dissent so that the votes can be appropriately contextualized as the dossier proceeds through the review. Abstentions are strongly discouraged. Recusals are permitted when conflicts of interest exist; however, the faculty member should provide an explanation to the committee chair. The department chair then writes an independent recommendation and forwards that, along with the committee recommendation and the dossier, to the dean, who may utilize a divisional evaluation committee (if applicable).

The dean's recommendation, along with the full dossier, will normally be received by the Provost by February 1. The Provost, together with designated persons, reviews each dossier and recommendations from the committee(s), chair, and dean and makes the ultimate decision on promotion. The decision of the Provost will generally be forwarded to the candidate, dean, and

departmental chairperson between March 15 and April 15; however, failure to meet this deadline by the Provost will not result in an automatic promotion for the candidate. As with tenure and tenure-track decisions for promotion, final authority for promotion lies with the Provost.

Renewable contract assistant professors are eligible to apply for promotion to associate professor during the sixth year in rank. Renewable contract associate professors are eligible to apply for promotion to professor after completing a minimum of five years in rank. On rare occasions, exceptional candidates may warrant early promotion consideration.

1. Promotion from Renewable Contract Assistant Professor to Renewable Contract Associate Professor

Promotion to renewable contract associate professor will be based on evidence of effective activity in the areas of teaching, research, or clinical practice and departmental, college, university, and professional service. Candidates applying for promotion to associate professor shall include strong evidence of professional development in teaching, research, or clinical practice as well as documentation of professional service. The absence of a continuing record of service/academic citizenship on the candidate's part detracts from what otherwise may be a strong set of qualifications for promotion. Similarly, a pattern of continual lack of collegiality will be a factor in promotion decisions.

2. Promotion from Renewable Contract Associate Professor to Renewable Contract Professor

Promotion to renewable contract professor requires compelling evidence of significant contribution ~~to the~~at the departmental, ~~to the~~college, ~~to the~~and university level, and to the teaching, research, or clinical aspects of one's field. Professors are also expected to include compelling evidence of contributions to teaching, research, or clinical practice by demonstrating excellence at a local, regional, or national level. Documentation of high-quality service is expected. The absence of a continuing record of service/academic citizenship on the candidate's part detracts from what otherwise may be a strong set of qualifications for promotion. Similarly, a pattern of continual lack of collegiality will be a factor in promotion decisions.

Further information on methods for documenting the quality of research, teaching, and service required for promotion to each rank is laid out in [Chapter 2, Section III](#) above.

Candidates for promotion who are unsuccessful will meet with their chair/dean to discuss continuation of employment at the existing rank. Candidates whose promotion applications are not successful may, if re-appointed, apply again for promotion in future years. These candidates should be provided with clear guidance regarding the professional development steps needed to reach promotion in the future.

C. Promotion from Renewable Contract Instructor to Renewable Contract Senior Instructor

Commented [MOA13]: Internal link

Following their sixth year of service, instructors who are reappointed for a seventh year will be promoted to senior instructor. Deans are responsible for notifying the faculty member and the Office for Academic Affairs of any upcoming promotion for the following academic year no later than May 15.

V. Criteria and Standards for Awarding Tenure to Probationary Faculty

The decision to award tenure to a probationary faculty member is an affirmative act based upon an individual's performance, accomplishments, and potential for ongoing contribution to the University's academic programs and teaching, research, and service/academic citizenship missions.

A. Criteria and Standards

To merit the award of tenure, a probationary faculty member must satisfy the following criteria and standards of performance.

1. A successful candidate must present convincing evidence of good instructional performance and effectiveness; each candidate's record must be judged sufficient in quality to demonstrate continuing and substantial progress toward an outstanding level of performance.

Documentation of a candidate's instructional performance should include at least the following:

(a) Evidence of effective performance by the candidate in the classroom and/or other instructional settings and evidence of the degree of the candidate's commitment to instructional excellence, including judgments by members of the departmental tenure committee and the departmental chairperson.

(b) Student opinions regarding the candidate's instructional performance, together with their opinions concerning the quality of the course.

(c) Any available evidence that the candidate has made contributions (beyond those included in responsible service/academic citizenship) to improving the quality of the instructional programs in ~~their~~ the academic area. Such contributions may include improving the presentation of course materials, developing effective instructional aids, developing new courses or programs, strengthening the content of existing courses, preparing useful and current course syllabi, participating effectively in the supervision of research efforts of graduate students, assisting in student recruitment and career placement, performing meritoriously in adult and professional continuing education programs, providing distinguished curricular or instructional leadership, and obtaining or participating effectively in grants and contracts that enhance the University's instructional efforts.

2. A successful candidate must present a strong, continuing record of productive research, publication, creative activity, and scholarly achievement appropriate to the discipline and field of specialization; this record must be sufficient in both quantity and quality to demonstrate substantial progress toward an outstanding level of performance.

Although many ways exist for a candidate to establish a strong, continuing record of productive research, publication, creative activity, and scholarly achievement, each successful candidate is expected to have published a number of substantial articles in recognized refereed journals in ~~their~~ the discipline (or the equivalent in the case of candidates whose disciplines are in the creative, visual, or performing arts). In evaluating the totality of a candidate's record, consideration is given to all appropriate types of original scholarship, creative effort, and professional activity relevant to the candidate's discipline. The weight placed on each scholarly and professional activity necessarily varies according to the contribution it makes to the discipline and to the professional stature of the candidate. The following are examples of the types of scholarly and professional contributions that are considered:

- Articles published in refereed journals in the candidate's discipline;
- Books and book-length research monographs;
- Invited or juried or reviewed exhibitions, presentations, or performances;
- Chapters in books and edited collections of readings;
- Research reports submitted in connection with research grants or contracts;
- Participation in research contract or grant activities;
- Papers published in the proceedings of meetings of professional associations;
- Articles in non-refereed periodicals;
- Papers presented at professional meetings;
- Appointment as a referee, as a member of an editorial board, or as an editor of a scholarly academic or professional journal;
- Any other types of scholarly publications and creative efforts that contribute to the candidate's fields of specialization; and
- Important professional activities that contribute materially to the individual's professional stature and to the University's mission.

In appraising the quantity and quality of a candidate's scholarly and creative contributions to the discipline, emphasis is placed upon: 1) whether the amount of productive research, publication, and creative activity the candidate presents is commensurate with what should be expected of someone applying for tenure; 2) evidence as to the substantive and consistent nature of the candidate's scholarly or creative efforts; 3) the quality of the refereed journals in which manuscripts have been published (or the quality of invited or juried or reviewed exhibitions, presentations, or performances); 4) the caliber of the publications in which the candidate's works (other than refereed journal articles) have appeared; 5) any evidence of the impact that the candidate's works have had on the discipline and of the extent to which the candidate's publications have been recognized or cited by others; 6) the emerging professional stature of the candidate; 7) the quality of any invitations to consult or lecture; and 8) the quality of any participation by the candidate in research contract or grant activities.

3. Each successful candidate must show evidence of a continuing record of responsible service/academic citizenship appropriate to the candidate's area, as defined at the departmental and divisional levels. These activities include, but are not limited to, work on departmental, college, and university committees and projects; mentoring students and advising student groups;

providing service and education to external groups in a variety of forms; engaging in partnerships with target groups on enterprises aimed at problem-solving; working to advance the profession by serving on editorial boards; serving in leadership roles at the state, national, regional, and/or international levels; providing expert testimony on matters of professional expertise; serving as invited or elected members of boards, panels, and commissions; community engagement; clinical service and training; and enhancing the visibility and mission of the University by work outside the classroom.

The absence of a continuing record of service/academic citizenship on the candidate's part detracts from what otherwise may be a strong set of qualifications for tenure. Similarly, a pattern of continual lack of collegiality will be a factor in tenure decisions.

4. Each successful candidate must have made substantial progress toward achieving a professional status that will enhance the stature of the University's faculty and must be judged to have the potential to make a continuing contribution to the University's mission in teaching, research, and service/academic citizenship.

When a tenure-track candidate in their mandatory tenure review year applies for tenure and for promotion from assistant to associate professor in the same review cycle, the Provost will issue one consistent outcome – to grant tenure and promotion or to deny both.

~~eligible voting members at the departmental and divisional levels and the department chair provide separate recommendations for tenure and promotion. The dean, however, is bound to send one recommendation to the Provost – either to grant tenure and promotion or to deny tenure and promotion. In other cases, the dean forwards separate recommendations for tenure and promotion to the Provost.~~

B. Duration of Probationary Status

The appointment letter for a probationary faculty member should specify the last academic year during which a tenure decision can be made (the mandatory tenure decision time). This mandatory tenure decision time is the academic year preceding the last full academic year of the probationary period. The probationary period for a faculty member whose appointment begins during an academic year normally will be considered to have begun at the start of the academic year, while faculty members whose appointments begin between May 15 and August 16 will not start their probationary period until August 16. Exceptions to this rule must be approved by the Provost and must be described in the appointment letter.

The probationary period includes all full-time service at a faculty rank after earning an appropriate terminal degree and may include full-time service prior to receiving a terminal degree. However, time spent in appointments prior to beginning a probationary appointment at the University may be excluded. The decision as to whether to count time spent in prior appointments or service prior to receiving an appropriate terminal degree will result from negotiations between the individual and the dean, with concurrence by the Provost, and will be reflected in the mandatory tenure

decision time specified in the appointment letter conferring probationary faculty status. Factors to be considered in the decision concerning credit for prior appointments include the extent to which the appointment permitted normal professional progress and the possibility that moving to the University can be expected initially to cause some delay in normal professional progress. If a person holding a probationary faculty appointment at the University participates in a faculty exchange, takes leave for no more than six months, or takes leave for scholarly purposes, the time spent on exchange or leave will count as part of that person's probationary period unless the individual and the Provost agree in writing to an exception to this provision at the time the exchange or leave is approved.

The total period of full-time service in a probationary status normally will not exceed seven years at the University, with a final tenure decision made during the sixth year. The probationary period will normally not be less than four years at the University, with a final tenure decision made during the third year. Faculty members appointed at advanced ranks may have shorter probationary periods, as specified in their original appointment letters.

Normally, candidates do not apply for tenure until the year before their probationary period ends. Faculty members whose academic credentials and performance are outstanding may be considered for tenure sooner. Candidates must satisfy all criteria for tenure regardless of the timeframe.

At any time preceding August 16 of the mandatory year for tenure decision, a probationary faculty member may request an extension of the probationary period. An extension, if granted, normally will not be for more than one year. Application for extension must be made by the probationary faculty member through the department chair to the dean of the college. A positive response to the application must be approved by the Provost.

Upon the birth or adoption of a child, a faculty member holding a tenure-track appointment will, upon written notice, be granted a one-year extension of the date on which the probationary period would end. Only one such extension is allowed per faculty member. A written notice to exercise this option must be provided to the department chair, the dean, and the Provost, preferably within six months but no later than 12 months of birth or adoption. Further, regardless of the date of birth or adoption, this notice must be given no later than the December 15 prior to the October 1 on which the original mandatory tenure application was to be made. During this extension, the retention process continues, with the probationary candidate receiving normal feedback from the department about job performance. A candidate who chooses to return to ~~their~~the original probationary period is not considered to be applying for early tenure.

C. Initial Appointment with Tenure

It is the policy of The University of Alabama not to award tenure at the time of initial appointment to faculty rank. Exceptions may be made at the ranks of associate professor and professor, provided candidates have a record of substantial experience and accomplishments and provided they possess the professional stature and abilities to merit the award of tenure without a probationary period for evaluation. In making a decision to award tenure at the time of initial appointment, the candidate's record and credentials are examined from the standpoint of: 1) teaching experience and evidence of instructional effectiveness; 2) quantity and quality of research, publication, creative activity,

and scholarly achievements; 3) professional stature in the discipline; and 4) potential for making an ongoing contribution to the University's mission in teaching, research, and service/academic citizenship.

VI. Composition of Faculty Committees for Appointments, Promotions, Progress Reviews, and Tenure

Membership on departmental and divisional faculty committees that make recommendations concerning faculty appointments, promotion, progress reviews, and tenure is limited to persons holding a regular full-time faculty appointment as assistant professor, associate professor, or professor. Those holding the rank of instructor or senior instructor may participate in faculty hiring, reviews, and retention processes for instructors if the academic division permits such participation. Additionally, only tenured faculty members may serve on committees for tenure and progress reviews, and departmental committees for promotion to a given academic rank must consist of people who possess that rank or a higher rank. These restrictions on eligibility apply in all departments and divisions. Usually, the departmental committees that make recommendations concerning promotion, progress reviews, and tenure consist of all persons eligible to serve, but (subject to the eligibility requirements given above) the full faculty of each department establishes its own specific criteria and processes concerning the composition, formation, and operation of these departmental committees. Likewise, the full faculty of each division establishes its own specific criteria and processes concerning the composition, formation, and operation of these divisional committees.

Departmental chairpersons, deans, and faculty members currently serving in the Office for Academic Affairs or the President's Office who may have a separate role in recommending retention, tenure, and promotion do not serve on the departmental or divisional committees making such recommendations.

In cases where there are fewer than three department members who are eligible to serve on one of the personnel committees, the dean, after consultation with the members eligible to serve, will appoint additional members to the committee from other departments with related interests. The committee chairperson must be a member of the candidate's department, if any member of that department is eligible to serve.

VII. Preparation of Dossiers; Subsequent Additions

A dossier serves as a basis for decisions regarding retention, tenure, and/or promotion. The primary responsibility for preparing a dossier to be considered by a faculty committee on retention, promotion, progress review, or tenure rests with the candidate, but the departmental chairperson shall offer assistance. The dossier shall include all evidence and support material deemed by the candidate to be necessary for the review and shall include any material required by departmental and divisional policies as well as a clear description of any special duties stated in the initial or subsequent appointment letter(s). Dossiers are required to be prepared as follows:

- By tenure-track faculty for retention annually and during the mandatory tenure decision year;
- By any faculty at the rank of assistant or associate professor when seeking promotion; and

- By renewable-contract faculty at any rank during the terminal year of their appointment, if they are seeking and the dean is considering them for reappointment. Divisions and units may require additional dossier review for renewable contract faculty.

No material submitted by a candidate shall be removed from the dossier prior to a final decision regarding the candidate's retention, tenure, and/or promotion in that year's review.

For tenured/tenure-track faculty, the dossier of a candidate for promotion or tenure must include external evaluations of the candidate's scholarly and creative contributions to their discipline. For renewable contract faculty in professor ranks, the dossier of a candidate for promotion may require external evaluations, as determined by the academic division's rules. The candidate suggests in a timely fashion the names of several experts in ~~his or her~~the candidate's field who might provide external evaluations. The departmental chairperson requests evaluation statements from at least two of those persons, but is not limited to names furnished by the candidate. In seeking objective reviews of a candidate's research record, an "arm's-length" policy is critical in selecting reviewers. External reviewers should not be assistant professors, nor individuals who have published with the candidate, nor the candidate's terminal degree advisor(s). Exceptions should be documented and rare. These evaluative statements shall be sent to the departmental chairperson, who must put them in the dossier. External reviews must have been written within the past two years to be included in a dossier, unless otherwise noted by a college-specific policy approved by the Provost. All external letters received by the time of the review by the departmental committee must be included. Letters received after this time will not be considered. Efforts should be made to protect the identity of the external evaluators. Additionally, access to external review letters should be limited to appropriate faculty and administrators involved in the review process.

A. Dossiers for Retention and Reappointment of Renewable Contract Faculty

Dossiers for renewable contract faculty for retention and reappointment at the same rank are prepared according to guidelines established by the academic division. Procedures for reappointment for renewable contract faculty are described in [Chapter 2, Section III](#). B. Instructors must prepare dossiers for retention (if required by the academic unit) and reappointment. The candidate submits a dossier to the departmental chairperson (or appropriate administrative official in divisions without departments), who may add information the departmental chairperson/administrative official considers relevant. In the event information is added, the departmental chairperson/administrative official informs the candidate, who has the opportunity to add explanatory or rebuttal material. No dossier is required for promotion to senior instructor, as that promotion is automatic in the seventh year in rank as instructor.

Commented [MOA14]: Internal link

Commented [GJ15]: This makes it comparable with the rights afforded to modify the dossiers below.

B. Dossiers for Tenure and Promotion

Dossiers for promotion to associate professor and professor (including renewable contract faculty) and for tenure are due October 1 unless, with the approval of the Provost, a division selects a different date. The candidate submits ~~their~~a dossier to the departmental chairperson (or appropriate administrative official in divisions without departments), who may add information ~~that they~~the departmental chairperson/administrative ~~or official~~ considers ~~to be~~relevant. ~~It~~in the event ~~that~~information is added, the departmental chairperson/administrative official informs the

candidate, who has the opportunity to add explanatory or rebuttal material. The dossier is then transmitted by the departmental chairperson/administrative official to the departmental faculty committee.

Generally, no new evidence is added to the dossier after it has been transmitted to the departmental committee. In extremely unusual circumstances, when new evidence becomes available that seems to the dean to be significant, the dean may reconvene the departmental and divisional committees and ask these committees and the departmental chairperson to assess the new evidence.

Dossiers generally are reviewed by one or more faculty committees, the departmental chairperson (or appropriate administrative official in divisions without departments), the dean, and the Provost (see Sections VIII, IX, and X). The reviews of faculty committees, the departmental chairperson, and the dean each result in written recommendations that are attached to the dossier and are considered at subsequent stages of the review process. Each such recommendation shall include a discussion of the evidence in the dossier concerning whether the candidate's performance satisfies the pertinent set of criteria and standards.

Commented [MOA16]: Internal links

The candidate is given a copy of each such recommendation and has an opportunity to supply an explanatory or rebuttal statement. Any such statement by the candidate becomes a part of the dossier and is reviewed by the departmental/divisional committee or departmental chairperson/dean whose recommendation elicited the candidate's response. Following this review, the candidate is informed in writing of the results, and a copy is included in the dossier. The dossier is then forwarded for review at the next stage.

Those performing the review at each stage shall have access to the complete dossier of the candidate and to copies of the formal written recommendations made at each prior stage of the review. In addition, they shall rely on their professional judgment in making evaluations and recommendations. Since the dossiers contain confidential and sensitive material, access to them shall be limited to persons formally involved in the review process.

Any material in the dossier submitted by the candidate that is not retained in the digital evaluation platform shall be returned to the candidate at the end of the review process.

VIII. Progress Reviews of Probationary Faculty

It is University policy to conduct a review of each untenured faculty member's performance and dossier during each year prior to mandatory tenure decision time. A primary purpose of this review is to identify current strengths and weaknesses in the faculty member's performance and to make suggestions for improvement; however, this review also leads to a decision concerning retention.

The review process within a division consists of evaluations of the dossier by a single faculty committee, by the departmental chair, area head, or program director, if the division has such administrative subunits, and by the dean. The faculty committee normally will be a departmental, area, or program committee, if the division has administrative subunits; otherwise, it will be a divisional committee.

The faculty committee reviews the record of each probationary faculty member who has not reached mandatory tenure decision time and recommends whether to continue the person's appointment. The committee's recommendation must include a discussion of evidence in the dossier showing the person's progress toward meeting the criteria and standards for tenure. The recommendation also includes any suggestions for improvement that the committee considers appropriate.

The next stage of the review process consists of an independent recommendation by the departmental chairperson (or by the dean in divisions without administrative subunits) based on a review of the dossier and of the recommendation of the faculty committee. The departmental chairperson's recommendation includes a discussion of evidence in the dossier showing the person's progress toward tenure and may include any suggestions for improvement that the chairperson considers appropriate.

The dossier, together with recommendations from the departmental committee and the departmental chairperson, is transmitted to the dean. Except in cases where there is an automatic review by the Provost, a review by the dean is the last step in the annual progress review of probationary faculty members. The dean notifies the departmental chairperson and the faculty member of ~~his or her~~ the decision and may include suggestions for improvement.

Review by the Provost is automatic in two cases: 1) whenever the dean decides the probationary faculty member's appointment should not be continued; and 2) in the review process that occurs two years before mandatory tenure decision time. In these cases, the dean makes a recommendation that is forwarded to the Provost for the final decision. If the dean recommends the appointment not be continued, the faculty member may submit a letter of rebuttal to the dean, who can respond in writing but must include the letter of rebuttal and any response in the dossier. The Provost notifies the dean, the departmental chairperson, and the faculty member of the Provost's decision. If the decision is that the faculty member is not to be retained, then the faculty member is no longer eligible to apply for promotion or tenure.

If a probationary faculty member has not completed requirements for an appropriate terminal degree, the dean may decide retention of the faculty member shall be contingent upon completion of all degree requirements by a specific date (which can be no earlier than the date specified in the faculty member's letter of appointment). Written notification to the faculty member by March 1 of the decision to impose this contingency constitutes notice that the individual's employment at the University terminates at the end of the academic year unless all degree requirements are met by the specified date; however, the dean may set a later termination date.

A decision not to retain a probationary faculty member who holds an appropriate terminal degree must be transmitted in writing to the faculty member by March 1 during the first year of employment and by December 15 in the second year. Otherwise, the faculty member may remain on the faculty for an additional year. If the decision not to retain the faculty member is made during the third or subsequent years, the faculty member's appointment will not terminate until the end of the following academic year. Consequently, the review for first-year probationary faculty members should occur no later than January, with recommendations reaching the dean by February 1. Reviews during the second year should occur no later than October, with recommendations

reaching the dean by November 1. Reviews during the third and later years should be conducted early enough to ensure the faculty member is notified of the decision prior to May 15. Exceptions to ~~this policy~~these timelines may be made under the provisions of the Termination and Severance section (Section XIII).

Commented [MOA17]: Internal link

IX. Procedures for Making Tenure Recommendations

Recommendations concerning tenure usually begin at the departmental level. However, in divisions that have no administrative subunits, recommendations will be initiated at the divisional level. Each department has a tenure committee consisting of tenured faculty members (see Section VI). It is the responsibility of each candidate for tenure to prepare a dossier (see Section VII) to be considered by the committee and to submit the dossier to the departmental chairperson (or the dean in divisions that have no administrative subunits) by October 1. The dossier shall include all of the written recommendations and the prior letters of retention resulting from the previous progress reviews described in Section VIII. Individual divisions and departments may require the inclusion of special forms or material. A dossier must be submitted in the academic year in which a tenure decision is mandatory.

Commented [MOA18]: Internal link

Commented [MOA19]: Internal link

Commented [MOA20]: Internal link

The appointment letter of each probationary faculty member sets the maximum duration of the probationary period by specifying the academic year in which a tenure decision must be made (the mandatory tenure decision time). The faculty member will be considered for tenure prior to mandatory tenure decision time if earlier consideration is guaranteed in the appointment letter or if the faculty member requests early consideration. In cases of early consideration for tenure, the recommendation can be to award tenure, to deny tenure, or to defer a decision on tenure; the faculty member can terminate the review process at any stage by asking that ~~his or her~~the dossier be withdrawn from consideration. The only possible recommendations at mandatory tenure decision time are to award tenure or to deny tenure; the faculty member can terminate the review process only by resigning.

The candidate is given a copy of each recommendation made at the departmental or divisional level and has an opportunity to supply a written explanatory or rebuttal statement. Any such statement by the candidate becomes a part of the dossier and is reviewed by the departmental/divisional committee or departmental chairperson/dean whose recommendation elicited the candidate's response. Following this review, the candidate is informed in writing of the results, and a copy is included in the dossier. The dossier is then forwarded for review at the next stage.

A. Departmental Tenure Recommendations

The departmental tenure committee evaluates the dossier of each candidate, applying the criteria and standards for tenure given in the *Faculty Handbook*, together with any additional criteria and standards imposed by the department or division. The committee, with members relying on their professional experience as faculty, makes a written recommendation concerning tenure that includes substantive discussion comparing the candidate's performance, as shown in the dossier (including the external evaluations), to each of the criteria and standards for tenure. The committee's written recommendation must include the actual vote totals for and against (noting all votes cast). In cases where the vote was not unanimous, the written recommendation must

attempt to identify the grounds for dissent so the votes can be appropriately contextualized as the dossier proceeds through the review. Abstentions are strongly discouraged in early tenure reviews and not permitted in the mandatory tenure review. Recusals are permitted when conflicts of interest exist; however, the faculty member should provide an explanation to the committee chair and shall not participate in the committee discussion.

The next stage of the review process consists of an independent written recommendation by the departmental chairperson based on a review of the dossier (including external evaluations) and of the recommendation of the departmental tenure committee. The chairperson's recommendation includes an independent evaluation of whether the dossier shows that the candidate has met each of the criteria and standards for tenure. The chairperson then transmits the dossier, including all recommendations, to the dean.

B. Divisional Tenure Recommendations

Each division has a tenure committee consisting of tenured faculty members (see Section VI) to review dossiers and recommendations submitted to the dean by departmental chairpersons. This committee makes an independent evaluation of each dossier, with the members relying on their professional experience as faculty, and makes a written recommendation that includes the committee's assessment of whether the dossier (including external evaluations) contains convincing evidence that all applicable criteria and standards for tenure have been met. The committee's written recommendation must include the actual vote totals for and against tenure (noting all votes cast). In cases where the vote was not unanimous, the written recommendation must attempt to identify the grounds for dissent so that the votes can be appropriately contextualized as the dossier proceeds through the review. Abstentions are strongly discouraged in early tenure reviews and not permitted in the mandatory tenure review. Recusals are permitted when conflicts of interest exist; however, the faculty member should provide an explanation to the committee chair and shall not participate in the committee discussion.

Commented [MOA21]: Internal link

The next review is conducted by the dean, who makes an independent written recommendation after considering the dossier (including external evaluations) and all the preceding recommendations. The dean's recommendation concerning tenure includes an assessment of the individual's potential for making a continuing contribution toward meeting the University's academic needs and thus may be based in part upon knowledge of budgetary constraints, projected enrollment patterns, and needs of the program or discipline. By February 1, the dean transmits the complete dossier, including ~~his or her~~the dean's recommendation, to the Provost.

C. University Tenure Decision

The Provost, together with designated persons, reviews each dossier and all preceding recommendations. Following this review, a written recommendation from the Provost goes to the President, who makes the final decision, unless the President has delegated this decision-making authority to the Provost.

The Provost sends the faculty member written notice of the final tenure decision and provides copies to the departmental chairperson and dean. Formal written notice from the Provost is the only way in which tenure is awarded.

Notification of the award of tenure normally occurs between March 15 and April 15. In the case of denial of tenure, the Provost must notify the individual before the end of the academic year. Notification of denial of tenure constitutes notice that the individual's appointment at the University terminates at the end of the next academic year.

X. Procedures for Making Promotion Recommendations

Professorial ranks at The University of Alabama, in ascending order, are: assistant professor, associate professor, and professor. University criteria for each rank are described in [Section II](#). Divisional and departmental criteria supplement University criteria.

Commented [MOA22]: Internal link

The process to be followed in applying for promotion, and in considering applications for promotion, is similar to that for tenure ([see Section IX](#)). Each department has a promotion committee for each rank, and there is a divisional promotion committee ([see Section VI](#)).

Commented [MOA23]: Internal link

Commented [MOA24]: Internal link

Each candidate for promotion is responsible for preparing a dossier ([see Section VII](#)) to be considered by the appropriate departmental promotion committee. As these dossiers are designed to support an application for promotion rather than for tenure, material such as the progress reviews described in [Section VIII](#) may not be needed. Individual divisions and departments may require the inclusion of special forms or materials.

Commented [MOA25]: Internal link

Commented [MOA26]: Internal link

The candidate submits the completed dossier to the departmental chairperson by October 1. The chairperson, if necessary, places additional information in the dossier ([see Section VII](#)) and then transmits the dossier to the chairperson of the departmental promotion committee. Thereafter, the stages in the review process, including all written notifications of recommendations and opportunities for rebuttal, are exactly the same as for tenure, with the exception of votes of abstention, which are discouraged but allowed. The permissible recommendations at each stage are to grant promotion or deny promotion. The candidate for promotion can terminate the review process at any stage by requesting that ~~his or her~~[the](#) dossier be withdrawn from consideration.

Commented [MOA27]: Internal link

Completed promotion dossiers reach the Office for Academic Affairs by February 1. The Provost, together with designated persons, reviews each dossier and all preceding recommendations. Following this review, a written recommendation from the Provost goes to the President, who makes the final decision, unless the President has delegated this decision-making authority to the Provost.

The Provost sends the faculty member written notice of the final promotion decision and provides copies to the departmental chairperson and dean. Formal written notice from the Provost is the only way in which promotion is awarded. Notification of the decision to award ~~of~~ promotion normally occurs between March 15 and April 15.

XI. Policy and Guidelines on Faculty Evaluation

All full-time, regular faculty members are subject to evaluations throughout their careers, since decisions must be made about matters such as salary increases and the assignment of time and support for research, teaching, service, and administration. The criteria and standards used in these evaluations shall be similar to those used in reviews for tenure and promotion, except that these continuing reviews shall concentrate on the question of whether the individual has maintained or improved the level of performance that justified hiring, earlier promotions, and/or tenure. The following procedures are designed to ensure that these evaluations are based on factual information, that the faculty member has a timely opportunity to discuss the evaluation, and that a written record will be available in case the faculty member chooses to contest the evaluation.

1. Each faculty member shall submit a written activities report for the year just completed to the departmental chairperson (or appropriate supervisory official in non-departmentalized units) during the spring semester.

2. Each faculty member shall have an opportunity to provide feedback (including meeting privately with the departmental chairperson or appropriate supervisory official, if desired) about the activities report, the annual performance assessment, and the type of duties to be assigned during the next year. This opportunity shall occur before the final annual performance evaluation is submitted and salary recommendations are made to the Office for Academic Affairs. It is the responsibility of the departmental chairperson to notify the faculty of the appropriate period for such a meeting.

3. At the faculty member's request, the departmental chairperson (or appropriate supervisory official) shall provide a written statement comparing that faculty member's performance to the criteria and standards described above and making recommendations for improvement prior to the next evaluation.

XII. Resignations

Acceptance of a full-time faculty appointment is a commitment for the scheduled academic year. When circumstances do not permit the completion of such a commitment, the University may agree to an earlier resignation with a written notice. A faculty member planning to resign shall give written notice to the departmental chairperson or area head as early as possible. A faculty member who resigns forfeits all rights of tenure and rank.

A faculty member who, without the permission of the department chair, dean, or Provost, fails to report to work for a period of time exceeding 30 calendar days or fails to return to work after the expiration of an approved absence ~~for a period of time exceeding 30 calendar days~~ shall be deemed to have constructively tendered a resignation. In such a case, the employee may be terminated by the University without initiating the termination for cause process set forth in [Appendix B](#). This does not apply, however, if the faculty member has been approved for additional leave (such as Family Medical Leave – see [Employee Handbook](#) – or medical leave for faculty as provided in [Chapter 4](#)) or an exception is necessitated under the [Americans with Disabilities Act](#) or [Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act](#) or other state or federal law. A faculty member with a qualifying disability should refer to the [Employee Handbook](#) on how to request a reasonable accommodation.

Commented [MOA28]: Internal link

Commented [MOA29]: Internal link

XIII. Termination and Severance

In accordance with [Board of Trustees Rule 301](#), the definition of tenure at The University of Alabama recognizes that tenure is an “affirmative commitment by the Board of Trustees to a faculty member, generally offered after a probationary period of employment, of a right to continuing employment except upon dismissal for cause, retirement, resignation, bona fide financial exigency of the institution or division in which tenure is held, or major curtailment or formal discontinuance of a program or department of instruction.”

Otherwise, tenure may be revoked only for adequate cause. “Adequate cause” for revoking tenure must be directly and substantially related to performance of academic duties and responsibilities or to fitness to perform academic duties and responsibilities.

A. Adequate Cause to Revoke Tenure or to Terminate Before the End of an Employment Term

Adequate cause to revoke tenure and to dismiss a tenured faculty member or to terminate a probationary or renewable contract faculty member before the end of the employment term specified by the *Faculty Handbook* or by the appointment letter between the University and the faculty member is established when the faculty member engages in behaviors such as the following (this list is not exhaustive):

1. Consistent failure to maintain standards of sound scholarship and/or competent teaching;
2. Willful failure to discharge fundamental obligations as a teacher, colleague, and member of the wider community of scholars;
3. Gross neglect of established University obligations appropriate to the appointment;
4. A pattern of continual failure to comply with the policies of the Board, the University, the college or the department, or to carry out specific assignments, when such policies or assignments are reasonable;
5. A serious violation of or pattern of continual failure to comply with one or more of the faculty behavioral obligations set forth in [The Code of Conduct/Standards of Behavior section](#) of the *Faculty Handbook*, including willful disregard of accepted standards of professional conduct ([AAUP Statement of Professional Ethics](#));
6. A serious violation of or pattern of continual failure to comply with one or more policies, including but not limited to [UA’s Sexual Misconduct Policy](#), [Harassment Policy](#), [Consensual Romantic Relationships Policy](#), [Child Protection Policy](#), [Code of Ethical Conduct](#), [Scientific Misconduct in Scholarly Activities](#), [Policy on Conflict of Interest/Financial Disclosure in Research and other Sponsored Programs](#);
7. Falsification of academic credentials or information on one’s employment application or other information concerning qualifications for a promotion or a position;

Commented [MOA30]: Internal link

8. Dishonesty (fraudulent research, plagiarism, theft or misuse of University property);
9. Physical or mental incapacitation (when the faculty member no longer can perform the essential functions of the job, with or without reasonable accommodation);
10. Improper use of narcotics or intoxicants that substantially impairs the faculty member's fulfillment of departmental and/or university duties and responsibilities;
11. Conviction of a serious criminal offense or of any serious crime involving immoral or unethical conduct;
12. Misrepresentation of criminal history background information; and
13. Conviction of a crime substantially related to the duties and responsibilities associated with teaching, research, or service, or that impedes professional capacities as a teacher, advisor, or researcher/scholar.

When a faculty member does not dispute either the facts or the adequacy of the cause, the faculty member may resign immediately or receive immediate termination. When dispute exists on the facts or on their adequacy, the procedures outlined in the Mediation and Grievance System will be followed (see Appendix B).

Commented [MOA31]: Internal link

B. Financial Exigency and Termination of Tenured Faculty

The University accepts the obligation of showing that the needs based on financial reasons or major curtailment of a program or department are genuine. Pursuant to [Board of Trustees Rule 301](#), The University of Alabama must submit decisions of financial exigency or program discontinuance to the Chancellor and the Board for approval.

Policies governing the merger and discontinuation of academic units are described in [Appendix I](#). It is understood that merging and discontinuation of units could result in the termination of all regular faculty (appointment with tenure, probationary, or renewable contract before the end of a specified term).

Commented [MOA32]: Internal link

In addition to adequate cause and merger/discontinuation of a unit, tenured faculty also can be terminated as the result of a bona fide financial exigency. This is defined as a significant decline in financial resources that is brought about by decline in institutional enrollment or by other actions or events that compel a reduction in the University's current operating budget. Financial exigency also can include financial strain in an academic unit that makes it unable to fulfill, for the foreseeable future, its teaching and research missions unless it reduces its financial obligations to tenured faculty.

If the President believes that a bona fide financial exigency exists or is predictable, and if the resolution of the financial emergency could involve the termination of tenured faculty members, then the President shall inform the President of the Faculty Senate of the nature and extent of the financial emergency and shall request that the Provost develop a plan to accommodate

academic and research portions of the financial emergency. The Provost must consider input from the deans, administrators, and tenured faculty in the affected units. The plan will be submitted to the Merger or Discontinuance of Academic Units Committee for review and recommendations. Based on this input, the President will submit a final recommendation to the Board of Trustees in accord with [Board of Trustees Rule 301](#).

The appointment of a tenured faculty member shall not be terminated in favor of retaining a faculty member without tenure in the same academic unit unless this would result in an extreme distortion of that academic unit. Before terminating tenured faculty, efforts will be made to place affected tenured faculty members in suitable available positions within the University. If a reasonable period of retraining of an affected faculty member would qualify ~~him or her~~[that member](#) for another available position at the University, then reasonable and appropriate institutional resources shall be considered. No tenured faculty member shall be terminated within less than 12 months from the date of the Board of Trustees' approval of the University's decision of financial exigency. The University shall give reasonable assistance in the identification and facilitation of other employment opportunities.

C. Notice of Termination

1. Tenured/Tenure-Track Faculty

A faculty member in a tenured position normally shall receive written notice of the termination date at least one calendar year in advance, unless the adequate cause includes acts of moral turpitude (as defined in [Appendix B](#)) or actions that could be reasonably construed as job abandonment ~~or constructive tendering of a resignation~~, such as failing to perform assigned duties for 30 calendar days without being on approved leave ~~(See Section XII)~~.

Commented [MOA33]: Internal link

Employment of a probationary faculty member (tenure-track) may end pursuant to a decision by the Provost to non-retain. Notification dates of a decision to non-retain are set forth in [Chapter 2, Section VIII](#) of the *Faculty Handbook*.

Commented [MOA34]: Internal link

2. Renewable Contract and Temporary Faculty

Employment of a full-time renewable contract faculty member generally ends at the specified time in the appointment letter. Notification of the decision to reappoint or not to reappoint a renewable contract faculty member should be made in writing to the candidate in a timely fashion, and no later than April 15 of the terminal year specified in the appointment letter; however, failure to meet this deadline will not result in automatic re-appointment. At no time will contract renewal be deemed de facto tenure.

If the President or Provost finds it necessary to seek immediate termination, or termination on short notice, of the employment of a full-time renewable contract faculty member, that faculty member would be entitled to request a review by the Tribunal (See [Appendix B](#)). A recommendation for termination by the Tribunal allows the President to terminate the faculty member's employment at once.

Commented [MOA35]: Internal link

Those faculty holding any temporary appointment or those holding part-time renewable contract appointments are not entitled to advance notice of termination and/or non-renewal.

D. Leave with Pay Pending Tribunal Review

If the faculty member's continued performance of duties poses a significant risk of harm to persons or property as determined in the sole discretion of the Provost, the faculty member may be relieved of duties and suspended with pay during the pendency of any mediation and grievance process as described in [Appendix B](#). If a faculty member is relieved of duty in accordance with these procedures and is subsequently reinstated, all mentions of the leave of absence with pay will be removed from personnel files. This section does not apply to a decision by a department chair or dean to not assign a faculty member a particular course or courses in a particular semester. Those routine decisions are not offenses that can be grieved and are left to the sole discretion of the department chair or dean.

Commented [MOA36]: Internal link

XIV. Appointment, Evaluation, and Replacement of Administrators

Administrators do not have tenure in office; tenure as a faculty member is a separate right. Final authority over the selection and retention of university-level administrators at the vice president level rests with the President. The President may delegate final authority for academic administrative appointments, including deans and associate provosts, to the Provost. Primary authority for the selection and retention of associate deans, assistant deans, and departmental chairpersons rests with the academic dean.

[Appendix A](#) describes procedures to be followed in selecting and evaluating departmental chairpersons and deans.

Commented [MOA37]: Internal link

XV. Conversion from Administrative to Tenured Faculty Status

This policy concerns the return to full-time faculty status of tenured faculty members who have 12-month appointments with an administrative assignment of at least 0.80 FTE and holding administrative positions above the department chair/head level. Administrators on nine-month appointments with an administrative stipend are not covered by this policy. The policy defines "academic-year salary," the phasing out of any administrative stipend (defined as any additional pay related to the administrative work above the 12-month base salary), and a leave program in lieu of "sabbatical leave" designed to facilitate the resumption of the duties associated with full-time faculty status. Loss of an administrative appointment cannot be subject of a grievance.

A. Academic-Year Salary

The summer salary of an administrator is defined as 30% of [that individual's](#) academic-year salary. An administrator's salary may also include an additional amount designated as an administrative stipend. The academic-year salary of those with 12-month appointments is defined as:

Nine-month academic-year salary = (12-month salary minus administrative stipend) divided by 1.3

B. Awarding Administrative Leave and Phasing Out Administrative Stipends

The primary purpose of administrative leave is to provide the administrator with a compensated period of time for the study and research necessary to resume a full-time faculty role. Administrators taking advantage of this leave normally are expected to serve at least one academic year as a full-time faculty member after their administrative leave is completed.

Unless otherwise stipulated in an offer letter, administrators returning to full-time faculty status are eligible for a phasing out of their administrative stipend (if applicable) and to administrative leave as follows:

Category A is those with 10 or more years of continuous administrative service. They receive two semesters of administrative leave that must be taken within the first year after leaving their administrative role. Those with designated administrative stipends receive one-half of the administrative stipend in the first year and one-quarter in the second year after leaving their administrative role.

Category B is those with a least five but less than 10 years of continuous administrative service. They receive one semester and one summer of administrative leave, both of which must be taken in the first year after leaving their administrative role. Those with designated administrative stipends receive one-half of the administrative stipend in the first year after leaving their administrative role.

Category C is those with administrative service of more than one but less than five years of continuous administrative service. They receive one semester or one summer of administrative leave, which must be taken in the first year after leaving their administrative role.

C. Other Conditions

1. Date of Conversion

The date of conversion from administrative to faculty status is subject to negotiation, but normally will be the first working day after the end of the administrative appointment and will be no later than the following August 16. Administrative stipends begin to be phased out as soon as the administrative appointment ends. Similarly, administrative leave typically begins as soon as the administrative appointment ends. For example, an administrator who steps down January 1 ~~who~~ and had more than five years of administrative service typically would take administrative leave in the spring and summer semesters at the 12-month salary, but then would be converted to nine-month faculty status August 16, when ~~they~~ the administrator ~~returns~~ from leave. If that same administrator steps down August 16, the conversion to nine-month appointment would take place immediately, and ~~they~~ the administrator could take compensated leave either in the Fall or Spring semester that academic year and receive compensated summer leave (equal to 30 percent of the ~~the~~ nine-month base) the following summer.

2. Salary During Administrative Leaves

Normally, administrators will have been converted to academic-year salaries before beginning administrative leave. In such cases, salary during leave (distributed on a 12-month basis) will be one-half the academic-year salary for each semester and 30 percent of the academic-year salary for a summer. Any variation from this policy must be approved in writing by the Provost before the leave begins.

3. Accrued Leave

Administrators opting to take administrative leave under this policy are expected to utilize all of their accrued annual leave prior to beginning their administrative leave; any annual leave not taken by the time of conversion is lost. Administrators who opt not to take administrative leave may be entitled to a payout of up to 30 days of their accrued annual leave, consistent with University employment policies and with approval by the dean (if applicable) and Provost.

XVI. Faculty Participation in Selection of Vice Presidents

The President ensures faculty participation in the selection of vice presidents by appointing faculty members to each search committee.

Chapter 3

Faculty Conduct and Compensation

I. Academic Freedom

The academic freedom of the faculty is indispensable to the University in fulfilling its obligations to students, the community, and the State. The University endorses the statement on academic freedom as expressed in the [American Association of University Professors' statement, Academic Freedom and Tenure, 1940 Statement of Principles](#) and explained in its 1970 Interpretive Comments:

- Institutions of higher education are conducted for the common good and not to further the interest of either the individual teacher or the institution as a whole. The common good depends upon the free search for truth and its free exposition.
- Academic freedom is essential to these purposes and applies to both teaching and research. Freedom in research is fundamental to the advancement of truth. Academic freedom in its teaching aspect is fundamental for the protection of the rights to the teacher in teaching and of the student to freedom in learning. It carries with it duties correlative with rights.

Faculty members are entitled to full freedom in research and publication. However, publication of research results may be subject to requirements of individual research contracts and patent and copyright limitations. Faculty members are free to present relevant material in the classroom without prior censorship, but are expected to meet the highest standards of professional integrity.

Any faculty member may speak freely as a private citizen, but should make clear the views stated represent personal opinions and do not necessarily represent the position of the institution. In expressing opinions in public, faculty members should realize that the public may judge the teaching profession, as well as the University, on the basis of statements made by individual faculty members.

The University of Alabama is committed to providing and promoting an atmosphere in which employees can realize their maximum potential in the workplace and students can engage fully in the learning process. Toward this end, all members of the University community (including faculty, staff, and students) must understand that harassment based upon one's protected status as identified in the [University's Equal Opportunity, Non-Discrimination and Affirmative Action Policy Statement](#) will not be tolerated, and that they are required to abide by the [Harassment Policy](#), [Sexual Misconduct Policy](#), and [Consensual Romantic Relationships Policy](#). The University will take appropriate action to prevent, correct, and, where warranted, discipline behavior that violates these and other related policies.

II. Code of Conduct/Standards of Behavior

All faculty, at any rank, are required to review and adhere to the conduct standards referenced in the sections below and in various University policies. Failure to do so may subject the faculty member to progressive discipline and/or sanctions, up to and including suspension, non-renewal of contract, non-retention, dismissal, and/or revocation of tenure.

A. AAUP Statement on Professional Ethics

The University of Alabama expects high ethical standards of all personnel. In particular, the University endorses the principles set forth in the [Statement on Professional Ethics by the American Association of University Professors \(2009\)](#). All faculty are required to review and adhere to these principles.

As noted in the section above on Academic Freedom ([Section I](#)), the University attaches great value to freedom of speech and open debate, but it also attaches great importance to the principles of civility and respect that govern an academic community. Indeed, the Statement on Professional Ethics requires that faculty members show due respect for the opinions of others in the exchange of criticism and ideas, ~~and~~ strive to be objective in their professional judgment of colleagues, ~~and not discriminate against or harass colleagues.~~ Consequently, as evident in the Statement on Professional Ethics and in the University's [Statement on Diversity](#), faculty are required to act collegially, with civility and respect toward one another and toward all members of the University community.

Faculty are also required ~~in~~ by the Statement of Professional Ethics to demonstrate respect for students as individuals and adhere to their proper roles as intellectual guides and counselors. They should avoid any exploitation, harassment, or discriminatory treatment of students, and should acknowledge significant academic or scholarly assistance from them.

B. Compliance with Laws, University Policies, and Professional Licensure Standards of Conduct

In the continuing effort to maintain an effective and safe work/study environment and to comply with relevant federal and state laws, The University of Alabama has adopted a variety of policies governing faculty, staff, and student behavior. These policies were established to ensure acceptable standards of behavior and the display of professionalism as applicable to teaching, research, and institutional service.

All faculty members of The University of Alabama are expected to comply with applicable federal, state, and local laws as well as the [policies of The University of Alabama](#). Those faculty members who are members of an occupation or profession that has established standards of conduct/ethics (including, but not limited to, licensure, registration, certification, or accreditation) shall be expected to conduct the affairs of the University and their professions according to the standards of conduct/ethics applicable to such occupations or professions.

While it is the responsibility of The University of Alabama's administration to maintain current and fair policies and procedures and to appropriately communicate current information about policies and procedures to appropriate University employees, it is the responsibility of faculty members to be aware of such policies and procedures and to comply with them. Faculty shall comply with applicable policies and procedures as referenced in the *Faculty Handbook*, in the [Employee Handbook](#), in the [Human Resources Policy Manual](#), on the [University's Policies](#)

Commented [MOA38]: Internal link

website, and on other official University websites. Examples of some of the policies all faculty are required to comply with include, but are not limited to, the following:

- [Code of Ethical Conduct \(including anti-retaliation provision and policies referenced within\)](#)
- [Sexual Misconduct Policy](#)
- [Harassment Policy](#)
- [Child Protection Policy](#)
- [Hazing Policy](#)
- [Equal Opportunity Non-Discrimination and Affirmative Action Policy Statements](#)
- [Consensual Romantic Relationships Policy](#)
- [Drug-Free Campus and Workplace Policy](#)
- [Approved Alcohol Venue Policy](#)
- [Confidentiality of Student Records Policy](#)
- [HIPAA Privacy and Security Policies \(accessible in HIPAA-covered departments engaged in provision of health care services or HIPAA business associate activities within the University\)](#)
- [Dangerous Weapons & Firearms Policy](#)
- [Self-Disclosure of Criminal Conviction Reporting Policy](#)
- [Nepotism Policy](#)
- [Employee Visitors Policy](#)
- [Telephone Use Policy](#)
- [Electronic Media Policy](#)
- [Computer & Network Use Policy](#)
- [Indebtedness and Collection Policy](#)
- [Solicitation Policy](#)
- [Purchasing Policies and Procedures](#)
- [Travel Policies](#)
- [Board of Trustees Rule 304, Political Activities of University Personnel](#)
- [Supplemental Compensation Policy](#)
- [Research, Contracts, and Grants Policies](#) including but not limited to:
 - [Policy on Conflict of Interest/Financial Disclosure in Research and Other Sponsored Programs](#)
 - [Health and Safety of Human Participants – IRB Policies](#)
 - [Policy on Academic Misconduct in Scholarly Activities](#)
 - [Policy and Procedures for Research and Other Sponsored Project Data Ownership and Retention](#)
 - [Effort Reporting Policies and Procedures](#)
 - [Federal Whistleblower Protections](#)
 - [Animal Care Policies](#)
 - [Export Control Policy](#)
 - [Biological Safety Manual](#)
 - [Radiation Safety Manual](#)

It is the responsibility of faculty members to recognize failure to comply with specific policies and procedures could lead to progressive disciplinary actions up to and including termination.

Examples of the types of behaviors that could warrant a range of disciplinary actions include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Repeated refusal to complete University-mandated training;
- Falsification of information on an employment application or other information concerning qualifications for a position or promotion;
- A pattern of unfair or abusive treatment of students;
- consistently substandard performance or academic incompetence;
- Incompetence, neglect, or dishonesty in performance of duties;
- Excessive absenteeism;
- A pattern of insubordination or failure to carry out reasonable, job-related duties appropriately assigned by a supervisor;
- A violation of state ethics laws or other University policy, including, but not limited to, appropriating state or student equipment, time, or resources for personal use or gain; fraudulent research or plagiarism; theft of University property; using course materials developed by the faculty member or their family members without appropriate approval from the college or department's textbook selection committee; or other unethical conduct;
- Violation of UA's [Sexual Misconduct Policy](#), [Harassment Policy](#), or [Consensual Romantic Relationships Policy](#), including retaliating against someone who complains or participates in an investigation of any such matter;
- Committing a serious criminal offense, a crime involving moral turpitude, a felony, or a crime involving immoral or unethical conduct;
- Participating in acts of violence or making threats of violence;
- Illegal possession of a drug or controlled substance, or improper use of narcotics or intoxicants that substantially impairs the faculty member's fulfillment of departmental and/or university duties and responsibilities or serious or repeated violations of the University's Drug-Free Workplace Policy;
- A serious or repeated violation of one or more of the faculty behavioral obligations set forth in the [Code of Conduct/Standards of Behavior](#) section of the *Faculty Handbook*;
- Acts identified in the [Standards of Behavior](#) section of the *Employee Handbook*; or
- Any other behavior or condition that significantly affects a faculty member's fitness to carry out professional responsibilities.

Commented [MOA39]: Internal link

Commented [MOA40]: Internal link

III. Progressive Discipline

When a faculty member's conduct is not in keeping with the behavior standards expected of an employee of The University of Alabama, the department chair or other appropriate administrative officer has the responsibility to investigate the situation and administer corrective action, if needed. Faculty members are subject to corrective action for violation of Board or University rules, regulations, or policies; departmental or college policies; or federal, state, or local laws or regulations.

The concept of progressive discipline acknowledges that a faculty member may have violated rules, laws, or policies or otherwise engaged in misconduct that, while serious, does not justify dismissal and/or loss of tenure. Activities of a faculty member that fall outside the scope of employment shall constitute misconduct only if such activities adversely affect the legitimate

interests of the University. Examples of such conduct include, but are not limited to: 1) conduct, professional or personal, involving moral turpitude; and 2) action(s) that results in preventing other members of the University community from fulfilling their responsibilities or that create a clear and present danger to members of the University community.

Sanctions are disciplinary actions imposed on an individual that may include corrective action or punishment. Sanctions may extend from mild to severe and from informal to formal. Requiring a faculty member to complete in-person or online training on a policy, rule, regulation, or law to remediate a potential deficiency in ~~their~~ understanding of appropriate behaviors or courses of action is generally not considered a punitive sanction, but rather is considered an educational responsibility.

In cases of an employment offense or misconduct, a range of sanctions short of dismissal is generally available. The range of sanctions from minor to severe constitutes progressive discipline.

Disciplinary action falls into two general categories: minor discipline and severe sanction. *Minor discipline* includes, but is not limited to, verbal reprimand, written reprimand, foregoing salary increase, restitution, monitoring of behavior and performance, and/or reassignment of duties.

Severe sanctions include suspension with or without pay or temporary or permanent reduction in appointment. In egregious cases of wrongdoing or where attempts at discipline have not successfully remedied performance concerns, a faculty member may be dismissed for cause.

In matters where the dean and the Provost concur that a faculty member's continued performance of faculty duties poses a significant risk of harm to persons or property, the faculty member may be relieved of any or all ~~of their~~ duties and/or placed on leave with pay during the pendency of the mediation and grievance process.

In all faculty discipline, the University bears the burden of proof that adequate cause exists; it will be satisfied by a preponderance-of-evidence standard. The faculty member's record should be considered as a whole when contemplating imposition of disciplinary action.

A first offense may warrant the most extreme penalty and loss of employment or tenure. Any sanctions imposed must be selected to meet the severity, frequency, and/or flagrant nature of the infraction. In some instances, the faculty member may be placed on leave with or without pay until final action is taken.

Appropriate sanctions may include, but are not limited to, the list below. These sanctions do not appear in hierarchical order.

A. Minor Discipline

- Oral or written reprimand or warning
- Reassignment to other duties (including removal from future teaching or research or ineligibility to apply for or receive research funds)

- Removal from extracurricular activities, committee assignments, or administrative assignments
- Restriction on travel abroad or domestic travel
- Loss of travel or research funds
- Loss of privileges of rank
- Reassignment of workspace
- Placement of a faculty member under the direct supervision of a specified administrator with a specific plan for remediation and for a specific period of time
- Transfer or reassignment
- Loss of summer teaching employment for those on less than 12-month contracts
- Restitution
- Fines or penalties
- Loss of merit raises
- Loss of protective benefits for a stated period of time (e.g., “regular” or “merit” increase in salary)
- Loss of eligibility for promotion for a stated period of time

B. Severe Sanctions

- Revocation of tenure and/or dismissal of a tenured faculty member for adequate cause
- Dismissal of a tenure-track (probationary) faculty member for adequate cause, before the end of the term specified by the *Faculty Handbook*
- Dismissal of a renewable contract faculty member before the end of the term specified in a contract or appointment letter between the University and the faculty member
- Suspension, with or without pay, of a faculty member from service for a stated period
- Reduction of a faculty member’s rank (demotion)
- Reduction of an academic year salary before the end of that academic year

IV. Workload Assignments and Removal from the Classroom

An academic administrator's responsibilities include assigning workload and duties. These assignments may be adjusted from time to time, and normally such adjustments are not considered disciplinary actions.

If an academic administrator determines that a faculty member with rights under the *Faculty Handbook* must be relieved of all or part of the currently assigned teaching responsibilities after classes have begun in a given term, the administrator must promptly provide reasons for this action to the faculty member in writing. This action, if it does not result in a loss of pay, cannot be grieved and, therefore, the faculty member has no right to mediation. However, the faculty member can ask for a review from the dean and Provost simultaneously.

V. Participation in Political Activities

[Board of Trustees Rule 304](#) governs the rights and obligations of University personnel who seek or hold public office. The Rule recognizes the civil and political rights and responsibilities of University personnel and encourages them to fulfill their responsibilities as private citizens. The

Rule prohibits the use, or appearance of use, of the University name or resources in support of a political campaign or organization and imposes two limitations on University personnel who expect to retain their connection with the University while holding public office. These limitations are:

- The office held must not result in a conflict of interest with University responsibilities and duties; and
- The duties of the office must not interfere with the person's performance of University responsibilities and duties.

The Rule provides for the possibility of leave of absence without pay, subject to prior approval by the Chancellor, when there is a conflict of interest or when interference with the performance of University duties exists. Refer to [Board of Trustees Rule 304](#) for the complete statement of policy and to the [Employee Handbook](#) section on Running for Public Office & Political Activities.

VI. Policy on Contributions

The University cooperates with the United Way of West Alabama by sponsoring a University-wide solicitation campaign for the United Way Fund. Otherwise, as noted in the [Employee Handbook](#) Solicitation section, solicitations on UA premises are prohibited. For more information, refer to the [HR Policy Manual](#) on the HR website for the complete Solicitation Policy.

VII. Mediation and Grievance System

The University of Alabama has a Mediation and Grievance System that provides a mechanism to process grievances of members of the faculty and proposed severe sanctions against faculty members. [Appendix B](#) contains the full statement of policies and procedures for the Mediation and Grievance System.

Commented [MOA41]: Internal link

VIII. Faculty Workloads and Assignments

A. Workload and Full-Time Equivalent

A full-time workload (one full-time equivalency or FTE) for a University of Alabama faculty member is twelve credits of teaching per semester combined with the other duties required by good service/academic citizenship. This normally translates into four, three-credit courses (0.20 FTE each) with the remaining 0.20 devoted to service. Remotely located faculty who have teaching responsibilities exclusively online (with no service/academic citizenship or other responsibilities) may be assigned up to five courses per semester only if stipulated in a letter of appointment. Negotiations between the chairperson and the faculty member can result in replacing part of the teaching component with time assigned to research or other activities that contribute to the mission of the University. For tenure-track/tenured faculty, teaching loads generally are reduced to allow for research. These variable teaching assignments are approved by the dean and, depending on the nature of the assignment, by the Provost. Faculty workloads are revisited annually to be responsive to needs of the units and the faculty members' productivity and success in assigned areas. Faculty [members](#) on a reduced teaching component may have their teaching load increased incrementally

by their dean, in consultation with the department chair, as applicable, if their research or other activities fail to meet the negotiated expectations. For example, a faculty member teaching two courses a semester who is consistently not performing to standards in research may have course load increased by one course per semester for the first year and then to the full twelve credits of teaching per semester in subsequent years. Faculty [members](#) consistently not performing to negotiated expectations in any area are also subject to progressive disciplinary action (Chapter 3, Sections II and III).

Commented [MOA42]: Internal link

B. University Convocations

Faculty members are encouraged to participate in the commencement exercises in appropriate academic regalia, which can be borrowed or rented through UA programs (see [Faculty Senate Programs](#)). Faculty members are encouraged to attend other University convocations, such as the President's meetings with the University faculty, which take place periodically throughout the year.

IX. Supplemental Compensation Policy

The policy on supplemental compensation requires faculty members to obtain prior agreement from the appropriate administrative officers of the University before undertaking activities that provide supplemental compensation for professionally related activities.

Supplemental compensation activities by faculty can support the University's missions of teaching, research, and service and are encouraged within the limits set by this policy.

Responsibility for adhering to the provisions and spirit of this compensation policy is one of the professional obligations a faculty member assumes when accepting employment at the University. The restrictions in this policy apply only to periods for which the employee is compensated by the University. Any questions concerning the policy should be discussed with the appropriate administrative officer before beginning a supplemental compensation activity.

A. Definitions

"Faculty," as used in this Supplemental Compensation Policy, refers to those with full-time appointments at any faculty rank, including academic deans and other administrators. Faculty includes faculty members on sabbatical leave.

"Internal supplemental compensation" is any compensation paid through the University to any faculty member in addition to ~~his or her~~ base pay.

"External supplemental compensation" is any salary or wages not paid through the University that a faculty member receives for currently performed professionally related services.

"Supplemental compensation" refers to both internal and external supplemental compensation.

“Academic-year appointment” normally covers the nine-month period beginning on August 16 and ending on May 15. A 12-month appointment normally begins August 16 and concludes on the following August 15.

“Appropriate administrative officer” refers to that individual who determines the faculty member’s conditions of employment. The appropriate administrative officer for a faculty member normally is the dean of the school or college or division director. Reports and requests for approval from faculty members will be transmitted to the dean or director by the appropriate departmental chairperson and will include the chairperson’s recommendation. If the faculty member is a dean, vice president, or other executive, the appropriate administrative officer is the person to whom the individual reports.

B. Supplemental Compensation

Reporting of all significant supplemental compensation activities is an integral part of establishing performance expectations between a faculty member and the appropriate administrative officer, but no report or prior approval is required concerning a one-time external compensation activity if the activity takes less than half a day or if the compensation is no more than \$1,000. The reporting process and the nature of the report will be that specified by the division to which the individual is assigned. Faculty members shall not undertake compensated activities that will in any way: 1) conflict with the lawful interests and goals of The University of Alabama; or 2) impinge on their primary responsibilities to The University of Alabama. In the case of externally compensated activities, faculty members shall not: 1) make use of property or personnel of The University of Alabama for the purpose of obtaining compensation from sources external to the University, except when such use is permitted by law and is a normal part of the individual’s professional academic activities; or 2) use or permit the use of the name of The University of Alabama in a way that would suggest that the activity is sponsored or endorsed by the University, without prior authorization of the President.

1. Approval for Supplemental Compensation

Each faculty member at the University is expected not only to be an effective teacher and to maintain an ongoing program of research and scholarly effort, but also to exercise responsible service/academic citizenship. This typically includes advising students, serving as faculty advisor to student organizations, actively participating in professional associations, and engaging in other University activities where faculty participation is normal. Because supplemental compensation activity may infringe on these responsibilities, the faculty member is required to seek and receive prior written approval from the dean or the dean’s designated representative for any such activity. Deans, on their part, will respond with approval (or disapproval) promptly and normally will respond within five working days of receiving the request. If the proposed activity is not approved, the dean will give the faculty member written notice of reasons for disapproving. Factors to be considered by the dean when deciding whether to approve supplemental compensation activities may include possible conflicts of interest, the amount of time the activity will require, and the appropriateness of arrangements to meet the faculty member’s responsibilities.

2. Limitations on Supplemental Compensation Leave

- a. Nine-month faculty: Faculty members on academic-year appointments may have no more than 39 supplemental compensation days (excluding weekends and holidays) during any academic year.
- b. 12-month faculty: Faculty on 12-month appointments must make arrangements with the appropriate administrative officer in order to receive supplemental compensation. Their maximum number of supplemental compensation days is 28 (excluding holidays, weekends, and annual leave) in any 12-month appointment period.
- c. Interim Term: Faculty members with a full-time, interim-term assignment may not exceed three days of supplemental compensation during that period. Faculty members with a full-time summer assignment may not exceed five days of supplemental compensation in any summer term.
- d. Exception: Deans of Academic units that have unique needs to provide continuity of service to a community on a set schedule (e.g. patient care, clinical supervision, professional services) may reduce the number of allowed faculty supplemental compensation days with written approval from the Provost, provided the approved alternate policy is consistently applied to all similarly situated faculty in that unit.

3. Working for Another Higher Education Institution

A full-time University faculty member may not be employed in a faculty/academic role with any other institution of higher education without written approval from the Provost. Those holding non-compensated faculty/academic appointments with any other institution of higher education should notify their deans, who will ensure that the appointments are not impinging on their faculty members' primary responsibilities or conflicting with the lawful interests and goals of the University.

4. Discipline for Violations

An appropriate administrative officer who obtains information that a faculty member has violated these supplemental compensation standards will discuss the matter with the individual and may, with documented evidence, take any additional steps (including sanctions defined in Chapter 3, Section III) needed to ensure compliance.

Commented [MOA43]: Internal link

C. Internal Supplemental Compensation

Each faculty member of the University must have prior written approval for all internal supplemental compensation activities.

1. Other than in exceptional circumstances, all teaching is done as a part of the assigned workload and without supplemental compensation. If teaching for internal supplemental compensation takes place, it is done over and above the assigned workload and normally is limited to one three-hour or four-hour course per semester.

2. Receipt of internal supplemental compensation for externally sponsored research and service activities is subject to the current policies and regulations of the external sponsor. The statements that follow describe some of these policies.

- Internal supplemental compensation under sponsored programs (e.g., contracts and grants) is subject to University policy, except where the sponsor's policy is more restrictive.
- Certain funding sources may require more specific documentation of both internal and external supplemental compensation activities; such conditions are specified in the terms of the agreement or sponsor policy. Any faculty member accepting such sponsorship is presumed to have accepted the conditions of the sponsoring agency. It is the responsibility of the faculty member to provide any required documentation.
- Unless prior written approval is given by the sponsoring agency and the appropriate administrative officer, a faculty member cannot: 1) receive internal supplemental compensation on a project under ~~his or her~~ the faculty member's direction; or 2) serve both on University-assigned time and receive internal supplemental compensation for the same work.
- If federal funds are used, supplemental compensation is only allowable in unusual cases where consultation is across departmental lines or involves separate or remote operations and the work performed by the faculty member is in addition to regular responsibilities. Charges for such work representing additional compensation are allowable provided that such consulting arrangements are specifically provided for in the federal award or approved in writing by the federal awarding agency. Further, compensation, including supplemental compensation, paid from federal funds will be at a rate not in excess of the individual's institutional base salary.

3. The remuneration for internal supplemental compensation activities depends upon negotiation between the faculty member and the agency in question. Usually, the daily rate for internal compensation will not exceed 1.5 percent of the academic-year salary or 1.15 percent of the 12-month salary, and the pay for teaching a supplemental course will be no more than that for teaching a comparable course during a summer term.

4. University faculty members who engage in conferences, workshops, and seminars through the University's College of Continuing Studies will, except for such activities funded through a grant or contract, receive internal supplemental compensation at rates determined by negotiation with that College. These rates will be competitive to the extent that such rates are compatible with the projected revenue/cost of the program and with other relevant economic considerations.

D. Reporting Procedures

Each academic unit of the University should develop a process for reporting and summarizing external supplemental compensation activities. Faculty members must follow the procedures of the academic unit to which they are assigned. Deans are responsible for collecting the information annually and providing it to the Provost upon request.

E. Conflict Provisions

The terms and conditions of any agreement between the University and external organizations, or between the University and particular employees, will prevail in the event of any conflict between that agreement and the provisions of this supplemental compensation policy.

X. Faculty Exchange

A faculty exchange consists of an arrangement by which a faculty member from The University of Alabama exchanges duties for a stated period of time with a faculty member from another institution of higher education. The individual from the other institution must have credentials and competencies comparable to those of the individual from the University.

Any faculty member of the University on a faculty exchange remains on the payroll of the University for the period of the exchange and receives benefits as though continuing on assignment at the University. ~~An~~eExchange professors from ~~an~~other institutions must remain on the payrolls ~~at his or her of their~~ home institutions and must receive benefits from ~~that those~~ institutions. ~~An~~eExchange professors from ~~an~~other institutions receives rights of usage of University facilities equivalent to those of regular faculty members.

A faculty member interested in arranging an exchange should consult with, and receive prior authorization from, the departmental chairperson or area head, and dean of the division, before beginning negotiations. After authorization is obtained, exchanges of vitae and other necessary materials can take place. Approval of the exchange, and of the arrangements proposed, depends on recommendations from the departmental chairperson or area head and the dean of the division, but the final decision is made by the Provost. The procedural arrangements at the other institution must result in authorization of the exchange by an appropriate official of that institution.

The University participates in a cooperative agreement for faculty exchange among certain Southern institutions and the [Southern Regional Education Board](#). Faculty members wishing information about the institutions involved should contact the [dean of the Graduate School](#).

Time spent on a faculty exchange is counted as University service for the purpose of considering tenure; it may be counted in determining eligibility for sabbatical leave, but prior approval for this arrangement must be obtained from the departmental chairperson or area head, the dean, and the Office for Academic Affairs.

XI. Support for Research

The University of Alabama encourages research activities by faculty members through several support programs for research.

A. Departmental Support

1. Reassigned Time

The University commits its resources to research activities by providing time for faculty members to engage in research that is not sponsored by outside funding agencies. Initial decisions on time to be reassigned from teaching to research take place at the departmental level. Deans have final say on any workload adjustments. The dean and the Provost receive regular reports on research productivity.

2. Expenses for Faculty Professional Travel

Subject to the availability of funds, the University may pay expenses of faculty members who participate in professional meetings as part of the meeting program. Prior arrangements for reimbursement for travel must be made with the UA official with budgetary authority over the funds. All faculty who travel on official University business are required to review and comply with all applicable University policies, including, but not limited to, UA's [Travel policies](#).

B. Divisional Support

Indirect cost reimbursement on sponsored contracts and grants is allocated to provide general support to enhance research programs and activities in the divisions and departments.

The equivalent of 40 percent of the indirect costs reimbursement paid by contracts and grants is distributed to academic divisions, departments or areas, and principle investigators. One-half of these monies goes to the division, one-fourth to the department or area, and one-fourth to the principal investigator to be used for purposes other than salary for the investigators. Each division sets policies for the use of these divisional and departmental funds consistent with [University spending policies](#).

C. University Support

The support services listed below are supplemented in various ways when financial resources are available.

1. The Office for Research and Economic Development

The [Office for Research and Economic Development](#) offers assistance to faculty members in pursuing external sponsorship for research, instruction, and service programs.

2. Information Services

The University provides computing, network, and Internet services to faculty, staff, students, and the campus. The [Faculty Resource Center](#) provides hardware, software, training, emerging technology and accessibility services, and consulting services to faculty working on multimedia presentations, web pages, and classroom materials. Information on computing and network services and campus computing issues is available from the [Office of Information Technology](#).

D. Research Grants Committee

The Office for Research and Economic Development supports and coordinates awards recommended by the [Research Grants Committee](#). This faculty committee recommends grants for specific research projects proposed by faculty members. Normally, these projects emphasize worthwhile research for which little outside money exists or for which initial support may lead to outside funding. The grants support needed research components such as compensation for research workers and clerical assistance, expenses for research-related travel, operating expenses, equipment expenses, and summer stipends.

XII. Conflict of Interest

Senior administrators as defined in Board of Trustees Rule 106 shall disclose any potential conflict of interest as described in [Board of Trustees Rule 106: “Ethics – Conflicts of Interest – Members of the Board of Trustees and Senior Administrators.”](#)

A. Government-Sponsored Research

The University subscribes to and complies with the Joint Statement of the American Association of University Professors and the American Council on Education, “On Preventing Conflicts of Interest in Government-Sponsored Research at Universities” (See Appendix E).

The University has developed a policy on [Conflict of Interest/Financial Disclosure in Research and Other Sponsored Programs](#) (See Appendix F). The policy applies to all sponsored programs as well as to University of Alabama intellectual property licensed to an entity in which a UA investigator owns any interest or serves as an employee, officer, or member of the Board of the Directors, regardless of the source of funding.

Commented [MOA44]: Internal link

Commented [MOA45]: Internal link

B. Textbook Selection

The Code of Alabama, Section 36-25-5(a), 1995 (The Ethics Act), states “[n]o public official or public employee shall use or cause to be used his or her official position or office to obtain personal gain for himself or herself, or family member of the public employee or family member of the public official, or any business with which the person is associated unless the use and gain are otherwise specifically authorized by law.” Amendments to the Alabama Ethics law passed by the 1986 Legislature place faculty of state-supported institutions of higher education within the purview of the conflict of interest standards set forth in the law. Advisory Opinion No. 1130 issued by the Alabama Ethics Commission on August 21, 1987, concluded that a faculty member “...who is also an author is not permitted to make the decision as to whether his or her publication will be used.” The opinion approved a process ~~where-by~~ [by which](#) “...the decision is made by either administrative officials of the institution or a textbook committee composed of other faculty members and administrative officials with the institution.”

Each academic department or division is expected to have a textbook selection committee. In cases ~~where-in~~ [in which](#) a faculty member desires to use textbook(s), laboratory manuals, computer software, or other instructional materials from which the faculty member or any person or business associated with the faculty member’s family obtains direct financial gain, the faculty member shall submit this recommendation to the textbook selection committee at least three months prior to the

beginning date of the semester in which the course(s) will be taught. The textbook selection committee is responsible for reviewing the recommendation, considering the appropriateness of the textbook(s) or other materials for the course, considering alternative textbooks or materials, and informing the faculty member and department chair or dean of ~~their~~^{its} decision. Whenever possible, decisions should be made at least two months in advance of the beginning date of the semester in which the course will be offered. Decisions on selection of textbooks or other materials authored by a faculty member, or from which the faculty member receives royalties, are effective for all semesters beginning in the subsequent 12 months, if the faculty member elects to continue using the textbook(s) or materials.

XIII. Patent Procedures

New discoveries and inventions sometimes result from research activities at the University. The University recognizes that it may be necessary to invoke the protection and control provided by patent and copyright laws. As a result, The Board of Trustees of The University of Alabama has, through its [Board of Trustees Rule 509: Patent Policy](#), authorized the establishment of an [Intellectual Property Committee](#) and promulgated a Patent Policy. [See Appendix G.](#)

Commented [MOA46]: Internal link

The University requires all faculty, staff, and students to sign an Intellectual Property Agreement (IPA) as a condition of employment. The completion of the IPA is processed through the myBama portal of Banner Self-Service.

All faculty members and employees shall report any potentially patentable device, process, product, discovery, or invention at as early a stage of development as possible by completing a Confidential [Invention Disclosure Form](#), which together with a copy of the procedures used in processing disclosures and patent applications is available from the [Office for Technology Transfer](#). The disclosure form should be signed by the inventor(s) and two witnesses and then returned to the Office for Technology Transfer. All reports, correspondence, inquiries, and related information should accompany the disclosure form.

XIV. Copyright Policy

All employees at The University of Alabama are required to abide by and comply with all state and federal laws governing copyrights and trademarks as well as other applicable state and federal laws and applicable University policies. Refer to the University's [policies website](#) for the [Copyright Statement](#). Additional information can be found under the [Office of Information Technology](#) copyright page.

A. Determination of Rights in Copyrightable Materials at The University of Alabama

It is the policy of The University of Alabama to encourage the creation of copyrightable works by its faculty. Such works are an important contribution to the University's pedagogical, scholarly, and public service missions.

B. Ownership of Copyright

1. Except as provided below, faculty of the University who are the authors of copyrightable works shall own the copyrights in those works, regardless of whether those works constitute “works for hire” as defined in the Copyright Act.
2. “Copyrightable works” includes, without limitation, computer software, online course materials, multimedia, films, and videos, in so far as they fall within the subject matter of copyright. To the extent that such works embody patentable inventions, rights to those inventions shall be determined by The University of Alabama Patent Policy. [See Appendix G.](#)

Field Code Changed

C. Exceptions

1. If the University contributes extraordinary resources to the creation of a copyrightable work, the respective rights of the author and University to that work shall be negotiated at the time such resources are provided. “Extraordinary resources” means facilities, equipment, funding, release or re-assigned time or other assistance exceeding the resources normally provided to faculty or employees in a particular department. It shall be the responsibility of the dean at the time such extraordinary resources are provided to notify the faculty member and negotiate the terms. Those terms may include assignment of copyright, license of rights, or division of royalties.
2. If a copyrightable work is funded, in whole or in part, by a contract or grant from an agency outside the University, copyright shall be assigned in accordance with the terms of the contract or grant.
3. If a copyrightable work is commissioned by the University, meaning that a faculty member receives supplemental compensation from the University to prepare a specific copyrightable work, rights to that work shall be according to terms negotiated at the time of the commission. Those terms may include assignment of copyright, license of rights, or division of royalties.
4. Copyright in “institutional works” shall be owned by the University. An institutional work means either a) a work prepared at the direction of the University for the use of the University in conducting its own affairs (for example, University handbooks, press releases, and software tools) or b) a work that cannot be reasonably attributed to a single author or group of authors because it is the result of contributions or revisions by numerous faculty members, employees, or students of the University. Textbooks and other course materials prepared by a faculty member shall not be considered institutional works.
5. Video or online courses shall not be sold, leased, rented, or otherwise used by a current University employee in a manner that competes in a substantial way with the offerings of the University, unless the transaction has received the prior approval of the Office for Academic Affairs.
6. When the University assigns one or more faculty members to create electronic course materials, rights to those materials shall be negotiated at the time of such assignment. Negotiations shall include the faculty member(s), the appropriate dean(s), and any employee who will make a significant contribution of ideas or expression to the materials. Terms to be negotiated may include assignment of copyright, license of rights, and division of royalties.
7. Any copyrightable work of potential commercial value shall be disclosed at the earliest practicable time by the author to the author's department chair or immediate administrative

supervisor. For those works that are owned by the University or in which the University has an interest, the author shall cooperate with officials of the University and of any organization to whom the University assigns rights to such works in the registering of copyrights as well as in licensing the works.

D. Administration

1. Except as otherwise set forth, the administration of these policies shall be the responsibility of the Office for Academic Affairs.
2. The Intellectual Property Rights Committee shall be a standing committee composed of six members, equally apportioned between faculty (chosen by the Faculty Senate) and administration (appointed by the president or their designee). The Committee shall serve as a forum for discussion of University copyright policy, recommend changes as appropriate, and mediate any disputes over intellectual property rights that may arise.

XV. Reproduction of Copyrighted Materials

Under [Section 107 of the Copyright Act of 1976](#), the doctrine of “fair use” permits some reproduction of copyrighted works for educational purposes without the permission of the copyright owner. This doctrine of fair use is subject to limitations. Neither the statute nor judicial decisions, however, give specific practical guidance on what reproduction constitutes fair use. Faculty members seeking guidance for making decisions in this area may consult the document *Reproduction of Copyrighted Works by Educators and Librarians*, which is accessible from UA’s [Copyright Statement](#). Each faculty member is responsible for determining whether permission must be obtained before reproducing a copyrighted work. Duplication of computer software by University personnel is limited to only what is explicitly permitted by the software vendor.

XVI. Academic Calendar and Compensation Periods

A. Calendar

The academic year covers the nine-month period that begins on August 16 and ends on May 15, and those on academic-year appointments receive regular pay between those dates. Academic terms normally include a fall semester ending in December and a spring semester ending in May. Interim terms fall between the end of the fall semester and the beginning of the spring semester, and between the end of the spring semester and the beginning of the summer term. Summer term consists of the full term (ten weeks) and can be divided into two five-week terms.

The normal University holidays for employees are set forth in the [Employee Handbook](#) and are available from [Human Resources](#).

The [Academic Calendar](#) is established annually by the Office of the University Registrar after consultation with the Faculty Senate. The Calendar includes information about the drop-add periods and dates for paying fees and for deferred examinations. A [final examination schedule](#) is available from the [Office of the University Registrar](#).

B. Compensation Periods

The academic-year salary of nine-month, full-time faculty members normally is paid over a 12-month period. The normal payment date is the last working day of each month. A new faculty appointee normally will receive a first payment on the last working day of the first calendar month of appointment; that payment will reflect the part of that month during which the faculty member was employed. The salary of full-time temporary and part-time faculty members is paid in full during the months of appointment.

XVII. Summer Session and Interim Program Compensation

Each academic unit attempts to meet student needs by offering appropriate courses during the summer and interim terms. However, these programs depend on the availability of funds, enrollment projections, actual student demand, and programmatic needs of departments and divisions. Despite these limitations, efforts should be made to distribute teaching opportunities equitably among departmental faculty members.

The salary for teaching a three-hour course will be the lesser of 85 percent of the in-state tuition paid by the student or 7.5 percent of the professor's academic-year (nine-month) base salary. A faculty member who wishes to teach a course with another faculty member should be advised that salary in this situation will be handled as Summer School salaries; that is, each professor will be paid a percentage of the salary that would be paid if the professor had taught the course alone. The percentage is dependent on the amount of the professor's involvement in the course. In no case should the total involvement of the professor be more than 100 percent. In no case shall compensation for teaching any three-hour course exceed 7.5 percent of a professor's academic-year base salary. For team-taught courses enrolling forty or more students, other compensation arrangements may be possible. These must be approved in advance by the Provost.

Each individual's teaching assignment during one of the two terms normally is limited to six semester hours.

XVIII. Internal Degree Candidacy

Faculty who wish to take occasional graduate courses must register for these courses after admission to the Graduate School on the non-degree-seeking basis. To maintain university accountability, regular full-time faculty seeking admission as a degree-seeking graduate student must seek approval from their department chair and dean (which should not be unreasonably withheld), as well as the approvals required for other applicants to the same program.

XIX. Pay Transparency Policy Statement

The contractor will not discharge or in any other manner discriminate against employees or applicants because they have inquired about, discussed, or disclosed their own pay or the pay of another employee or applicant. However, employees who have access to the compensation information of other employees or applicants as a part of their essential job functions cannot disclose the pay of other employees or applicants to individuals who do not otherwise have access

to compensation information, unless the disclosure is a) in response to a formal complaint or charge, b) in furtherance of an investigation, proceeding, hearing, or action, including an investigation conducted by the employer, or c) consistent with the contractor's legal duty to furnish information. See [41 CFR 60-1.35\(c\)](#).

Chapter 4

Faculty Benefits

I. Retirement, Insurance, and Other Miscellaneous Employee Benefits and Services

The Benefits Office maintains current information concerning policies of all benefit programs. It is essential for new faculty members to arrange a conference with someone from the Benefits Office or attend a benefits session for new employees as soon as possible after the official employment start date. Some employee benefit decisions must be made during the first 30 days that one is on the University's payroll.

Unless otherwise noted in this chapter, faculty members have full benefits as described in the current [Benefits Guide](#) for Faculty & Staff and as described in the [Employee Handbook](#) (see Chapters 14-16). See these pertinent sections, among others:

Insurance Benefits
Retirement Benefits
Educational Benefit Program
Action Card
Employee Parking
Employee Assistance Program (EAP)
Faculty-Staff Clinic – The University Medical Center

II. Leaves

Full-time faculty members (renewable contract, probationary, or tenured) may apply for leaves of absence, which, except for extended military leave, shall be for a period of one year or less. Faculty members normally must be employed at the University for one year to request these leaves. Unless otherwise noted here, faculty are entitled to all leaves afforded for their classification as defined in the [Employee Handbook](#). Temporary faculty members with appointments for less than one calendar year typically are not granted leaves and are not eligible for leaves with compensation.

See these pertinent sections of the [Employee Handbook](#), among others:

Military Leave
Jury Duty Witness Summons
Suspension of Normal Campus Operations
Bereavement Leave
Voting
Leave of Absence for Personal Reasons
On-the-Job Injuries and Illnesses

Some leaves are unique to faculty members or operate differently for faculty who do not accrue annual or sick leave. These policies are as follows:

A. Annual Leave and Sick Leave for 12-Month Faculty Members

Faculty members on 12-month appointments are eligible to accrue annual leave and sick leave. Policies that apply to University employees ~~that-who~~ accrue annual and sick leave generally apply to faculty members on 12-month appointments. Faculty in this category normally will abide by all policies related to the Leave Administration and Pay Policies and Practices as outlined in the [Employee Handbook](#). Faculty on nine-month appointments do not accrue annual or sick leave and do not regularly report leave.

B. Extended Sick Leave for Faculty

In the event of a personal illness, a faculty member may request sick leave for periods that may be as long as six months. To be eligible for extended sick leave for a personal illness, faculty members must have a qualifying serious health condition under the Family Medical Leave (FML) policy and work with the Benefits Office to request and be approved for FML, which can last for up to 12 weeks over a one-year period. Refer to [Family and Medical Leave Policy](#) for full details.

Faculty members who accrue both annual and sick leave must use their accrued time during this leave. If they exhaust their accrued leave, they can request leave with pay through their dean's office from the Office for Academic Affairs. While the leave provided under FML is guaranteed by law, leave with pay beyond what is accrued is not guaranteed and must be granted by the Office for Academic Affairs. All accrued leave must be exhausted before the Provost will consider such a request.

Faculty who do not accrue leave are guaranteed leave as provided by FML. For any portion of this leave to be granted with pay, however, a request must be submitted by the faculty member, through the dean's office, to the Provost for approval.

Faculty members whose personal illnesses prohibits them from returning to work and who have exhausted their approved FML may request additional leave from the Office for Academic Affairs or consult the [Employee Handbook](#) for more information on requesting leave as a reasonable accommodation under the Americans with Disabilities Act. For this request to be considered, faculty members normally will have been approved to receive FML and normally would have the support of their dean. These requests must be made in writing to the Office for Academic Affairs and should document the extenuating circumstances necessitating this extended sick leave. This additional leave will only be granted in extreme circumstances. Leave with pay is unlikely after the initial 12 weeks.

When a faculty member is approved for extended sick leave, the department chairperson or dean must arrange for colleagues to carry out the faculty member's obligations or must make other arrangements for fulfilling those obligations. In order to facilitate programmatic planning, a faculty member should notify the department chairperson or dean of the need for sick leave as far in advance of the anticipated leave period as possible.

C. Maternity Leave

Maternity leave for faculty members is provided to allow for the recovery from pregnancy, miscarriage, abortion, childbirth, and from any resulting disabilities. Those eligible for paid maternity leave are faculty members who are tenured or probationary or those faculty who have been in a renewable contract status for at least one year at the time the leave begins. This section does not apply to temporary faculty, faculty on renewable appointments for less than one year, graduate assistants or post-doctoral positions. Colleges must work with eligible faculty members to provide eight weeks of paid leave provided the baby is born during the academic year or close to the beginning of the academic year.

Maternity leave must be requested through the FML process, and all approved paid leave runs concurrently with FML. Faculty members who accrue sick and annual leave are expected to use accrued time as paid time off, but they may be eligible for additional paid time off under the provisions above if they do not have a full eight weeks of leave at the time the leave begins. Leave is granted to cover the time necessary for the medical recovery period as defined by the individual's health provider and to provide time for initial bonding with the child. Under usual circumstances, this time is eight weeks. Faculty members can request additional time allowable under FML per the process above.

Leave is granted during the actual time period necessary. It is not stored or added if birth occurs during the summer term, or winter or spring breaks. For example, if a baby is born June 1, a faculty member on a regular academic year appointment would not be eligible for paid leave. If the baby is born on August 1, the faculty member would be eligible for approximately six weeks of paid leave, because regular academic year appointments start on August 16.

Department chairs and deans will work with faculty members to determine reasonable administrative, research, and service expectations during the portion of the semester in which the faculty member is not on leave. Except in extraordinary circumstances, and as approved by the Provost, no faculty member will be relieved of all teaching responsibilities for both the fall and spring semesters. Unless otherwise requested by a faculty member, no faculty member will have teaching, administrative, research, or service expectations increased in subsequent terms as a result of choosing to take maternity leave.

To request maternity leave, a faculty member should use the following steps:

- As soon as possible, the faculty member should notify the department chair/dean of the due date and request assistance in planning a workload that accommodates the maternity leave.
- The department chair, in consultation with the faculty member, should propose a workload that accommodates the leave. The plan should make clear the expectations for the portion of the semester that the faculty member will not be on leave. Depending on when the baby is due, the faculty member may be able to teach courses typically taught during the semester. The assistance needed by the faculty member may be with grading at the end of the semester. The faculty member may benefit more from being relieved of research responsibilities or service responsibilities. To ensure that a faculty member has eight weeks of paid maternity leave, a faculty member may be asked to pick up different responsibilities during the portion of the semester that the faculty member is available to work full time. For example, the faculty member may be asked to assist with responsibilities relating to program assessment plans or an upcoming accreditation visit.

- This plan will be sent to the dean for review and commentary and then forwarded to the Provost for final approval. All faculty leaves must be approved by the Provost under the provisions in the [Faculty Handbook](#).
- Simultaneously, the faculty member should be following the FML approval process discussed above.
- Faculty members and their supervisors must document leave time, and schools and colleges should initiate a conversion to unpaid status if the faculty member does not return to work at the end of the approved paid leave period.

D. Other FML-Covered Leave

Faculty members are eligible to apply through the Benefits Office for other qualifying FML events beyond personal illness and maternity leave. Qualifying events include, but are not limited to, a serious health condition of an employee's spouse, dependent child, or parent, and parental leave associated with adoption, foster care, or childbirth (See the [Family and Medical Leave Policy](#)). Request for this leave to be granted with pay should follow the same process as described in Section II, B above.

E. Leave Associated with Distinguished Fellowships, Awards, and Grants

When UA faculty members receive a Fulbright or another fellowship, award, or grant of similar distinction that results in time away from the normal responsibilities at The University of Alabama, they should request leave through the department chair (if applicable) and dean, who shall forward the request to the Provost, who will make the final decision on leave. Faculty members working with international awards should work with the Capstone International Center. It is the intent of The University of Alabama that faculty members receiving such awards not be penalized financially for accepting these awards. Therefore, the following apply:

- Faculty members may apply to continue receiving their base UA salary and benefits for the duration of the leave associated with the award. This request should be tied to the request for leave submitted to the Provost.
- Any additional monies/resources by the awarding agency to pay for travel, housing, board, books, etc. while away from The University of Alabama shall be retained by the faculty member to offset costs of living temporarily in another location (if applicable).
- Additional pay by the awarding agency (for example, a monthly "teaching stipend" as defined in the Fulbright Award letter) normally will be kept by the faculty member.
- Details of the additional compensation should be spelled out in the request for leave sent to the Provost. Department chairs and deans should outline in their memo to the Provost how they plan to cover the duties of the faculty member and costs associated with that coverage.

F. Voluntary Leave Without Pay

Tenured and probationary faculty members may request a voluntary leave of absence without pay. Typically, such leaves are granted for the purpose of further study, broader experience in the person's field, or in recognition of the faculty member's stature in the field. Normally, the faculty member should request leave of absence at least three months in advance of the beginning of the

proposed leave period. The Provost decides whether to approve such leaves after considering recommendations from the chairperson and dean. Because granting a voluntary leave may interrupt the continuity of an educational program, the availability of appropriate personnel and the importance of the individual's contribution to the smooth and orderly operation of the program will be among the factors considered in deciding whether to grant such leave. Time spent on a voluntary leave without pay is not counted when considering eligibility for a sabbatical leave unless prior agreement to count this time is recommended by the departmental chairperson and the dean and approved by the Provost. Approval will depend on the extent to which planned activities can be expected to enhance the applicant's professional stature, including the likelihood that research or scholarly publications will result. Time spent on a leave without pay does not accrue credit in the Teachers' Retirement System of Alabama.

G. Effect of Leaves on Insurance Programs

When a faculty member has a leave of absence without pay, or temporarily goes off the payroll for other reasons, the faculty member must work with the Benefits Office for guidance about continuation of benefits during unpaid leave. Personnel of that office will provide information about the cost of continuation and will explain options available to the faculty member.

III. Sabbatical Leaves

The University offers tenured faculty members opportunities to apply for sabbatical leaves to engage in activities designed for professional growth, development, and renewal. The goal of a sabbatical leave is to enhance the professional effectiveness of the faculty member and to enrich the academic climate of the University. A sabbatical leave provides an opportunity for professional growth through various kinds of activities. Examples include:

- Conducting research that leads to publication
- Conducting research or study that leads to improving teaching, to a new area of teaching or research expertise, or to curriculum development
- Engaging in activities to professionally revitalize or retrain the faculty member, such as association with distinguished persons in the field

A. Eligibility

A faculty member is eligible to receive a sabbatical leave after six academic years of full-time employment at The University of Alabama. A faculty member is eligible to receive a subsequent sabbatical leave after six academic years of full-time employment at The University of Alabama following completion of a sabbatical leave. A faculty member does not accumulate time to apply to sabbatical leave by additional full-time service beyond six years. For example, a faculty member who provides 12 years of continuous, full-time service is eligible to apply for only one sabbatical leave. When justified by the total period of service to the University, however, a subsequent leave may be approved during the fourth year after the preceding one. Under very special circumstances, if prior approval is recommended by the departmental chairperson or area head and dean and is granted by the Provost, a year spent on exchange, a visiting professorship, or a voluntary leave may count as service in determining eligibility for sabbatical leave.

As a general rule, no more than 20 percent of the faculty of any department should be on leave at any given time for sabbatical and voluntary leave (in the case of departments with fewer than five members, the limit is one person at any given time). Under extraordinary circumstances, individual faculty members or departmental chairpersons may petition for exceptions to this policy; the petition will be reviewed by the academic dean and the Office for Academic Affairs before it is referred to the Provost for decision. Recipients of sabbatical leaves are expected to return to the service of The University of Alabama for at least one academic year after the completion of such leaves. Applicants for sabbatical leave who would be able to render less than three years of service after return from sabbatical leave will be expected to offer particularly cogent reasons in support of their applications.

B. Term of Leave and Compensation

For individuals on a nine-month appointment, a sabbatical leave may consist of either a one-semester leave with full pay or two semesters with one-half pay. Faculty members on 12-month appointments may apply for a sabbatical leave of four and one-half months with full pay or of nine months with one-half pay. In some situations, however, departmental or divisional needs may permit only a one-semester or four-and-one-half-month leave. An applicant for a sabbatical leave should discuss the proposed time and duration of leave with the chairperson before submitting an application.

A sabbatical leave is approved for a specific period of time. An individual with an approved sabbatical leave who finds that it will be impossible to take the leave should notify his or her departmental chairperson or area head immediately. Any subsequent request for sabbatical leave will be treated as a new application and will be judged accordingly.

Faculty members on sabbatical leave have the same right to earn supplemental compensation as faculty members who are not on sabbatical leave (see Chapter 3, Section IX). However, the purpose of sabbatical leave is professional development and not income augmentation. Thus, the amount the University will pay during a leave will be reduced by the amount that income from sabbatical-related sources (other than activities described as part of the proposed program of professional development), when added to the normal leave pay from the University, exceeds the person's regular salary plus reasonable expenses attributable to the approved plan of sabbatical activities. When the amount of income to be realized from sabbatical leave activities cannot be ascertained, the University will require an agreement to reimburse the University for any over payment.

Commented [MOA47]: Internal link

C. Application and Approval Process

Sabbatical leaves must be spent in planned programs related to the professional work of the recipient and designed to match the duration of the sabbatical leave. Applicants for sabbatical leaves are required to describe what they plan to do while on leave, where they plan to spend the leave, and how their plans relate to their professional development. The leave application must include appropriate plans for travel or residence away from campus whenever such travel or

residence can be expected to afford opportunities for professional growth that are not available at the University.

Applications for sabbatical leave should be addressed to the administrative officer most immediately responsible for the applicant's area of operations and should be submitted by October 1. An application form requesting a detailed description of the project to be undertaken is available from the Office for Academic Affairs. This application should be submitted along with a current curriculum vita and the names of two references who can supply informed judgments about the applicant's proposed project.

Department chairs shall transmit all applications, together with their recommendations, to their deans by November 1. When approval is recommended, an explanation shall be furnished as to what arrangements are contemplated and what budgetary adjustments, if any, will be required to maintain the departmental program during the applicant's absence. After the departmental recommendation has been reviewed by the dean, the application, together with appropriate recommendations and remarks, will be forwarded to the Provost by December 1. Normally, the Provost's decision will be transmitted to the individual by February 1.

D. Administration

As far as possible, divisional programs and schedules should be planned to enable faculty members to propose sabbatical leaves when eligible to apply. However, continuity of divisional programs may require leaves to be scheduled in other than a seventh year of service. A faculty member whose application for leave is refused solely because of needs of the department or academic division should be encouraged to submit an application for the following year; in such cases, efforts will be made to make leave possible.

The sabbatical leave program normally will be financed through departmental and divisional budgets. If adequate funds are not available within department/divisional budgets, deans may request funds through the regular budget allocation process.

E. Reporting

The recipient of a sabbatical leave is expected to submit a report that describes in reasonable detail the extent to which achievements during the leave met the objectives stated in the approved plan for leave. This report is due no later than one month after the start of the spring or fall semester in which the faculty member returns from the sabbatical. This report should be forwarded through the same channels as the original application for leave.

F. Effect on Retirement

A sabbatical leave that results in a reduction of regular pay will impact years of service as determined by the [Teachers Retirement System of Alabama](#) (TRSA). Faculty members who take two semesters with one-half pay are generally credited by TRSA as one-half year of service. Service for retirement is calculated independently by the TRSA.

Chapter 5

Faculty Instructional Guidelines

I. Introduction

Faculty members at the University are expected to be experts in their disciplines, to be effective teachers, and to be accessible and helpful to their students. These general responsibilities are inherent in the student-faculty relationship and pertain to all who conduct classes at the University; meeting them requires the type of research and scholarship, teaching, and good service/academic citizenship that are emphasized in this *Faculty Handbook*.

Students are partners in the teaching-learning experience. Their active participation in class discussions and effective use of the faculty member's time during office hours can help the faculty member adjust to special needs of the class. Regular class attendance is essential.

Grades are an integral part of academic evaluation, and fairness in grading requires the detection and suppression of dishonesty in academic work. The University Policy on Academic Misconduct describes the process to be followed when misconduct appears to have occurred. [See Appendix C.](#) The Academic Grievance Policy describes the process to be followed by students who believe they have been treated unfairly. [See Appendix D.](#)

Commented [MOA48]: Internal link

Commented [MOA49]: Internal link

The University of Alabama is committed to maintaining equal opportunities in education and employment. For more information, see the [University Equal Opportunity, Non-discrimination and Affirmative Action Policy Statement](#). It is incumbent upon faculty to provide a learning environment free from discrimination, harassment, and retaliation. Therefore, all faculty are required to adhere to the University's [Sexual Misconduct](#), [Harassment](#), [Consensual Romantic Relationships](#), [Guidelines for Pregnant and Parenting Students](#), [Guidelines for Religious Holiday Observance](#), the [Office of Disability Services](#) procedures, and other related policies.

II. Advising, Office Hours and Registration

A. Academic Advising

Faculty members are expected to be available to students to provide academic advice. Faculty members should be aware of curricular and degree requirements pertinent to their disciplines.

B. Office Hours

All faculty members must maintain regular and reasonably convenient office hours to answer questions from and to advise students. In addition, faculty members are expected to schedule individual appointments as needed. The schedule of office hours must be included in all course syllabi.

C. Registration

Faculty members may be required to assist in the registration process. Assignments of registration duties are made by departmental chairpersons and by academic deans or directors.

D. Advising Student Organizations

Student organizations are an important part of the co-curricular activities of The University of Alabama. They can contribute to the personal development of students within the context of the University's teaching, research, and service missions. To the extent that they fulfill these missions, faculty are encouraged to support student organizations by serving as advisors, as guest speakers, and in other roles as appropriate. Faculty members serving as advisors to student organizations are campus security authorities under the Clery Act and are required to notify UAPD of any reports of crime they receive in their student organization advisor roles. More information is available from The [University of Alabama Police Department](#).

E. Tutoring

Persons on the payroll of the University may not tutor a student ~~in~~of the University for compensation if they have any direct connection with the course in which the student desires tutoring.

III. Class Scheduling and Class Attendance

A. Class Schedule

Normally, classes can be held only at the time and in the place specified in the schedule of classes. The only exceptions to this policy occur when the academic dean or designee approves a change in time and/or location and these changes are subsequently communicated to the appropriate offices.

B. Faculty Class Attendance

Faculty members are expected to conduct their classes as scheduled. A faculty member normally must receive prior approval from the department chairperson before missing or rescheduling classes. The faculty member must arrange for a suitable substitute for missed classroom time and must receive approval for such arrangements from the department chairperson prior to enacting the substitute plans.

C. Student Attendance

Students are expected to attend classes as scheduled. Attendance policies must be provided to each student at the beginning of the semester. These policies must allow for the possibility that students may experience difficulties beyond their control that can result in failure to attend class or failure to complete an assignment on time. See also Section V, D below. Students who may miss class ~~for~~due to observance of ~~a~~religious holidays should refer to the [OAA Guidelines for Religious Holidays Observances](#); ~~those who could miss class because of~~for pregnancy-related issues should

Commented [MOA50]: Internal link

refer to the guidelines for [Pregnant and Parenting Students](#); and [those who might be absent due to](#) ~~to~~ issues related to a disability should refer to the [Office of Disability Services](#).

IV. Course Requirements and Textbooks

A. Accurate Course Descriptions and Syllabi

Faculty members are required at the beginning of each course to provide their students with an accurate syllabus. The Office of Institutional Research and Assessment develops and implements an online syllabus management application (UA-OSM) to host and store official syllabi in a single, central location. The application also ensures consistency of syllabi forms and content across the curriculum. More information about the UA-OSM is available from the [Office of Institutional Research and Assessment](#). Some sections of the UA-OSM application are mandatory for all syllabi. Academic units can request additional fields be added to the UA-OSM for their courses. More information is provided in the [University's Syllabus Policy](#).

Students shall be given timely notice of any changes in the syllabus. Any special considerations (e.g., opportunities to earn extra credit) offered to a student shall be available to all students in the class.

The chairperson is responsible for guaranteeing faculty post course syllabi to UA-OSM and for monitoring the syllabi with regard to the above requirements.

B. Textbooks

UA's Textbook/Course Materials Policy and regulations follow prescriptions of the Alabama state law enacted in 1993 and the Higher Education Opportunity Act (HEOA) of 2008. More information is available from the [University Supply Store](#) (Supe Store). To comply with these laws, The University of Alabama has an established policy that all textbook/course materials requests must be sent to the University Supply Store because of its UA designation as the central distribution location. In addition to compliance with regulations, this policy ensures that the University will make available all of the necessary course materials for students.

Course materials information can be submitted through department offices or directly to the University Supply Store. The University Supply Store is required to make available all course materials and anthology/packet orders to established off-campus stores within 48 business hours of receipt. An efficient process has been developed to comply with the state mandate as well as with the HEOA for course materials information to be posted on the UA course registration website.

Additionally, state ethics laws prohibit faculty members from using their position as UA employees to obtain personal gain for themselves, for family members, or for any business with which the person is associated unless the use and gain are otherwise specifically authorized by law. No faculty member (or family members or associated businesses) who is an author of requested course materials may make the decision as to whether their course materials will be used; instead, University policy requires approval by a textbook selection committee. Individual

academic units are responsible for developing procedures for selecting textbooks. [See Chapter 3, XII. B.](#)

Commented [MOA51]: Internal link

C. Distribution of Materials in Class Subject to Copyright Policy

Faculty are expected to abide by federal copyright laws. For scholarly research or teaching purposes, a single copy may be made of a chapter from a book; an article from a periodical or newspaper; a short story, short essay, or short poem; or a chart, graph, diagram, drawing, cartoon, or picture from a book, periodical, or newspaper.

The guidelines for multiple copying are more complex. Multiple copies may be made for classroom use, but the making of such copies must meet rigorous criteria. Each copy must include a notice of copyright. Under no circumstances may more than one copy per pupil be made. Multiple copies must also meet tests of brevity, spontaneity, and cumulative effect. [See Copyright Policy, Chapter 3, Section XIV.](#)

Commented [MOA52]: Internal link

D. Academic Honor Code

All students in attendance at The University of Alabama are expected to be honorable and to observe standards of conduct appropriate to a community of scholars. The University of Alabama expects from its students a higher standard of conduct than the minimum required to avoid discipline. At the beginning of each semester and on examinations and projects, the professor, department, or division may require that each student sign the Academic [Honor Pledge](#).

E. Collection of Student Fees

The University of Alabama has established administrative procedures for approving and collecting student fees. The procedures preclude faculty from imposing student fees or collecting money from students for any reason.

V. Assignments and Evaluations, Study Week, and Final Examinations and Evaluations

A. Assignments and Evaluations

Faculty members are required to make appropriate assignments and to make periodic assessments of the progress of their students. Systematic evaluation of students' work is an important part of the teaching-learning process. Evaluations may take many forms and may vary in number and scope, depending on the objectives and purpose of the course. Faculty members must include in their syllabi information as to the nature and timing of major evaluations, including the final evaluation. Faculty members must give students timely information about the results of evaluations and must give students an opportunity to review their progress and to discuss their evaluations.

B. Study Week

The week immediately preceding the final examination period each regular fall and spring semester is reserved as a time in which students may concentrate on completing course work and

preparing for final examinations. Only laboratory examinations omitted from the Final Examination Schedule are permitted during Study Week. The University prohibits all other examinations and extended assignments during Study Week, except extended assignments in which students have been given advance notice and sufficient time prior to Study Week to substantially complete the work. Routine assignments, including homework, readings, and quizzes are permissible.

C. Final Examinations and Evaluations

While evaluation details are properly left to individual faculty members and their departments, it is the responsibility of each faculty member to conduct a final evaluation for each student in each course for which the faculty member is responsible. All didactic courses will be assumed to require a final evaluation unless a petition for variance is included as part of the course proposal or is granted prior to the start of the semester. It is the chairperson's responsibility, in consultation with the departmental faculty as necessary, to ensure that proper evaluations are conducted.

A time for each final examination or evaluation is available from the [Registrar](#). Normally, final examinations can be held only at the assigned time. The only exceptions to this policy occur when the academic dean approves a change in time before the semester begins and students are informed of this decision at the beginning of the course; where time conflicts result from such a change, priority shall be given to examinations that comply with the Final Examination Schedule.

D. Opportunities for Making up Examinations and Assignments

Students should be given the opportunity to hand in assignments and to make up work missed due to legitimate circumstances beyond the students' control. Methods for making up missed assignments may vary from course to course and from discipline to discipline, but normally should be the same from student to student within the same course. The appropriate method(s) used for each course must be stated in the course syllabus made available to each student at the start of the semester. Faculty members with students who may miss an exam or assignment for observance of a religious holiday should refer to the [OAA Guidelines for Religious Holidays Observances](#), for pregnancy-related issues should refer to the guidelines and policies for [Pregnant and Parenting Students](#), and for issues related to a disability should refer to the [Office of Disability Services](#).

VI. Records and Grades

A. Class Records

Faculty members are expected to maintain grade records for all registered students. Faculty members may use ~~any systems they choose~~ [of their choosing](#) for keeping such records. The University expects each faculty member to leave all grade records with the department chairperson or dean at the end of employment at the University.

B. Student Records

The University's policy on [Confidentiality of Student Records](#) is based on the statement of ethical principles of the American Association of Collegiate Registrars and Admissions Officers and in compliance with the requirements of the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974, as amended (FERPA). Official student academic records are maintained in the Office of the University Registrar. Divisional and departmental offices also maintain some student educational information useful in academic counseling and advising. Each academic/business unit is responsible for securing protected information in accordance with the [OIT Information Security Plan](#), University policy, FERPA, and other applicable laws. See the Office of the University Registrar's website on [Privacy Guidelines](#) (FERPA) for additional training.

Commented [JG53]: I have tried to correct this link to the FERPA section and it is not working.

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: (Default) +Body (Calibri), Pattern: Clear

Field Code Changed

Student educational information is accessible through an electronic student records system to authorized school officials with a legitimate educational need for the information. Faculty, administrators, and staff dealing with student records are expected to know the University's FERPA policy on Confidentiality of Student Records and to observe appropriate precautions when utilizing student information that is protected under FERPA (such as letters of recommendation, grade reports, protected information displayed on computer monitors, class rosters, etc.). In the event of an unauthorized disclosure of a student's personally identifiable and/or educational information, the unit administrator must promptly notify the dean, the University Registrar, and the Chief Information Security Officer and provide details of the extent of the breach that occurred. Refer to the Educational Records (FERPA) section of the University's [Security Incident Response Plan](#).

Formatted: Default Paragraph Font, Font: (Default) +Body (Calibri), Pattern: Clear

In the absence of pending or potential litigation, faculty members should retain student records pursuant to the [University Archives and Records Management](#) program. Refer to the [Employee Handbook](#) for more information.

C. Reporting Grades

Grades are reported online through the myBama web portal. Complete information on grade reporting is available from the [University Registrar](#).

D. Posting Grades

A faculty member who chooses to post grades must do so in a way that maintains student confidentiality as required by the Family Rights and Privacy Act of 1974. Grades cannot be posted by social security number or in a list that is in alphabetical order; rather, the faculty member or department must devise a unique code for each student and must ensure its confidentiality.

E. Changing Grades

The assignment of course grades is a primary part of the academic responsibility of the faculty members to whom a course has been assigned. Changes in course grades are normally to be made only by such faculty member. Faculty members may change grades they have assigned only because of error in fact or error in judgment.

The faculty within a department or discipline may, following procedures adopted by that faculty, authorize the change of course grade^s when they believe a faculty member has failed to discharge his or her academic duties in a responsible manner, where there is an uncorrected error, or where other factors of equity and professional judgment persuade the faculty to take such an extraordinary step.

University policy may authorize other grade changes, such as the W, N, and I grading rules or [the Academic Bankruptcy](#) provisions.

Commented [JG54]: fix link

VII. Student Opinion of Instruction

Students' opinions of teaching effectiveness play a major role in improving the quality of instruction in all academic divisions of the University. Therefore, faculty [members](#) are required to use the standard survey instrument selected by the University. This standard survey instrument, the Student Opinion of Instruction (SOI), is not intended to preclude the use of additional survey instruments by areas or departments or by individual faculty members. SOI is an online course evaluation system, replacing the traditional paper course evaluation system. SOI allows students to confidentially rate their UA learning experiences, encouraging feedback about their courses and instructors. Reports of survey results are provided to UA faculty and administrators after grades are submitted. Student ratings are very important in helping instructors improve their teaching and in helping the University evaluate courses and faculty. For more information, see [The Office of Institutional Research and Assessment](#).

~~(NOTE: The following appendices describe policies in effect at the time this version of the *Faculty Handbook* was published. Copies of any subsequent revisions will be available in departmental and divisional offices and in the Office for Academic Affairs.)~~

APPENDIX A: Policies and Guidelines for Faculty Participation in the Selection of Deans and Department Chairpersons and the Evaluation of their Leadership

A. Basic Principles

Academic excellence is essential to the educational mission of The University of Alabama. Such excellence is achieved in an environment of mutual confidence, collegial participation, effective leadership, and strong academic programs. To foster that environment, it is University policy that faculty are expected to participate in the selection of deans and departmental chairpersons and that the advice of the faculty shall be actively and systematically sought concerning possible improvements in academic programs and in administrative leadership of academic divisions and departments. Throughout this Appendix, faculty shall be understood to consist of all persons who have a full-time tenure or tenure-track or renewable-contract appointment in the appropriate academic unit of the University.

The process by which the views of the faculty shall be sought is based on seven understandings:

1. Final authority over the selection and retention of deans and other academic administrators rests with the President, but primary authority for the selection and retention of associate deans, assistant deans, and departmental chairpersons rests with the academic dean.
2. Normally, no person shall be appointed as a dean or a departmental chair who has not received a positive tenure recommendation from the relevant academic departmental tenure committee or (where the smallest relevant academic unit is the division) from the divisional tenure committee of The University of Alabama.
3. The evaluation and advice of the faculty shall be systematically obtained and considered prior to the appointment of deans and chairpersons.
4. Program direction, program quality, and the performance of deans and departmental chairpersons shall be evaluated periodically, and an important consideration in this process shall be the feedback from the faculty.
5. It is the responsibility of the faculty to participate in reviews of programs and leadership and to provide reasons for their recommendations, which can be considered by the administration when making decisions. Faculty members who fail to participate fully in the leadership evaluation process, either by making no recommendation or by failing to give reasons for a recommendation, impair the administration's ability to make an appropriate decision.
6. Faculty participation in the evaluation of administrative performance shall be accomplished by providing the opportunity for yearly feedback.
7. Program direction and program quality shall be considered by higher administrators when considering faculty feedback of the leadership of academic administrators. Normally, the nature and timing of academic program reviews shall be left to the discretion of the higher administrators, but these reviews must be reasonably extensive and current and must involve opportunities for faculty members to express their views about the program.

In the following policies and procedures governing the selection and evaluation of deans of instructional units and departmental chairpersons, there exists an intended degree of latitude and procedural flexibility to accommodate differences and preferences among academic divisions and departments. Each academic division and each department may adopt more specific formal procedures, provided that these procedures are consistent with the University policies and guidelines stated herein and provided that they are approved by the Provost and/or the academic dean, as may be appropriate.

Certain positions that carry the title of dean do not have faculty constituencies limited to a single division, such as dean of the Graduate School or dean of Continuing Studies. For these positions, it is necessary that the formal review process include campus-wide faculty participation and that the procedures stated herein be modified to accommodate such participation. Such modifications will be developed on a case-by-case basis by the Provost or other appropriate administrative officer, in consultation with appropriate faculty and administrative bodies, including the Council of Deans and the Steering Committee of the Faculty Senate. These modified procedures shall be implemented upon approval by the President.

B. Policies and Guidelines for Selecting Deans

The President of The University of Alabama, acting through authority granted by The Board of Trustees, appoints deans. The process of searching for and appointing a dean will conform to the Affirmative Action Plan of the University and all prevailing federal and state regulatory requirements. In addition, appointments will be made only after considering: 1) the evaluations and advice of the faculty of the academic division; and 2) the advice of a search committee, as described below:

- When a vacancy occurs, the President or a designated representative shall meet with the divisional faculty before deciding on the nature of the search and the size and composition of a representative search committee. Every division must have a written procedure for electing faculty members to the search committee. The written procedure should designate a tenured faculty member to organize the election of faculty members to the search committee. Faculty members elected from the academic division will constitute a majority of the search committee; secret ballot election by the divisional faculty, either acting as a whole or by departments according to procedures approved by the divisional faculty, shall govern the elected faculty membership on the search committee. Other members of the search committee will be appointed by the President. Usually, the President will appoint a staff member from the Office for Academic Affairs to serve as a non-voting member on the search committee and to provide liaison and logistical support. Giving due regard to advice and concerns expressed by the faculty, the President will designate one of the elected faculty members to chair the search committee.
- The search committee, working in cooperation with the President and the Office for Academic Affairs and with appropriate participation from constituent groups, shall establish selection criteria, announce and advertise the position in a manner appropriate to the nature of the search, and coordinate the review and evaluation of candidates for the position. Throughout the search process, the committee shall solicit, encourage, and provide for faculty participation and the participation of other constituent groups. Faculty

members should have ample opportunity to review the credentials of qualified candidates, except that the search committee may protect the identity of candidates who request confidentiality during the initial screening process. On the basis of faculty evaluations and its own judgment, the search committee will reduce the list of candidates to those deemed to be best qualified for the position. The committee and the President will select those to be interviewed from this reduced list. Interviews scheduled should allow for discussions with the President, the Provost, deans, chairpersons, search committee members, faculty, and, where appropriate to the nature of the search, with students, alumni, and others. Following these interviews, and other information-gathering procedures appropriate to the nature of the search, every reasonable effort should be made to obtain the views of the divisional faculty and appropriately interested constituent groups. The advice of the divisional faculty may be determined by individual written evaluations, by an expression of faculty sentiment at a called faculty meeting, or by such other means as the search committee may consider appropriate. General support of the divisional faculty normally will be necessary for further consideration of a candidate.

- The search committee shall submit to the President, through the Provost, a summary of evaluations and advice received from the divisional faculty on each person interviewed, as well as its own advice. In the event the President does not secure the appointment of a dean from the list of those candidates who have general faculty support, the search process normally shall be continued until a dean acceptable to the President and the faculty is successfully recruited. Except in extraordinary circumstances, the President shall select a dean from those candidates who have general faculty support. If it should become necessary to reopen the search, the President and the search committee may confer to establish further direction; if it appears desirable, a new search committee may be formed.
- The President will make interim or acting appointments when necessary; such appointments will be made only after considering any advice and concerns stated by the faculty. The President, as soon as is practicable, will organize a formal search to replace the interim or acting dean. Interim or acting appointees who have served for more than one year shall be subject to normal annual review of deans. After one year, the interim or acting appointee can be subject to review based on a written petition to the Provost by at least 25 percent of the total divisional faculty or upon a vote of one-third or more of the total divisional faculty.

C. Policies and Guidelines for Leadership Evaluation of Deans

It is the policy of The University of Alabama that faculty members in each academic division shall have a yearly opportunity to provide feedback on the leadership of their division, normally a dean. This faculty feedback shall be an important component of the yearly evaluation of the divisional leadership by the President and Provost. A leadership evaluation shall be scheduled in each academic division at least once every five years, except that the Provost may vary the schedule by as much as one year if a change in the leadership of a division occurs or is anticipated, or if other circumstances arise in which it becomes desirable to do so.

D. Divisional Leadership Evaluations

1. Evaluation by Faculty

The following policies and guidelines for obtaining the divisional faculty's advice on the division's leadership are to be employed:

- Every year, an electronic survey will be distributed to faculty of the division providing them the opportunity to give feedback on their divisional leadership. The survey instrument will consist of a series of questions in which participating faculty will assign a score and will be given an opportunity for discursive comments. The discursive comments allow faculty to state any reasons they have for believing that the divisional leadership has or has not helped the college or division make progress in meeting its mission and goals. The comments will be anonymous and will not be edited. The President and/or Provost and divisional leadership will receive the results of the electronic survey.
- In the fifth year, the electronic survey will contain the statement: "I recommend to the Provost to continue the current administrative leadership of the College." "Yes" or "no" will be solicited as the response.
- The electronic survey will be developed and reviewed at least once every five years by the ad-hoc committee appointed by the Provost consisting of members of the Academic Affairs Committee of the Faculty Senate and members of the Council of Deans. The President and/or Provost will approve the final form of the electronic survey.

2. Decision by the President

When the retention review occurs upon receiving results of the electronic survey, and after any other evaluations, discussions, and clarifications that the President and/or the Provost consider necessary, the President and/or Provost will communicate the decision to those concerned, normally no later than one month following submission of the electronic survey. The President or the Provost will meet with the divisional faculty to discuss the results, normally no later than two weeks after communication of the results to those concerned. Then, if the faculty so chooses, it may transmit its concerns regarding the President's decision through the President's Office to the Chancellor, and through the Chancellor to The Board of Trustees.

3. Early Divisional Leadership Evaluations

Upon a written petition to the Provost requesting an early evaluation, signed by at least 25 percent of the total faculty of the division, or upon a vote of one-third or more of the total divisional faculty requesting an early evaluation, an early evaluation of divisional leadership shall be initiated, except that:

- (a) Only one early evaluation may be called for during the interval between regularly scheduled divisional leadership evaluations; and
- (b) If an early evaluation results in the continued appointment of the dean, the Provost may schedule the next leadership evaluation to occur as late as five years after that early evaluation. No additional early evaluation can be called for before the date when a leadership evaluation would have occurred had there been no call for an early evaluation.

Early evaluations shall be conducted in the same way as regularly scheduled evaluations.

E. Policies and Guidelines for Selecting Departmental Chairpersons

Departmental chairpersons are appointed by the dean of the academic division, subject to review and final approval by the Office for Academic Affairs and the President. The term “departmental chairperson” is defined and used throughout to mean the administrator of an academic unit within a division who reports directly to the dean of the division. The term includes department heads, area heads or chairpersons, program heads or chairpersons, directors of schools within a college, and other such administrators of academic units. A similar interpretation should be placed on the use of the term “department.”

The process of searching for and appointing departmental chairpersons will conform to the Affirmative Action Plan of the University and all prevailing federal and state regulatory requirements. In addition, appointments will be made only after considering: 1) the evaluations and advice of the faculty of the academic unit; and 2) the advice of a search committee, as described below:

- When a vacancy occurs, the dean of the academic division shall meet with the departmental faculty before deciding on the nature of the search and the size and composition of a representative search committee. Committees of the whole may be appropriate in small academic units. Faculty members elected from the department will constitute a majority of the search committee; secret ballot election by the departmental faculty shall govern the elected faculty membership on the search committee. The faculty of small departments may choose to elect additional faculty members from the division. Other members of the search committee will be appointed by the dean. Usually, the dean or a person from the dean’s office will serve as a non-voting member on the search committee to provide liaison and logistical support. Giving due regard to the advice and concerns expressed by the faculty, the dean will designate one of the elected faculty members to chair the search committee.
- The search committee, working in cooperation with the dean and with appropriate participation from constituent groups, shall establish selection criteria, announce and advertise the position in a manner appropriate to the nature of the search, and coordinate the review and evaluation of candidates for the position. Throughout the search process, the committee shall solicit, encourage, and provide for faculty participation, and the participation of other constituent groups. Faculty members should have ample opportunity to review the credentials of qualified candidates, except that the search committee may protect the identity of candidates who request confidentiality during the initial screening process. On the basis of faculty evaluations and its own judgment, the search committee will reduce the list of candidates to those deemed to be best qualified for the position. The committee and the dean will select those to be interviewed from this reduced list. Interview schedules of candidates should allow for discussions with the Provost, the search committee members, individual faculty, and, where appropriate to the nature of the search, students, and others. Following these interviews and other information-gathering procedures appropriate to the nature of the search, every reasonable effort should be made to obtain the views of the departmental faculty and appropriately interested constituent

groups. The advice of the faculty may be determined by individual written evaluations, or by expression of faculty sentiment at a called faculty meeting, or by such other means as the search committee may consider appropriate. General support of the departmental faculty normally will be necessary for further consideration of a candidate.

- The search committee shall submit to the dean its own advice as well as a summary of the evaluations and advice received from the departmental faculty on each final candidate or person interviewed ~~and also its own advice~~. In the event the dean does not secure the appointment of a chairperson from the list of candidates who have general faculty support, the search process normally shall be continued until a chairperson acceptable to the dean and the faculty is successfully recruited. Except in extraordinary circumstances, the dean shall select a chairperson from those candidates who have general faculty support. If it should become necessary to reopen the search, the dean and the search committee should confer to establish further direction. If it appears desirable, a new search committee may be formed.
- The dean will make interim or acting appointments when necessary; such appointments will be made only after considering any advice and concerns stated by the faculty. The dean, as soon as practicable, will organize a formal search to replace the interim or acting chairperson. Upon a written petition to the dean by at least 25 percent of the total departmental faculty or upon a vote of one-third or more of the total departmental faculty, ~~a~~ Acting or interim appointees who have served for more than one year shall be subject to review and the faculty's advice as to continuation, ~~upon a written petition therefore to the dean by at least 25 percent of the total departmental faculty or upon a vote of one third or more of the total departmental faculty.~~

Commented [MOA55]: Make sure this change does not affect meaning.

F. Policies and Guidelines for Leadership Evaluation of Chairpersons

It is the policy of The University of Alabama that faculty members in each academic department shall have a yearly opportunity to provide feedback on the leadership of their department. This faculty feedback shall be an important component of the yearly evaluation of the departmental leadership by the dean. The dean, in consultation with the Office for Academic Affairs, will establish a schedule for the leadership evaluations of each department within the division. A leadership evaluation shall be scheduled in each academic department at least once every five years, except that the dean, in consultation with the Office for Academic Affairs, may vary the schedule by as much as one year if a change in the leadership of a department occurs or is anticipated or if other circumstances arise ~~in which it becomes~~ that make doing so desirable ~~to do so~~.

G. Departmental Leadership Evaluations

1. Evaluation by Faculty

The following policies and guidelines for obtaining the departmental faculty's advice on the department's leadership are to be employed:

- Every year, an electronic survey will be distributed to faculty of the department providing them the opportunity to give feedback on their chairperson. The survey instrument will

consist of a series of questions in which participating faculty will assign a score and will be given an opportunity for discursive comments. The discursive comments allow faculty to state any reasons they have for believing that the departmental leadership has or has not helped the department make progress in meeting its mission and goals. The comments will be anonymous and will not be edited. The dean and the chairperson will receive the results of the electronic survey.

- In the fifth year, the electronic survey will contain the statement: “I recommend to the dean to continue the current administrative leadership of the Department.” “Yes” or “No” will be solicited as the response.
- The electronic survey will be developed and reviewed at least once every five years by an ad-hoc committee appointed by the Provost consisting of members of the Academic Affairs Committee of the Faculty Senate and members of the Council of Deans. The Provost will approve the final form of the electronic survey.

2. Decision by the Dean

When the retention review occurs upon receiving results of the electronic survey, and after any other evaluations, discussions, and clarifications that the dean considers necessary, the dean will communicate his or her decision to the chairperson normally no later than one month following submission of the electronic survey. The dean will meet, normally no later than two weeks after communication of the results to those concerned, to discuss the dean’s decision. Then, if the faculty so chooses, it may inform the Provost and the President of its concerns regarding the dean’s decision.

3. Early Leadership Evaluations

Upon a written petition to the dean requesting an early evaluation, signed by at least 25 percent of the total faculty of the department or upon a vote of one-third or more of the total departmental faculty requesting an early evaluation, an early evaluation of departmental leadership shall be initiated except that:

- a) Only one early evaluation may be called for during the interval between regularly scheduled evaluations; and
- b) If an early evaluation results in the continued appointment of the department chairperson, the dean may schedule the next leadership evaluation to occur as late as five years after that early evaluation. No additional early evaluation can be called for before the date when a leadership evaluation would have occurred had there not been a call for an early evaluation.

Early evaluations shall be conducted in the same way as regularly scheduled evaluations.

H. Implementation

Each academic division and department of the University may propose to the central administration the use of more specific guidelines and procedural details. As with any University policy, the provisions for faculty participation stated herein are subject to modification and change

| by the President whenever circumstances and experience ~~may~~ warrant. However, any such changes will be discussed fully with the Faculty Senate (acting on behalf of the faculty), deans, and chairpersons prior to their approval by the President.

Express provision for monitoring the effectiveness of this policy, and for recommending any changes in the policies and guidelines herein as might become desirable, shall be provided for by the establishment of an advisory committee of deans, departmental chairpersons, and faculty. The members of this committee shall be appointed by the President, except that the faculty appointees shall be from a list of persons furnished to the President by the President of the Faculty Senate. A faculty member will chair the advisory committee. This committee shall report to the President through the Provost and shall be charged with: 1) monitoring the effectiveness of the existing policies on faculty participation; 2) offering proposals for changes in the mechanism for faculty participation for consideration by the University community; 3) screening proposals for changes from other sources; and 4) coordinating discussions and study by the faculty, deans, chairpersons, and the central administration of any proposed changes prior to their approval by the President.

Normally, any person appointed as Provost will be expected to possess credentials commensurate with an appointment at a senior rank and in an appropriate academic discipline.

APPENDIX B: Mediation and Grievance System

I. Introduction and Definitions

A. General Principles

The University of Alabama endeavors to promote the fair and equitable treatment of all members of the University community, including faculty members. In light of that goal, the University maintains a grievance procedure for faculty members as defined here in so that serious faculty disputes may be handled as fairly, rationally, and expeditiously as possible. Because it is important that faculty members participate in their own governance and that of the University, the faculty maintains an important role in this mediation and grievance process. This faculty involvement, along with the process itself, is meant to help uphold the fundamental principles of academic rights, academic freedom, and contractual understanding.

B. Scope and Purpose of the System

1. Purpose

This Mediation and Grievance System provides members of the faculty with a means of presenting grievances to other members of the faculty for evaluation, resolution, and in certain circumstances, recommendation to the President.

These procedures adhere to the principles of professional academic practices and are not considered to be judicial or legal in nature. They provide a standard administrative process that ensures that faculty grievances receive fair and prompt consideration.

2. Scope

The process described herein is applicable only to grievances regarding actions taken directly and specifically against the grievant or conduct directed specifically toward the grievant.

3. Review by the Mediation Committee

Review by the Mediation Committee as discussed in the procedures below must be based on any of the following:

- Official disciplinary sanctions taken against (or proposed to be taken against) the faculty member;
- A violation of a written and duly approved departmental, divisional, or University policy, rule, or regulation, the violation of which has a substantial negative impact on the faculty member as determined by the Mediation Committee;
- Significant procedural improprieties occurred in matters of retention, tenure or promotion;
or

- An improper and prejudicial action by an administrator or faculty committee, if the Mediation Committee determines that the issues raised by that action are sufficiently related to the concerns of an academic community.

4. Issues not Subject to Review

Decisions made by administrators in the ordinary course of their administration (including, but not limited to, teaching assignments, single course assignments, teaching schedules, ~~i.e., (date/time of class),~~ room assignments, administrative duties, classroom equipment, teacher recognition, assigning office or lab space, allocating departmental travel funds, committee assignments, annual performance evaluations, setting hiring salaries, awarding merit or equity raises, etc.) are not subject to review by the Mediation Committee or a Tribunal discussed below. Faculty members serving in an administrative role (department chair, program director, dean, etc.) serve at the pleasure of the administration. Loss of an administrative appointment cannot be the subject of a grievance reviewable by either the Mediation Committee or by a Tribunal. In those situations in which faculty receive supplemental or extra pay for performing extra duties, decisions made by administrators in removing those opportunities for supplemental or extra pay ~~are also~~ are not subject to review by the Mediation Committee.

Likewise, factual determinations by Title IX investigators, EEO investigators, or other University administrators appointed to investigate issues regarding sexual misconduct, the Consensual Romantic Relationships Policy and/or Harassment Policy are not subject to review by the Mediation Committee.

5. Review by the Tribunal

Review by the Tribunal as discussed in the procedures below is determined by the Mediation Committee or by the nature of the sanction and is limited to:

- A review of severe sanctions as defined in Section C, Number 6 below; or
- Whenever the Mediation Committee, after conducting a factual investigation, determines one of the following occurred:
 - Significant procedural improprieties in matters of retention, tenure or promotion; or
 - A written and duly approved departmental, divisional, or University policy, rule, or regulation was blatantly violated, causing a substantial negative impact on the faculty member that is of concern to the entire academic community.

Commented [MOA56]: Internal link

6. Restrictions in Grievances before Mediation Committee and/or Tribunal

It is not within the purview of the Mediation Committee or Tribunal to make any judgment regarding professional qualifications or professional competence of a grievant. That responsibility is vested in the department, college, or school peer groups; academic administrators; and consultants used by the department, college, or school peer groups. In response to a claim of inadequate review, the role of the Mediation Committee (or Tribunal, if applicable) shall be limited

to inquiring whether the decision was a bona fide, conscientious exercise of professional academic judgment, using relevant standards of the institution.

Consistent with that overall limitation, the role of a Mediation Committee and/or Tribunal is restricted when considering grievances arising from retention, tenure, or promotion recommendations, or from recommendations made by departmental or divisional faculty committees elected by the faculty or from recommendations made by the departmental or divisional faculty as a whole. In such cases, neither the Mediation Committee nor the Tribunal shall substitute its judgment on the merits for that of the faculty committees or administrators. The Tribunal will restrict its attention to claims that the procedures followed were not in accord with the *Faculty Handbook* and with any supplementary procedures adopted by the departmental and divisional faculties. Neither the Mediation Committee nor the Tribunal likewise have jurisdiction to review a decision to non-renew an appointment or contract at the end of a renewable or non-renewable appointment.

C. Definitions

1. “University” means The University of Alabama in Tuscaloosa, Alabama.
2. “Faculty” or “faculty members” means one or more persons with tenured or probationary/tenure-track appointments or to the faculty of the University. Except where otherwise clarified herein, “faculty” does not include part-time, temporary or adjunct faculty members.
3. “Administrators” or “administrative faculty” are faculty members whose assignment to administrative duties is at least 50 percent or who hold administrative assignments at or above the level of departmental chairperson.
4. A “work day” is any day on which the University is in session, excluding weekends, University holidays, and the periods between the last day of final examinations and the first day of classes for the next term (Fall, Spring, Summer I and Summer II).
5. A “work week” is five work days.
6. “Severe sanction” is a type of serious discipline that has been imposed or is proposed to be imposed on a faculty member. Decisions made by administrators in the ordinary course of their administration (including but not limited to teaching assignments, single course assignments, teaching schedules, *i.e.*, (date/time of class, room assignments, administrative duties, classroom equipment, teacher recognition, assigning office or lab space, allocating departmental travel funds, committee assignments, annual performance evaluations, setting hiring salaries, awarding merit or equity raises, etc.) and minor discipline as defined in the Progressive Discipline section of the *Faculty Handbook* shall not be considered severe sanctions. In addition, non-renewal of an appointment or contract at the end of a contract period is not a severe sanction.

Examples of a severe sanction include ~~when cases in which~~ an administrator does or seeks to:

- Revoke tenure and/or dismiss a tenured faculty member for adequate cause;

- Dismiss a tenure-track (probationary) faculty member for adequate cause, before the end of the term specified by the *Faculty Handbook*;
- Dismiss a renewable-contract faculty member before the end of the term specified in a contract or appointment letter between the University and the faculty member;
- Suspend, with or without pay, a faculty member from service for a stated period (This does not include paid administrative leave pending outcome of an investigation, mediation, or tribunal);
- Reduce a faculty member's rank (demotion); or
- Reduce an academic-year salary before the end of that academic year.

7. Definitions of other terms may appear in other sections of this document.

D. Description and Selection of the Mediation Committee, Tribunal, and Compliance Tribunal

The Faculty Mediation and Grievance Procedure involves four opportunities for faculty input into the resolution of faculty grievances or proposed severe sanctions: as the faculty liaison, as a member of the Mediation Committee, as a member of a Tribunal, if the matter is eligible for a hearing, or as a member of a Compliance Tribunal, if the matter involves alleged violations of the Sexual Misconduct Policy, Harassment Policy, or Consensual Romantic Relationships Policy and the sanction imposed or sought to be imposed constitutes a severe sanction as described in [Section I.C.](#) above.

Commented [MOA57]: Internal link

1. Faculty Liaison

Annually, the Provost, with consultation of the President of the Faculty Senate, will select a senior tenured faculty member as faculty liaison who will act as a liaison between the petitioner, the respondent, and the Mediation Committee and/or Tribunals and/or Compliance Tribunals. The faculty liaison will also be responsible for supplying any support services or advice needed by tribunals, including helping with investigations, arranging hearings, and establishing timetables and schedules that will result in fair and expeditious hearings. In particular, the faculty liaison will prepare a model set of timetables for a Tribunal to consider when adopting its rules. The faculty liaison [also](#) will ~~also~~ be responsible for training the Mediation Committee and Tribunals discussed below.

2. Mediation Committee Membership

The Mediation Committee is composed of six tenured faculty members who are not administrators and two administrators. The six faculty members serve staggered, three-year terms such that two terms conclude on August 15 each year, and are elected by the Faculty Senate at its annual March meeting to begin serving the next academic year. No more than one faculty representative may be from any one academic division. Faculty members completing a term on the committee are ineligible for re-election until two years have passed from completion of their respective terms. Any non-administrative faculty vacancy occurring on the committee may be filled on a temporary basis by a majority vote of the rest of the committee, but shall be filled for the full remainder of the term by the Faculty Senate.

The President of the University or ~~his or her~~ [the President's](#) designee chooses the two administrative members of the committee from among the administrators of the University who are tenured in one of the academic programs and who hold an administrative appointment in an academic area.

3. Mediation Committee Chair

At the start of the Fall semester, the Mediation Committee selects its chairperson from among the non-administrative faculty members. The chairperson is responsible for coordinating and expediting the work of the committee, ensuring that grievances are resolved or, if eligible, submitted to a Tribunal generally within eight work weeks (excluding University closings and summer terms) from the time the grievances are received by the committee. If additional time is needed to effectuate a resolution, the Mediation Committee may extend this time. In that instance, the Mediation Committee should notify the parties of the extended time period and articulate a rational basis for the need for additional time.

4. Grounds for Recusal/Disqualification of Mediation Committee

Members of the Mediation Committee shall disqualify/recuse themselves from participating in a particular grievance if they or reasonable persons would believe they cannot render an impartial decision because of personal affiliation and/or a conflict of interest. Members disqualifying themselves on one of these bases should seek to provide a written communication to the chairperson to that effect within seven calendar days of their receipt of information regarding their responsibility to disqualify/recuse themselves. The Mediation Committee may decide a grievance with one less member; if multiple recusals occur, however, the Mediation Committee shall elect a tenured faculty member to fill in on a temporary, case-specific basis until resolution of that grievance.

5. Hearing Panel from Which Tribunals are Selected

Each Tribunal selected to hear eligible grievances and proposed serious sanctions ([see Section I.C. above](#)) will consist of five tenured faculty members selected by the processes described below.

Commented [MOA58]: Internal link

a. 11-member Hearing Panel List

When a Tribunal is needed to hear a matter and make a recommendation, the Provost's office will prepare a list of all tenured faculty members (including faculty members holding administrative rank) eligible to serve on a Tribunal. To be eligible, a tenured faculty member must have worked at the University for at least three years and must not be a member of the Mediation Committee. The Provost, in conjunction with the president of the Faculty Senate, will use a random selection process to identify a panel of 11 tenured faculty members. (The random selection process will consist of using a random number generator to select names from an ordered list of eligible faculty members who are not expected to be on leave during the academic year.) All faculty who have administrative positions of department or division chair or higher and faculty members in the

department, school, or college of the primary appointment of the petitioner or respondent will be excluded from participation (and not included in the random selection process).

b. Recusals of Hearing Panel for Tribunal

When a Tribunal must be convened for a particular eligible matter, the chair of the Mediation Committee, with assistance from the Provost's Office and faculty liaison, will notify the 11-member Hearing Panel in a confidential communication of the salient issue(s) that will be presented to the Tribunal and of the identity of the petitioner, respondent, and department and college involved. Hearing Panel members shall disqualify/recuse themselves from participating in a particular grievance hearing if they or reasonable persons would believe they cannot render an impartial decision because of personal affiliation and/or a conflict of interest. Hearing Panel members disqualifying themselves on one of these bases should seek to provide written communication to the Grievance Committee chairperson to that effect within seven calendar days of their receipt of information regarding their responsibility to disqualify/recuse themselves.

After giving Hearing Panel members an opportunity to recuse themselves, the Mediation Committee chair will then provide the parties with a list of those who have not recused themselves or otherwise been removed by the Mediation Committee. This list should contain at least nine names. Parties to the grievance may then object to the appointment of a Tribunal member by presenting a reason for objection to the Mediation Committee chairperson, who will then decide whether to force recusal of any other Hearing Panel members.

c. Selection of Tribunal

The Tribunal will consist of five members. Each ~~of the parties~~ will have one work week after receipt of the list of available Hearing Panel members in which to choose two persons from the list to serve on the Tribunal. The remaining member (or members, if the parties choose the same persons) will be selected in a meeting led by the faculty liaison with the two parties to the matter alternately striking a name from the list (with the petitioner having the first strike) until the requisite five names remain.

If a Tribunal member retires or otherwise leaves the University during the course of a grievance, or if a Tribunal member is otherwise unable to continue, the remaining members of the Tribunal shall proceed. If Tribunal members have a compelling reason why, after the beginning of the dispute, they cannot proceed, the Tribunal will continue without them. If two Tribunal members cannot proceed, a new Tribunal will be chosen, and the formal hearing will recommence from the beginning.

d. Tribunal Chairperson

The Tribunal will promptly elect its own chairperson from among the Tribunal members. The faculty liaison will work with the Tribunal chairperson and Grievance Committee chairperson to effectuate a timely and effective transition to the Tribunal process.

6. Compliance Tribunal

A Compliance Tribunal described below will be utilized when dealing with allegations of prohibited conduct as defined in the University's [Sexual Misconduct Policy](#) or due to other allegations of conduct in violation of the University's [Consensual Romantic Relationships Policy](#) or [Harassment Policy](#).

Commented [MOA59]: Internal link

Each year, the Provost's Office, in consultation with the Faculty Senate, will appoint tenured faculty members from different colleges who have worked at the University at least three years to serve as members of a Compliance Tribunal. These faculty members shall receive specialized training with regard to processing of complaints of prohibited conduct under the Sexual Misconduct Policy and complaints of violations of the Consensual Romantic Relationships Policy and Harassment Policy.

a. Recusals

Compliance Tribunal members shall disqualify/recuse themselves from participating in a particular grievance hearing if they or reasonable persons would believe they cannot render an impartial decision because of personal affiliation and/or a conflict of interest. Compliance Tribunal members disqualifying themselves on one of these bases should seek to provide a written communication to the Provost's Office to that effect within seven calendar days of their receipt of information regarding their responsibility to disqualify/recuse themselves.

b. Selection of Compliance Tribunal

When a Compliance Tribunal must be convened, the Provost (or designee), in consultation with the faculty liaison, will within seven business days identify at least five members of the trained Compliance Tribunal who are not employed in the pertinent college(s) involved, who do not appear to have a personal affiliation and/or a conflict of interest with the complainant and/or respondent, and who are available to hear the matter. The faculty liaison will thereafter provide those names to complainant and respondent, who will then have three business days to provide to the faculty liaison and Provost written objections to any of the potential Compliance Tribunal members. The objections must articulate facts that would support a conclusion that the potential Compliance Tribunal member should be recused or disqualified from participating in the hearing because of personal affiliation and/or conflict of interest that would impact the ability to render an impartial decision. A final selection of the three-member Compliance Tribunal will be made by the Provost (or designee) and faculty liaison after the faculty liaison has sought and timely received feedback from complainant(s) and respondent(s) or those who will be significantly involved as [witnesses](#) in the hearing.

Compliance Tribunal members who have been selected shall disqualify/recuse themselves from participating in a particular grievance hearing if they or reasonable persons would believe they cannot render an impartial decision because of personal affiliation and/or a conflict of interest. Compliance Tribunal members disqualifying themselves on one of these bases should seek to provide a written communication to the Provost's Office to that effect within seven calendar days of their receipt of information regarding their responsibility to disqualify/recuse themselves. If a recusal occurs, the Provost, in consultation with the faculty liaison, will select a replacement. The

parties will have the same opportunity to object to the replacement (as noted in the paragraph above), and the Compliance Tribunal member, after hearing more of the details, will have an opportunity to recuse themselves. This process will continue until a three-member Compliance Tribunal is selected to hear the matter.

If a Compliance Tribunal member who has been selected retires or otherwise leaves the University prior to or during the course of a hearing, or if a Compliance Tribunal member is otherwise unable to participate or continue, the two remaining members of the Tribunal shall proceed. If a Compliance Tribunal member has a compelling reason why, after being selected, they cannot proceed, the two-member Compliance Tribunal will continue. If two Compliance Tribunal members cannot proceed, a new Compliance Tribunal of three members will be chosen, and the hearing will recommence from the beginning.

c. Compliance Tribunal Chairperson

Members of the Compliance Tribunal will select the chairperson from among the three selected Compliance Tribunal members. The faculty liaison will work with the investigative office (e.g., Title IX or EOP or designated harassment resource person) and the Compliance Tribunal chairperson to promptly start the Compliance Tribunal process discussed in [Section IV](#).

Commented [MOA60]: Internal link

II. Mediation Committee Procedures

A. Attempted Informal Administrative Resolution of Grievances Required

An informal resolution to a dispute is preferable to resorting to the formal grievance procedure. Therefore, faculty members are required to make reasonable and good faith efforts to resolve disputes informally before availing themselves of the formal grievance process. In order to fulfill the requirement of attempted informal resolution, faculty members who believe an improper action by a University administrator or faculty committee has affected them prejudicially shall attempt to resolve their problems first through verbal and written discussions with the appropriate academic administrative chain. For faculty members, this chain is the head of their administrative subunits (if any), then their department chair^s or assistant/associate dean^s (if any), and then their dean^s. A faculty member who does not receive an acceptable decision within two work weeks after discussion with the appropriate administrator in the chain is entitled to initiate verbal and written discussions with the next-higher administrator, or, if the last discussion in the chain was at the dean's level, may seek guidance from the Mediation Committee. Prior to seeking review by the Mediation Committee, the faculty member may, but does not have to, consult the Provost (or designee) if the dean has not provided an acceptable solution to the grievance. If a faculty member makes a reasonable good faith effort to address an issue with the proper administrators and does not receive an acceptable response, then the faculty member has met the informal-resolution requirement and may seek to use the formal grievance procedure by submitting a written complaint to the Mediation Committee.

B. Petitioner's Complaint to Mediation Committee

1. The Written Complaint as First Step in the Formal Grievance Process

Faculty members who have been unable to resolve a grievance informally should submit a written complaint to the Mediation Committee. The complaint shall:

- Describe in detail the nature of the grievance;
- Include a concise statement of the facts from which the grievance arose;
- Identify the date of the decision ~~by the individual~~ that serves as the basis for the grievance;
- Describe how the grievance falls within the scope of permitted grievances set forth in [Section I. B.](#) of this document;
- Identify against whom the grievance is directed (respondent);
- Summarize all attempts to informally resolve the dispute; and
- Describe the relief sought.

Commented [MOA61]: Internal link

The petitioner may provide any information deemed pertinent to the grievance. If the petitioner is the administrator seeking to impose a severe sanction for which review must occur before imposition of the sanction, then the administrator should provide all information that would support the administrator's proposed severe sanction. To the extent the Mediation Committee creates complaint intake forms, the petitioner shall use those to submit the information identified above. All materials provided by the petitioner will be shared with the respondent within one work week of being received by the Mediation Committee.

2. Time Limit within which to File a Written Complaint to Mediation Committee

In order to be considered by the Mediation Committee, the written complaint must demonstrate the petitioner initiated the resolution process at the first level within eight work weeks of the time the petitioner first knew or reasonably should have known about the matter or administrative decision that is the subject of the grievance. The time during which the faculty member is seeking informal resolution is included in the eight work-week time limit.

3. Mediation Committee's Work

a. Decision to Accept or Dismiss Complaint

Based on the contents of the complaint and any additional information that the Mediation Committee may seek from the faculty grievant, and/or respondent or others involved, the Committee will decide, based on the guidelines in [Section I. B.](#) above, whether the complaint shall be accepted initially for its review and whether mediation may be attempted. The Committee, acting either as a whole or through specifically designated members, may meet with the faculty grievant and/or with the respondent or others to clarify and ensure adequate factual support for the allegations presented. If the facts alleged in the grievance, even if shown to be true, would not constitute a grievable action as defined in [Section I. B.](#) above (e.g. actions taken by administrators in the routine course of their duties), the Mediation Committee may dismiss the complaint without any fact-finding efforts.

Commented [MOA62]: Internal link

After fact finding and other review, the Committee will vote by simple majority to determine whether sufficient grounds exist consistent with [Section I. B.](#) above to support a grievance before

Commented [MOA63]: Internal link

the Mediation Committee and whether the faculty grievant has made a sufficient good-faith effort to reach informal resolution. If it is determined that the matters discussed in the complaint are outside the scope of reviewable issues or if there haves not been sufficient good-faith efforts to reach informal resolution, the Committee will dismiss the complaint. The Committee may require specific further attempts at informal resolution and/or require the parties to submit additional evidentiary support for their positions before making a final, official decision to accept or dismiss.

If the Committee decides to dismiss the complaint, written notice will be provided to the grievant and respondent. A decision to dismiss a complaint can be appealed to the Provost, who at their discretion, can overrule the Committee's decision and require that the Committee accept the complaint.

If the Committee accepts the complaint, it will: (1) promptly notify the grievant which aspects of the complaint, consistent with Section I.B., have been accepted for review and resolution; (2) notify the respondent and provide a copy of the complaint and the Mediation Committee's rationale consistent with Section I.B. for accepting the grievance; (3) and provide an opportunity for both parties to submit relevant written responses and other evidence to the Committee. For each allegation made by the grievant, the Committee must determine whether it is within the scope of an eligible grievance as defined in Section I.B.

Commented [MOA64]: Internal link

b. Mediation Committee's Work Once It Has Accepted a Grievance for Action

After a complaint has been officially accepted for action, the Mediation Committee will provide petitioner and respondent(s) with the option of engaging in mediation to resolve the dispute. If both parties agree to attempt mediation, the Mediation Committee will require the respondent to submit a written response to all allegations made by the petitioner and accepted by the Mediation Committee for review (unless a full response has previously been provided). The Committee will, in an informal process, attempt to facilitate a resolution by whatever techniques and procedures it deems most appropriate. This could include, but is not limited to, designation of an investigator (on or off the committee) to interview parties and witnesses and review documents or retention of an individual with dispute resolution expertise to assist the Mediation Committee or the parties. The Mediation Committee or members thereof or their designees may meet privately with either of the parties or with other informed persons to determine the evidence in support of or in defense of the allegations and to explore the possibility of finding a resolution upon which the parties can agree.

Every effort will be made to maintain an atmosphere that encourages collegial resolution of the grievance. In particular, neither party may be represented or accompanied by an attorney as part of the mediation process, though the parties may consult with an attorney outside of the Mediation Committee proceedings at their own expense.

A petitioner reserves the right to withdraw a grievance at any time. Unless withdrawn, the respondent must respond to a grievance accepted for action. If a settlement is agreed to by both parties, that settlement will be referred to the Provost for review with the intent of executing a binding agreement in the best interests of the parties and The University of Alabama. In those cases, the process is over and no further action shall be taken.

The Mediation Committee has the power to conclude a mediation without settlement if it finds both parties have participated in good faith and that settlement is impossible or inappropriate. In those cases, the Mediation Committee will detail its efforts in a memo to the Provost with a recommendation that the matter be closed or that, if eligible under [Section I.B.](#) above, it be referred to a Tribunal.

Commented [MOA65]: Internal link

c. Mediation Committee's Referral of Eligible Matters to Tribunal

If a satisfactory resolution is not reached through the Mediation Committee proceedings and the matter is eligible for review by a Tribunal pursuant to [Section I.B.](#) above, the Mediation Committee shall prepare a confidential report for the benefit of the Tribunal identifying the specific grounds upon which it accepted the grievance and which of those actions would be eligible for review by a Tribunal. Both parties to the grievance may inspect that report, but may not make or otherwise obtain a copy of it.

Commented [MOA66]: Internal link

If the grievant has made allegations that are not within the purview of the Mediation Committee, those issues should be identified and the Mediation Committee must articulate why it did not deem those matters to be within the scope of the Mediation Committee. Subject to [Section I.B.](#) above, the Mediation Committee has the authority to decide whether a particular matter is entitled to a Tribunal. A decision adverse to the petitioner may be reversed upon appeal to the Provost.

Commented [MOA67]: Internal link

d. Confidentiality of the Process and Document Retention

All Mediation Committee proceedings involving faculty grievances will be kept confidential to the extent possible. Information will be shared only on a need-to-know basis. Every person involved in mediation is expected to respect the confidentiality of the process, and every effort will be made to maintain an atmosphere that encourages collegial resolution of the problem. A breach of confidentiality by any party to mediation or by a Mediation Committee member may subject the individual to disciplinary action and resulting sanctions.

The chair of the Mediation Committee shall maintain a file of each active mediation (with all parties' submitted documents, any committee members' email discussion, notes, etc.). At the close of a mediation, the chair of the Mediation Committee shall direct committee members to deposit all notes, emails, and everything related to the grievance in a confidential repository. Upon providing materials to the chair, all other documentation retained by the individuals should be destroyed. The chair shall organize the content of the confidential repository file and remove duplicate materials. Once the case is closed, the Committee chairperson will remove access to the file. Unless subpoenaed by an agency or court with subpoena power or subject to production in discovery in litigation, efforts will be made to protect the release of Mediation Committee files to third parties. If the matter was referred to the Tribunal, the Tribunal would have the original referral report, and a copy would be retained in the Mediation Committee's file.

At the conclusion of a mediation, whether successful or not, the chair shall deposit the paper and electronic file(s) in the University Archives, with access thereto limited to the President and Provost of the University and/or their designees. Unless the University's record-retention schedule

notes otherwise or unless subject to a litigation hold, the mediation records shall be retained for three years after action taken on the matter and resolution of all claims. To the extent a resolution agreement is signed, that document shall be maintained by the Provost's office in a confidential file until two years after the grievant is no longer employed at the University.

III. Tribunal Procedures

A faculty member becomes eligible to receive a formal hearing by a Tribunal if the Mediation Committee is satisfied that the faculty member has sought appropriate administrative reviews and the Mediation Committee has determined that the issue is eligible under [Section I.B.](#) for a Tribunal's review. In such instances, when an eligible faculty member wishes to proceed, the Mediation Committee will help the parties establish a Tribunal. When an administrator seeks to impose a severe sanction or to dismiss a faculty member in circumstances set forth in Section I.B. above, the Mediation Committee will establish the Tribunal, unless the faculty member declines review by the Tribunal.

Commented [MOA68]: Internal link

A. Tribunal Procedure

1. The Tribunal will, in consultation with the parties, set a time for the hearing.
2. Before setting a time for the hearing, the Tribunal will consult the parties and may, with or without the assistance of the faculty liaison, hold joint or separate pre-hearing meetings to simplify the issues, stipulate facts, provide for the exchange of documentary or other information, or achieve anything else that the Tribunal believes will be helpful to conduct a fair, effective, and expeditious hearing.
3. The Tribunal, with the assistance of the faculty liaison, may also engage in any necessary investigation.
4. At least 20 days prior to the hearing, the petitioner will supply the respondent and the Tribunal with a written statement of specific charges that sets forth the facts and issues that the petitioner wishes the Tribunal to consider. This statement need not be identical to the original complaint presented to the Mediation Committee, but it shall be limited to those issues that are within the scope of the issues eligible for a Tribunal's review as determined by the Mediation Committee.
5. The respondent will supply the petitioner and the Tribunal with a response to the charges no later than one week prior to the hearing.
6. Each party, and the Tribunal if it so desires, may present witnesses and evidence at the hearing, subject to cross-examination. Character witnesses will generally not be allowed, but a character witness may be permitted at the discretion of the chairperson. The petitioner and respondent must provide a list of potential hearing witnesses to the chairperson of the Tribunal at least four calendar days prior to the hearing. The chairperson will provide the witness list(s) to all relevant parties involved in the matter at least three calendar days prior to the hearing.
7. Based solely on the evidence in the hearing record, the Tribunal will make findings of fact concerning each allegation in the statement of charges, deciding whether the allegation has been established by a preponderance of the evidence.

8. When hearing a case which involves dismissal of a faculty member or imposition of a severe sanction, the Tribunal will decide whether adequate cause for the proposed action has been established by a preponderance of the evidence in the record.
 - a. If the Tribunal finds adequate cause for dismissal, it also may report that the adequate cause involves “moral turpitude.” The concept of moral turpitude identifies the exceptional case in which the faculty member may be denied a year’s pay in whole or in part (if the *Faculty Handbook* or appointment letter required such). Moral turpitude is behavior which goes beyond simply warranting discharge or dismissal and is so utterly blameworthy as to make it inappropriate to require the offering of a year’s teaching or pay. Some examples include, but are not limited to, sexual assault; embezzlement of funds; commission of a serious violent offense such as murder, robbery or rape, child pornography, fraud in securing employment or in the promotion or tenure process; or academic dishonesty in teaching and research.
 - b. If the Tribunal finds that adequate cause for dismissal or imposition of a severe sanction has been established, but believes that a less severe penalty would be more appropriate, it will so recommend, with supporting reasons.
9. Following its deliberations, the Tribunal will provide a written report of its findings and a recommendation of action to the University President, except as limited below.

B. Hearing Rules

1. The Tribunal and both parties have the option of retaining ~~an~~ advisor/s/observer/s of their choice/s at their own expense/s. An observer can be present at all proceedings except for deliberation. Petitioners are responsible for presenting their own case; and, therefore, advisors/observers have no right to speak or participate directly in any hearing before the Tribunal. An advisor/observer’s failure to comply with these participation limitations may cause the advisor/observer to be removed from the proceeding.
2. The Tribunal itself may request procedural legal advice from the University Office of Counsel.
3. The proceedings are confidential, and no part of the proceedings shall be made public.
4. The Tribunal may bar prospective witnesses from hearing the testimony of other witnesses.
5. The hearing by the Tribunal is an administrative hearing, and the proceedings will be informal rather than those used in courts of law.
6. The Tribunal is not bound by legal rules of evidence. It may choose to admit any evidence that is of probative value subject to its determination of relevance and credibility. The Tribunal may also ask parties to produce evidence on specific issues, may question witnesses, or may produce its own evidence.
7. Each party will have the right to confront and cross-examine all witnesses. If witnesses cannot or will not appear, but the Tribunal determines that the interest of justice requires admission of their statements, the Tribunal will identify the witnesses and disclose their statements. Each party will have the right to rebut any evidence heard by the Tribunal.
8. The Tribunal may grant adjournments of reasonable length to enable either party to investigate evidence if the Tribunal believes there is a valid claim of inequitable surprise.

9. In case of severe sanction or dismissal, the burden of proof rests on the administrator seeking the action. In all other cases, the burden of proof rests on the petitioner.
10. The burden of proof will be satisfied only by a preponderance of the evidence in the record considered as a whole.
11. The University administration will cooperate with the Tribunal in securing witnesses and making available documentary and other evidence needed by the parties for the Tribunal.
12. A record of the hearing will be made by the Tribunal and provided to the President.

C. Restrictions on the Role of Tribunals

The role of a Tribunal is restricted when considering grievances arising from issues regarding retention, tenure, or promotion recommendations, or from recommendations made by the departmental or divisional faculty as a whole. In such cases, the Tribunal will not substitute its judgment on the merits for that of the faculty committees or administrators; the Tribunal will instead restrict its attention to claims that the procedures followed were not in accord with the *Faculty Handbook* and any supplemental procedures adopted by the departmental and/or divisional faculties. If the Tribunal believes that proper procedures were not followed, it should indicate with specificity the respects in which it believes that the procedures may have been improper or inadequate and request reconsideration by the involved faculty committee(s) or administrator(s). Copies of the Tribunal's report and recommendation shall be provided to the petitioner, the faculty committee(s) or administrator(s) concerned, and the Provost.

D. A Restriction on the Role of Hearing Tribunals

The role of a Hearing Tribunal is restricted when considering grievances arising from retention, tenure, or promotion recommendations, or from recommendations made by departmental or divisional faculty committees elected by the faculty or from recommendations made by the departmental or divisional faculty as a whole. In such cases, the Tribunal will restrict its attention to claims that the procedures followed were not in accord with the *Faculty Handbook* (and any supplementary procedures adopted by the departmental and divisional faculties). The functions of the Tribunal will be the following:

1. To determine whether the recommendations or decisions of the faculty committee(s) and administrator(s) involved were made in accordance with the published policies of the department, division, and University, with the understanding that the hearing Tribunal should not substitute its judgment on the merits of the case for those of faculty committee(s) and administrator(s);
2. To request reconsideration by faculty committee(s) or administrator(s) when the Hearing Tribunal believes that proper procedures were not followed in considering the issues (in such instances, the Tribunal should indicate the respects in which it believes that the procedures may have been improper or inadequate);
3. To provide copies of its report and recommendation to the faculty member, the faculty committee(s) and the administrator(s) concerned, and the Provost/Vice President for Academic Affairs.

E. Review and Final Decision by President

1. Except in cases covered by the section immediately above (Section III C), the Tribunal will report its findings and recommendations to the University President. The parties will be given a copy of the Tribunal's report to the President.
2. The parties have up until two work weeks after being provided the Tribunal's report to submit to the President any written arguments that are based on the evidence in the record. Untimely submissions and evidence not within the record will not be considered by the President.
3. The President will review the hearing record and the Tribunal's report and recommendation and make a final decision. The Tribunal's recommendation is not binding upon the President.
4. Either the decision of the Tribunal will be sustained or the proceeding will be returned to the Tribunal with specific issues to be addressed.
5. The Tribunal will then reconsider, taking into account the stated objections and receiving new evidence, if necessary.
6. The Tribunal will once again report its findings and recommendations to the President.
7. The President will make a final decision regarding what action needs to be taken only after study of the Tribunal's reconsideration.
8. The President's decision is final and cannot be appealed.

Commented [MOA69]: Internal link

F. Confidentiality of the Process and Document Retention

All Tribunal proceedings involving faculty grievances will be kept confidential to the extent possible. Information will be shared only on a need-to-know basis. Every person involved in a Tribunal is expected to respect the confidentiality of the process, and every effort will be made to maintain an atmosphere that encourages collegial resolution of the problem. A breach of confidentiality by any party before a Tribunal or by a Tribunal hearing panel member or a witness may subject the individual to disciplinary action and resulting sanctions.

The chair of the Tribunal shall maintain a record of the matter before the Tribunal. At the close of a hearing, the chair of the Tribunal shall direct hearing panel members to deposit everything related to the grievance and hearing in a confidential repository and to then destroy individually retained copies of documents that are in the repository. The chairperson will provide a copy of the record to the President, ~~who decides the matter for their decision~~. Once the matter is closed, the President will return the file to the Tribunal chairperson, who will then secure the file by depositing the paper and electronic file(s) in the University Archives, with access thereto limited to the President and Provost of the University or their designees. Unless subpoenaed by an agency or court with subpoena power, or subject to production in discovery in litigation, efforts will be made to protect the release of Tribunal files to third parties.

Unless the University's record retention schedule notes otherwise or unless subject to a litigation hold or other conditions noted in resolving the matter, the mediation records shall be retained for three years after action taken on the matter and resolution of all claims. To the extent a resolution agreement is signed, that document shall be maintained by the Provost's office in a confidential file until two years after the grievant is no longer employed at the University.

IV. Procedures When Faculty Are Alleged to Have Violated Harassment, Sexual Misconduct, or Consensual Romantic Relationship Policies

A. Sexual Misconduct Policy, Harassment Policy, and Consensual Romantic Relationships Policy Applicable to Faculty

The University's [Harassment Policy](#), [Sexual Misconduct Policy](#), and [Consensual Romantic Relationships Policy](#) apply to all faculty (including temporary, part-time and/or adjunct); therefore, all faculty are required to familiarize themselves and comply with those policies. Except where limited herein, the procedures below apply to all faculty (including temporary, part-time and adjunct) alleged to have engaged in conduct covered in the policies (including related claims of retaliation). In addition, to the extent those policies address investigations, informal and formal complaint processes and procedures, sanctions, and reviews/appeals, those provisions apply when a faculty member is the respondent, except as modified below.

If the faculty member against whom a complaint has been filed does not have faculty grievance rights (including, but not limited to, part-time, temporary, or adjunct appointment), then the fact-finder's investigative finding, and the dean's decision as to sanctions, as applicable, is final and there is no right of appeal for any party to the matter.

B. Processing and Resolution of Sexual Misconduct, Consensual Romantic Relationships, or Harassment Complaint against Faculty

1. Authority to Investigate, Provide Interim Measures and Letter of Findings

Designated harassment resource persons and the offices of the Title IX coordinator and Equal Opportunity Programs and/or their designees conduct investigations, recommend interim measures where appropriate, make factual conclusions, and prepare letters of findings that outline whether the evidence more likely than not supports a finding of a policy violation. If it is determined that the evidence supports a finding that a violation occurred, the letter of findings will also include a recommendation for sanctions or corrective actions, which ultimately will be determined by the appropriate decision-making officials (usually a dean) and will be based on the evidence obtained in the investigation.

2. Impact of Faculty Member Separating from Employment Prior to Complaint Resolution

If the faculty member respondent separates from employment from the University before a letter of findings is issued or, if applicable, a hearing is conducted, that faculty member may, depending on all the facts and circumstances, be prohibited from subsequently being re-hired by the University or from entering campus or attending campus-sponsored events. The investigation file may indicate ~~that that they~~ [the faculty member](#) separated employment after a complaint was asserted. Resolution of the case and/or consultation with the offices that conducted the investigation may be required before such a faculty member could be re-hired. Even if a faculty respondent separates from employment, the appropriate University officials may still elect to issue a letter of findings or, if applicable, move forward with a hearing. A complainant involved in the allegations against the no longer employed faculty respondent will continue to have access to all

reasonably available resources and accommodations outlined in the policies referenced above following the faculty member's separation from employment, and the complainant will be notified of the faculty member's separation from employment.

3. Informal Procedures

Informal procedures set forth in the [Sexual Misconduct](#), [Consensual Romantic Relationships](#), and/or ~~Harassment~~[Harassment](#) policies, to the extent applicable, will be followed.

4. Formal Procedures for Faculty

Formal procedures set forth in the [Sexual Misconduct](#), [Consensual Romantic Relationships](#), and ~~Harassment~~[Harassment](#) policies, to the extent applicable, will be followed except as modified below. To the extent there is a conflict between procedures below and those in the respective policies, the procedures below will apply. In addition, with respect to allegations involving violations of these three policies, no faculty member may seek initial review/resolution by the Mediation Committee. An alternative process is set forth below.

a. Preliminary Inquiry Resulting in Failure to State a Viable Claim

The designated fact-finder under the applicable policy (Title IX coordinator, EOP Office, harassment resource person, and/or their designees) may conduct a preliminary inquiry to determine if the allegations fall under the applicable policy or if a formal investigation is warranted. The designated fact-finder may speak with parties, witnesses, and/or gather other information to make a determination regarding whether to proceed with an investigation. If the complaint, as it is reported, would not support a violation of one of the three policies identified above, an investigation will not be conducted. The fact-finder will close its investigation and not issue a finding. Neither the complainant nor the respondent has the right to appeal the finding that the complaint, assuming to be true, would not support a policy violation and therefore an investigation. The appropriate University offices may offer resources and/or interim measures as it deems appropriate based on the information learned in the preliminary inquiry. The University reserves the right to reopen an inquiry or conduct a full investigation at any time.

b. Insufficient Evidence of Policy Violation

If the complaint, if true, would support a violation, but the authorized investigative official conducts an investigation and finds that there was not a preponderance of evidence to support a violation of the above-referenced policies, the complainant will be notified in writing that the information obtained does not establish by a preponderance of evidence that the respondent has violated the pertinent policy. A finding that insufficient information exists to support a violation does not necessarily certify the respondent was in compliance with the policy. If the respondent faculty member's employment status would entitle the faculty member to a review, then the complainant will be advised of the option to request a review to independently determine if a preponderance of evidence supports a finding that the respondent violated the [Sexual Misconduct](#), [Consensual Romantic Relationships](#), or ~~Harassment~~[Harassment](#) policies.

1. If the complainant fails to request a review within one work week of receiving notice that the information obtained does not establish by a preponderance of evidence that the respondent has violated the pertinent policy, the determinations contained in the letter of findings will be deemed final.
2. If the review by the Provost or Compliance Tribunal concludes there is sufficient evidence of a policy violation, then the matter will be returned to the appropriate dean (or appropriate University official) to determine an appropriate sanction within one work week of receipt of the determination. If, after the parties are notified of the sanction imposed, one work week passes without the respondent or complainant challenging the sanctions (per guidelines below), then the sanctions imposed will be deemed final. If the sanctions are timely challenged, the Provost or Compliance Tribunal will review those pursuant to the procedures in sections e. and f. below.

Commented [MOA70]: Internal link

c. Accepting Responsibility

If the respondent faculty member admits or does not dispute that a preponderance of evidence indicates a policy violation occurred, the appropriate University official, in consultation with the appropriate compliance office, will impose (or, if applicable, seek to impose) a sanction proportionate to the policy violation. If the respondent faculty member's employment status and nature of the sanction imposed or, if applicable, sought to be imposed, entitles the faculty member to seek a hearing or further review under the Mediation and Grievance System, then either the faculty respondent or the complainant may request a formal hearing before a Compliance Tribunal within one work week. If the sanctions are not challenged, they will be deemed final. If the sanctions are challenged, the Provost or Compliance Tribunal will, if applicable, review them pursuant to the procedures in sections e. and f. below.

Commented [MOA71]: Internal link

d. Sufficient Evidence of Policy Violation

If the authorized investigative official concludes that there is a preponderance of evidence to support a violation of one or more of the above-referenced policies, the complainant and respondent will be notified in writing that the information obtained does establish by a preponderance of evidence that the respondent has violated the pertinent policy and what sanction will be imposed by the dean or other appropriate University official. If the respondent faculty member's employment status and nature of the sanction imposed or, if applicable, sought to be imposed, entitles the faculty member to seek a hearing or further review under the Mediation and Grievance System, then either the faculty respondent or the complainant may seek review of the findings and/or sanctions within one work week. If a request for a review is not timely made, the findings and sanctions will be deemed final. If the request for review is timely made, the Compliance Tribunal will, if applicable, review pursuant to the procedures in sections e. and f. below.

Commented [MOA72]: Internal link

e. Review by Provost When No Severe Sanction Has Been Imposed

1. If the faculty member who is accused of violating one of the three policies mentioned above has grievance rights, then either the complainant or the faculty respondent may request a review of the sanctions (or findings) by the Provost within one work week of delivery of

the notification of findings. If the sanctions to be imposed are severe as defined in [Section I. C. 6](#), the Provost will refer the matter to the Compliance Tribunal. Only if no sanction is imposed or sanctions less than severe sanctions are imposed will the Provost (or Provost's designee) accept review. Requests for consideration may be emailed to provost@ua.edu or may be hand-delivered to the Provost's Office during regular business hours.

Commented [MOA73]: Internal link

2. A request for consideration by the Provost should include a statement by the party describing in detail the grievance (i.e., nature of the disagreement with the investigative findings or sanctions imposed or sought to be imposed), against whom the grievance is directed, and any information/documentation the grievant deems pertinent to the case. There are limited circumstances under which review by the Provost may be requested. The party(ies) seeking review must show:
 - a. The factual findings are clearly erroneous; or
 - b. Significant evidence, which was not known to the individual during the investigation process, was not considered or available during the investigation and would have altered the outcome of the investigation.
 - i. Evidence not available during the investigation must be evidence not known to the party seeking review during the investigation process.
 - ii. Failure to provide evidence ~~that that they~~the party knew or reasonably should have known shall not be considered new evidence; or
 - c. A material failure to follow the procedures set forth in the [Sexual Misconduct](#), [Consensual Romantic Relationships](#), or [Harassment](#) policies or this Mediation and Grievance System; or
 - d. The sanction imposed or sought to be imposed is disproportionately severe to the inappropriate conduct; or
 - e. The sanction imposed or sought to be imposed should be increased as it is too lenient; or
 - f. There is a preponderance of evidence that the investigators and/or decision makers were biased or prejudiced in handling the matter.
3. When a request for consideration is received by the Provost, the Provost's Office will notify both parties of the request for consideration. The party not filing the request for consideration shall have one work week from delivery of notice of the request to provide a statement in support of the finding and/or disciplinary action. The non-requesting party is not, however, required to provide a statement.
4. The investigative office or individual will provide each party's statement, the investigation file, and notification of findings to the Provost.
5. The Provost may make the following findings:
 - a. Affirm the factual findings and the disciplinary action taken by the decision-making official.
 - b. Determine that a material failure occurred that may have impacted the finding or determination of disciplinary action. In that instance, the Provost may remand the case back to the applicable investigative office (for factual findings) and/or decision-making official (for sanction decision) for further consideration.

- c. Determine if significant new evidence would have altered the outcome of the investigation was not considered or available during the investigation. In that instance, the Provost may remand the case back to the applicable investigative office for further investigation.
 - d. Determine if the disciplinary action imposed is disproportionately severe with regard to the inappropriate conduct. In that instance, the Provost would render a lesser sanction.
 - e. Determine that the suggested sanction is too lenient and that the appropriate sanction should be increased to a severe sanction, in which case the parties would have the right to review by a Compliance Tribunal.
6. Notification of the Provost's Decision: The complainant and respondent shall be informed concurrently in writing via their campus-provided email or other agreed-upon means of notification of the Provost's decision. If the Provost supports the dean or other appropriate administrative official's sanction, then the matter is final.
 7. The decision made by the Provost is final, unless the Provost modifies the sanction to increase it to a severe sanction, in which case, the matter will be referred to a Compliance Tribunal.

f. Review by Compliance Tribunal When Severe Sanction is Imposed

A complainant or respondent only has the right to seek review by a Compliance Tribunal if the respondent faculty member's employment status and nature of the sanction imposed or, if applicable, sought to be imposed by the dean (i.e., a severe sanction), would otherwise entitle the respondent faculty member to seek a hearing or further review under the Mediation and Grievance System. In such instances, a Compliance Tribunal will be established.

1. A request for hearing must be made by the respondent faculty member or complainant in writing to the Provost within one work week of notification that severe sanctions are being sought. The request for hearing may be made by emailing provost@ua.edu or hand delivery of the request to the Provost's Office.
2. Grounds for a hearing request: There are limited circumstances under which a compliance hearing may be requested. The respondent faculty member or complainant must allege:
 - a. The factual findings are clearly erroneous;
 - b. Significant evidence was not considered or available during the investigation, which would have altered the outcome of the investigation;
 - i. Evidence not available during the investigation must be evidence not known to the complainant or respondent faculty member during the investigation process.
 - ii. The complainant or respondent faculty member's failure to provide evidence that ~~they~~ the party knew or reasonably should have known shall not be considered new evidence; or
 - c. A material failure to follow the procedures set forth in the [Sexual Misconduct](#), [Consensual Romantic Relationships](#), or ~~Harassment~~ [Harassment](#) policies or this Mediation and Grievance Systems Policy occurred; or

- d. The disciplinary action taken by the decision-making official is excessive with regard to the inappropriate conduct and should not have risen to the level of a severe sanction as defined herein; or
 - e. The level of severe sanction sought to be imposed is too lenient, and should be increased to an even more severe sanction.
- 3. The hearing will be conducted by the Compliance Tribunal.
 - 4. Efforts will be made to schedule a hearing date within four work weeks from selection of the Compliance Tribunal. The parties will be concurrently notified by the chairperson of the Compliance Tribunal of the hearing date, time, and location in writing via their campus-provided email or other agreed upon means of notification. The chairperson of the Compliance Tribunal will, in consultation with the other members of the Compliance Tribunal, grant or deny any requested rescheduling of a hearing date.
 - 5. The appropriate investigative office(s) will prepare a summary of the investigation, with pertinent evidence, and the disciplinary action taken (or proposed to be taken), which will be provided to the Compliance Tribunal chairperson at least two work weeks prior to the hearing. The summary, along with any other documents to be provided to the Compliance Tribunal, will be available for in-person review by either party at least two work-weeks prior to the hearing date.
 - 6. Either party may provide a written statement to the members of the Compliance Tribunal for their review. The written statement may be in support of their position and/or a response to the summary of the investigation. The written statement must be received by the appropriate investigator's office at least one work-week prior to the hearing date. The investigating office will immediately make the statements available to the members of the Compliance Tribunal and will notify the parties of the opportunity to inspect the statements for their review.
 - 7. Either party may seek to present witnesses with relevant information to the asserted grounds mentioned in the appeal, subject to cross-examination by the Compliance Tribunal. Character witnesses will generally not be allowed, but a character witness may be permitted at the discretion of the chairperson. The parties must provide a list of potential hearing witnesses to the chairperson of the Compliance Tribunal at least four calendar days prior to the hearing. The chairperson will provide the witness list(s) to all relevant parties involved in the matter at least three calendar days prior to the hearing.
 - 8. Neither party is required to participate in a Compliance Tribunal. Either party may submit a written statement, oral statement, or no statement.
 - 9. Parties may not question other parties or witnesses directly. The parties may submit proposed questions to the Compliance Tribunal to ask the other party or witness. The chairperson will determine if a proposed question is relevant. The chairperson may also rephrase the question when appropriate. The Compliance Tribunal may directly question either party or witness.
 - 10. Both the complainant and respondent have the option of being accompanied by one attorney or support person during the hearing at their expense. The attorney or support person may not speak on the complainant's or respondent's behalf or otherwise directly participate in any part of the hearing process. The attorney or support person's role is to provide support, assistance, or consultation to the complainant or respondent. An attorney or support person's failure to comply with the participation limitations outlined in this

policy and/or the [Sexual Misconduct](#), [Consensual Romantic Relationships](#), or [Harrassment](#) policies may cause the attorney or support person to be removed from the hearing.

11. All hearings involving disciplinary action taken pursuant to a violation of the [Sexual Misconduct](#), [Consensual Romantic Relationships](#), or [Ha=rassment](#) policies will be private. Only those deemed necessary will be allowed in the proceeding. Any witnesses will be sequestered until their participation is requested by the Compliance Tribunal.
12. The Compliance Tribunal may make the following recommendations:

- a. Affirm the factual findings and the disciplinary action taken or sought to be taken by the decision-making official.
- b. Determine that a material failure occurred that may have impacted the finding or determination of disciplinary action (or proposed disciplinary action). If it is determined that a material failure occurred in the investigation or disciplinary action process, the Compliance Tribunal will remand the case back to the applicable investigative office (for factual findings) and/or decision-making official (for sanction decision) for further consideration.

After remand, the Compliance Tribunal may hear the matter again only if a severe sanction stands.

- c. Determine if significant evidence was not considered or available during the investigation that would have altered the outcome of the investigation. If it is determined that significant evidence was not considered or available during the investigation process, the Compliance Tribunal will remand the case back to the applicable investigative office for further investigation.

After remand, the Compliance Tribunal may hear the matter again only if a severe sanction stands.

- d. Determine if the disciplinary action imposed is disproportionately severe with regard to the inappropriate conduct and issues a modified disciplinary action. If the Compliance Tribunal recommends that the disciplinary action taken is disproportionately severe, the case will be sent to the President for his/her review.
- e. Determine if the severe sanction imposed is too lenient and an even more severe sanction should be imposed. In this instance, the case will be sent to the President for his/her review.

13. The complainant and respondent shall be informed concurrently in writing via their campus-provided email or other agreed upon means of notification of the Compliance Tribunal's recommendation.

g. Review and Final Decision by President

1. Except in cases of remand, the Compliance Tribunal will report its findings and recommendations to the University President. The parties may review a copy of the Compliance Tribunal's report to the President.

2. The parties have up until one work week after being offered the opportunity to review the report to submit to the President any written arguments that are based on the evidence in the record. Untimely submissions and evidence not within the record will not be considered by the President.
3. The President will review the hearing record and the Compliance Tribunal's report and recommendation and make a final decision. The Compliance Tribunal's recommendation is not binding upon the President.
4. Either the decision of the Compliance Tribunal will be sustained or the proceeding will be returned to the Compliance Tribunal with specific objections.
5. The Compliance Tribunal will then reconsider, taking into account the stated objections and receiving new evidence, if necessary.
6. The Compliance Tribunal will once again report its findings and recommendations to the President.
7. The President will make a final decision regarding what action needs to be taken only after study of the Tribunal's reconsideration.
8. The President's decision is final and cannot be appealed.

APPENDIX C: Academic Misconduct Disciplinary Policy

I. General Policy

The preservation of freedom of discussion, inquiry, and expression is possible only in an environment in which the privileges of citizenship are protected and the obligations of citizenship are understood. Accordingly, the University has developed regulations and policies pertaining to students and to student organizations. Any student or organization violating an established policy or regulation of the University is subject to disciplinary action according to the provisions outlined [here and in these Codes of Student Conduct](#). Personal conduct on University-owned or University-controlled property or at University-sponsored events is subject to University jurisdiction. The University may also enforce its own disciplinary policy and procedures, regardless of where misconduct occurs, when personal or organizational conduct directly, seriously, or adversely interferes with or disrupts the educational missions, programs, or other functions of the University. In addition to the guidelines of conduct set forth elsewhere in the *Faculty Handbook* and other official University publications, [information regarding](#) acts of conduct for which disciplinary action may be taken and the disciplinary procedures which apply for the fair adjudication of alleged violations, follow.

II. Code of Academic Conduct

All students in attendance at The University of Alabama are expected to be honorable and observe standards of conduct appropriate to a community of scholars. The University of Alabama expects from its students a higher standard of conduct than the minimum required to avoid discipline. When enrolled at The University of Alabama, students are expected to abide by the Academic Honor pledge. Additionally, at the discretion of the course instructor, each student will be expected to sign an Honor Pledge.

The Academic Honor Pledge reads as follows: *I promise or affirm that I will not at any time be involved with cheating, plagiarism, fabrication, or misrepresentation while enrolled as a student at The University of Alabama. I have read the Academic Honor Code, which explains disciplinary procedures that will result from the aforementioned. I understand that violation of this code will result in penalties as severe as indefinite suspension from the University.*

III. Cases of Academic Misconduct

Academic misconduct by students includes all acts of dishonesty in any academic-related matter and any knowing or intentional help or attempt to help, or conspiracy to help, another student commit an act of academic dishonesty. Academic dishonesty includes, but is not limited to, each of the following acts when performed in any type of academic or academic-related matter, exercise, or activity.

1) Cheating: using or attempting to use unauthorized materials, information, study aids, or computer-related information.

2) Plagiarism: representing words, data, pictures, figures, works, ideas, computer programs or outputs or anything generated by someone else, as one's own.

Self-Plagiarism: resubmitting your own previously submitted work without proper citation and permission from the current instructor to whom the original work is subsequently submitted.

3) Fabrication: presenting as genuine any invented or falsified citation, data or material.

4) Misrepresentation: falsifying, altering, or misstating the contents of documents or other materials related to academic matters, including schedules, prerequisites, and transcripts.

Except in divisions that have an alternate academic misconduct policy that has been approved by the Provost, academic misconduct cases shall be resolved by the divisional academic misconduct monitor or the academic dean of the division in which the alleged action took place. Appeals from the monitor's decisions may be made to the academic dean; appeals from the academic dean's decisions may be made to the Office for Academic Affairs.

IV. Resolution of Academic Misconduct

A course instructor, or any other person(s), who has reasonable cause to believe a student has engaged in an act of academic misconduct shall report, immediately upon discovery, the matter to the divisional academic misconduct monitor (appointed by the academic dean) of the division within which the alleged misconduct occurred. The matter must be reported by the course instructor or department chair in a timely manner. In most cases, the academic misconduct monitor should receive the report within ~~two to~~ three weeks of the student's alleged act of misconduct. The instructor will take no other action in the matter until a decision has been reached by the monitor or the dean. When suspected incidents of academic misconduct occur in settings other than an academic division, the matter will be reported to and processed through the divisional academic misconduct monitor where oversight of the course occurs.

The course instructor should submit all evidence to the academic misconduct monitor for review. If any electronic device is confiscated by an instructor as part of the package of evidence presented to the monitor, the device will be returned promptly once pertinent information related to the accusation has been documented.

When a course instructor reports alleged academic misconduct by a student to an academic monitor, the academic monitor will attempt to notify the student via e-mail, phone or letter of a required meeting with the academic misconduct monitor. If initial attempts to communicate in these manners are unsuccessful, certified mail is recommended. If the student does not respond to the notice of the accusation of academic misconduct within two weeks from the date of such notice, a general hold will be placed on the student's university account. If the student does not respond to the notice of the accusation before the end of the semester in which the alleged academic misconduct occurred, the academic monitor will advise the course instructor to assign a grade of "Incomplete" to the student.

The academic monitor will promptly place a hold on the student's enrollment, indicating the student cannot drop the course. When such an accusation is made prior to the 10-week drop date,

the student will not be allowed to drop the course in which the academic misconduct is alleged to have occurred until the misconduct resolution process is complete. If the student is found not to have engaged in academic misconduct, the student will be allowed to drop that course even if the 10-week drop period has expired and the hold prevented ~~them~~ the student from dropping on time. If the student is found responsible for misconduct by the academic misconduct monitor, the ~~student~~ will not be allowed to drop the course at any time. A grade of "Incomplete" will be immediately assigned so the student cannot drop the course. At the end of the semester, or after the adjudication if the "Incomplete" award~~s~~ occurs after the end of the semester, the "Incomplete" will be replaced with the student's earned grade.

The monitor will discuss the circumstances involved with the course instructor and/or other appropriate person(s) and review any pertinent materials in order to determine if a reasonable basis exists for believing that academic misconduct may have been committed. If the monitor concludes that there is a reasonable basis for believing an act of academic misconduct may have been committed, the monitor will determine whether the student has been disciplined for any prior academic misconduct offense(s) and will arrange a conference with the student. This conference can be held electronically/virtually if the student is not available for an in-person meeting. The monitor may invite the course instructor to join the conference.

When a student is accused of academic misconduct, the monitor contacts the Office for Academic Affairs about any prior misconduct findings for that student before proceeding with the investigation. If prior offense(s) have occurred, the monitor will refer the case to the academic deans (or their designees) for resolution. "Second-offense accusations" presume resolution of first offenses at the college level (i.e., finding of guilt) prior to the second act. Multiple misconduct accusations, where the accusations have not been resolved at the college level, may result in a penalty more severe than is typical in first offenses, including indefinite suspension. For second-offense cases that are in progress at the beginning of a semester, a student will be allowed to enroll and continue through completion of semester even if the outcome of the accusation is suspension. If an academic misconduct case is underway during a student's final semester, the awarding of the degree may be dependent upon the resolution of the case.

At the conference, the student will be informed at the start that an issue of possible academic misconduct exists and will be given a copy of this Academic Misconduct Disciplinary Policy and will sign to acknowledge receipt of the policy. The monitor will call the student's attention to the following provisions:

- 1) The student is not required to make any statement at all regarding the matter under investigation.
- 2) The student may make a voluntary statement if he or she chooses.
- 3) The student has a right to present any evidence, supporting witnesses, and other information to the misconduct monitor.
- 4) The student has a right to be advised and accompanied by any one person of ~~his or her~~ the student's choosing choice.
- 5) The student is entitled to a recess in the conference for one week in order to take advantage of the rights listed in items 3 and 4.

At the conference, the student will be informed that options are available as to how the resolution of the charges will occur:

- 1) The matter can be dismissed by the monitor if evidence is presented that leads the monitor to conclude that a preponderance of evidence does not exist that the student engaged in an act of academic misconduct.
- 2) The matter can be concluded at the conference level and a penalty imposed if the student makes a voluntary written admission ~~that they engaged~~ of engaging in an act of academic misconduct. The student will be given written notice of the penalty. Copies of this notice will be given to the instructor and to the Office for Academic Affairs. If the penalty imposed by the monitor includes assignment of a grade, the course instructor must approve the specific grade before the grade can be assigned. If the course instructor does not approve the grade recommendation, the response will be treated as an appeal and forwarded on to the academic dean.
- 3) The matter will be forwarded to the academic dean:
 - if it is not dismissed by the monitor and the student does not make a written admission of academic misconduct;, or
 - if, within one week from the date the conference concludes, either the student or the course instructor appeals the decision of the monitor, including dismissal or penalty, and requests that there be further review.

V. Penalties for Academic Misconduct

Penalties for academic misconduct can range from a reprimand to a penalty as severe as suspension for a definite time or even indefinite suspension. Indefinite suspension normally requires a minimum of one semester. After one semester, students may appeal for reinstatement. Academic deans have the authority to impose the full range of penalties. Divisional academic misconduct monitors may impose penalties only after receiving a voluntary written confession. Misconduct monitors are authorized to impose penalties up to but not including suspension, and may impose penalties of suspension or indefinite suspension if authority to do so has been delegated by the academic dean. All persons who admit to or are found guilty of an academic offense for which a penalty less than an indefinite suspension is imposed will receive a penalty of indefinite suspension if they admit to or are found guilty of another offense of academic misconduct. In all cases that involve suspension as a penalty, the academic misconduct monitor will place a hold on the student's record to prevent further enrollment. The Office of the University Registrar will facilitate dropping any existing future enrollment.

A penalty of indefinite suspension is generally mandated for a finding of guilt on all second offenses. It is preferred the students who are indefinitely suspended due to a second offense sit out for one academic year, but one major semester (fall or spring) is generally the minimum requirement. The dean of the college ~~where-in which~~ the offense occurred should notify the student's home college of the indefinite suspension at the time of suspension. Additionally, the dean who suspends the student should consult with the dean of the student's home college in determining reinstatement. In cases that involve suspension as a penalty, the dean's office of the college ~~where-in which~~ the misconduct occurred will place a hold on the student's record to prevent further enrollment.

VI. Resolution by the Academic Dean

The dean will consider timely appeals from students or instructors who are not satisfied with the dismissal or the penalty imposed by the academic monitor. The dean will also make decisions concerning guilt and penalties for students who have not made an admission of misconduct.

Any matter not resolved by the misconduct monitor will be resolved by the academic dean. The dean may act alone or in conjunction with a standing divisional committee or an ad hoc committee appointed by the dean, but the dean shall make the decision. The academic dean will confer with the course instructor, the student, and any other appropriate persons, to discuss the matter in question. The dean may arrange an individual or group conference to discuss the matter. The student will be allowed to make a statement and to present evidence, witnesses, and other relevant materials; the student may be accompanied and advised by any one person the student chooses. This adviser, who may be an attorney, may privately consult with and advise the student, but may not question witnesses, make statements, or otherwise directly participate in the conference ~~discussing the matter~~. Any fees charged by the adviser are the sole responsibility of the student. The dean or committee may remove or dismiss a support ~~person~~people/advisers who becomes disruptive or ~~who does~~do not abide by the limitations on their participation. The dean will seek the advice of the course instructor prior to assigning a grade penalty. However, the dean is not obligated to follow the instructor's recommendation since a penalty is being assigned rather than an evaluation of academic work. Notice of the dean's decision will include a statement of the academic misconduct charges and will be sent to the student with copies to the instructor and other involved parties; the student or the instructor may appeal the dean's decision to the Office for Academic Affairs if the appeal is filed within 15 working days of the ~~mailing~~ date of mailing of the dean's decision. Appeals must be based on substantive grounds such as procedural errors, new evidence, or inconsistencies in penalties assigned. After 15 days, appeals are not accepted, and the penalties will be imposed.

Formatted: Not Highlight

No penalty will be imposed until:

- (1) the time for appeal has expired, or
- (2) a decision on the appeal has been reached.

~~The dean's decision(s) may be appealed to the Office for Academic Affairs within 15 working days of the mailing of the dean's decision(s). Appeals must be based on substantive grounds such as procedural errors, new evidence, or inconsistencies in penalties assigned. After 15 days, appeals are not accepted, and the penalties will be imposed.~~

Commented [GJ74]: Moved above the penalty section

VII. Appeal to Office for Academic Affairs

When an appeal is received by the Office for Academic Affairs, an official from that office will schedule a conference(s) with the student and other concerned parties to discuss the reasons for the appeal. If these meetings result in an agreeable solution to the matter, the appeal process will end. If no such solution is reached, the official from the Office for Academic Affairs will recommend to the Provost, giving reasons for the recommendation, whether the appeal should be heard or denied. The appeal will not be granted unless there are substantive grounds to support the appeal, such as procedural errors, new evidence that was not previously available, or

inconsistencies in the penalties assigned. If the Provost denies the appeal, the appeal process will end. If the appeal is to be heard, the official from the Office for Academic Affairs will convene a panel to resolve the issues that remain.

The panel will consist of a person designated by the Vice President for Student Life, a person designated by the Provost (not the official convening the panel), one student (appointed by the president of the SGA), and one course instructor (appointed by the president of the Faculty Senate). Both the student and the course instructor will come from the division holding jurisdiction for resolving the alleged misconduct if it is possible to find such people who have no prior connection with the case. In cases involving graduate students, the faculty and student members of the appeals panel should hold graduate faculty or graduate student status, respectively. The person designated by the Provost will serve as hearing administrator and will coordinate and preside at all meetings conducted to resolve the academic misconduct appeal.

The hearing by a panel is an administrative hearing, and the proceedings will be informal rather than those used in courts of law. The panel may admit any evidence that is of probative value in determining the issues, subject to the panel's judgment as to the relevance, credibility, and weight of the evidence. The panel may ask the parties to produce evidence on specific issues, may examine witnesses, and may call and examine its own witnesses. The party requesting the hearing (in most cases, the student) may be accompanied and advised by any one person ~~they choose~~ of the party's choosing.

This advisor, who may be an attorney, may privately consult with and advise the ~~the~~ client, but may not question witnesses, make statements, or otherwise directly participate in the conference by discussing the ~~matter~~ alleged misconduct; only the client may participate in the hearing in this manner. Any fees charged by the adviser are the sole responsibility of the party who invited the adviser. The person designated by the Provost may remove or dismiss an adviser who becomes disruptive or who does not abide by the participation ~~limitations on their participation~~. The panel will decide each of the issues raised in the appeal. The panel's decision will be final and will conclude the process insofar as the University is concerned. A decision contrary to the student's position must be supported by the votes of at least three of the four panel members. The panel will give written notice of its decision(s) to the student, the course instructor, the dean, and the Provost.

VIII. Records

Records documenting investigations and/or disciplinary actions taken against UA students charged with academic misconduct shall be maintained by the academic division for as long as required pursuant to the University's record retention schedule.

APPENDIX D: University-Wide Academic Grievance Procedures

I. Academic Grievances

A. A student academic grievance is broadly defined as a student complaint regarding an academic action taken by instructional or administrative personnel at The University of Alabama. An academic grievance may be filed by a student against university personnel including instructional personnel, administrators, or staff members at the University. Examples of academic grievances include, but are not limited to, allegations of unfairness in grading, alleged violation of a written or oral agreement with a student (e.g. course requirements for graduation), and alleged inconsistent applications of existing policies. For a protest of a final course grade or other final comprehensive evaluations to be considered, the protest must be based upon one or more of the following grounds and upon allegation that the ground or grounds cited influenced the grade assignment to the student's detriment:

1. Arithmetic or clerical error;
2. Arbitrariness, possibly including discrimination based ~~upon race, sex, religion, or national origin of the student~~ upon one's protected status as set forth in the University's Equal Opportunity, Non-Discrimination and Affirmative Action Policy Statement; or
3. Personal malice.

Grievances related to course grades normally should be filed during the semester in which the alleged action takes place, but such protest must be made not later than the last day of classes of the next succeeding regular semester. This grievance procedure is not available ~~in for~~ cases ~~where~~ ~~in which~~ a decision has been appealed, and ~~been~~ afforded a committee hearing, and the appeal has been denied.

Grievances related to course grades at the Hugh F. Culverhouse Jr. School of Law shall be resolved in accordance with the Law School's policies and procedures. Grievances related to course evaluations for medical students shall be resolved in accordance with The University of Alabama School of Medicine's policies.

B. A student must file a grievance in the academic department (academic department is a phrase that also refers to academic program or area, if these terms apply) of The University of Alabama in which the alleged action took place. Academic grievances shall be resolved by the department chair in the division where the grievance took place. Grievances concerning matters that are not within the jurisdiction of a particular academic division and grievances against the divisional academic dean must be resolved by the Provost. Grievances against the department chairperson must be resolved by the divisional academic dean. Appeals from the academic dean's decisions may also be made to the Provost.

II. Resolution by Department Chairperson

A. ~~A s~~Students who believes ~~that an~~ academic actions ~~haves~~ unjustly affected them may file a grievance with the department chairperson. The facts and circumstances that are bases for the academic grievance should be presented to the department chairperson in written form.

Commented [JG75]: <https://www.ua.edu/about/policies/files/EO%20Policy.pdf>

Commented [JG76]:

B. Within 15 working days of the receipt of the grievance, the department chairperson will respond, starting with scheduling a conference with the student who has brought the grievance. During the conference (which may be held electronically), the department chairperson will reissue the student a copy of the University-wide Academic Grievance Procedures, ascertain the circumstances involved, and review any materials or circumstances pertinent to the grievance to determine if there seems to be a reasonable or sound basis for the academic grievance. If the chairperson decides there may be a reasonable or sound basis for the academic grievance, or if the student chooses to file the grievance, then the department chairperson will arrange conferences with the student and other person(s) involved. These meetings may be individual or joint conferences as deemed appropriate by the department chair.

Prior to these conferences, the other person(s) involved will be given a copy of the written grievance and will be reissued a copy of the University-wide Academic Grievance Procedures. Both the student and other person(s) will be informed that the purpose of conferences scheduled by the department chairperson is to attempt to resolve the issue informally. Both parties will be informed that they have the right to present any evidence, supporting witnesses, or any other relevant information during these conferences.

C. At the beginning of these conferences, the department chairperson will inform the student and other person(s) involved that the purpose of these meetings is to attempt to resolve the grievances informally. The department chairperson will act as intermediary between the student and other individual(s) with whom the student has a dispute. The department chair makes no formal resolution in the matter and should not take any action regarding a grade or any other final disposition. If a mutually satisfactory resolution can be reached, the academic grievance is resolved.

D. If a resolution cannot be reached informally between the student and other person(s) involved, the matter will be forwarded to the academic dean to be resolved.

III. Resolution by Academic Dean

Any matter not resolved by the department chairperson's [mediation](#) will be resolved by the academic dean. Within 15 working days of receipt of the grievance, the dean will acknowledge the receipt and begin the resolution process. The dean may act alone or in conjunction with a standing divisional committee or an ad hoc committee appointed by the dean, but the dean will make the decision. The academic dean will arrange conferences with the faculty or staff member, student, and others, as may be appropriate, to discuss the matter in question. The student and other person(s) involved will be given an opportunity to make a statement, present evidence, witnesses, or materials pertinent to the academic grievance. The student may be accompanied and advised by any one person the student chooses. This adviser, who may be an attorney, may privately consult with and advise the student, but may not question witnesses, make statements, or otherwise directly participate in the conference discussing the matter. Any fees charged by the adviser are the sole responsibility of the student. The dean or committee may remove or dismiss a support person/adviser who becomes disruptive or who does not abide by [the participation limitations on their participation limits](#). The academic dean, after careful deliberation, will render a decision.

Notice of the dean's decision will be sent by certified mail to the student, with copies to the faculty or staff member and other involved parties. Either party may appeal the dean's decision to the Office for Academic Affairs if the appeal is filed within 15 working days of the ~~date of~~ mailing date of the dean's decision.

IV. Appeal

The dean's decision may be appealed by either party to the Office for Academic Affairs within 15 working days of the mailing date of the dean's decision. Appeals must be based on substantive grounds such as procedural errors, new information, or inconsistencies in the application of policies.

When an appeal is received by the Office for Academic Affairs, an official from that office will respond within 15 working days. That official will schedule a conference(s) with the concerned parties to discuss the reasons for the appeal. If meetings with the concerned parties result in an agreeable solution to the matter, the appeals s process will end. If no such solution is reached, the official from the Office for Academic Affairs will recommend to the Provost, giving reasons for the recommendation, whether the appeal should be heard or denied. If the Provost denies the appeal, the appeal process will end.

If the appeal is to be heard, the official from the Office for Academic Affairs will convene a panel to resolve the issues that remain. The panel will consist of a person designated by the vice president for Student Affairs, a person designated by the Provost (not the official convening the panel), one student (appointed by the president of the SGA), and two faculty members (appointed by the president of the Faculty Senate); both the student and the faculty member will come from the division holding jurisdiction for resolving the academic grievance, if it is possible to find such people who have no prior connection with the case. In cases involving graduate students, the faculty and student members of the appeals s panel should hold graduate faculty or graduate student status, respectively. The person designated by the Provost will serve as hearing administrator and will coordinate and preside at all meetings conducted to resolve the academic grievance appeal.

The hearing by a panel is an administrative hearing, and the proceedings will be informal rather than those used in courts of law. The panel may admit any evidence that is of probative value in determining the issues, subject to the panel's judgment as to the relevance, credibility, and weight of the evidence. The panel may ask the parties to produce evidence on specific issues, may examine witnesses, and may call and examine its own witnesses. Either party may be represented at the hearing by a person of his or her choice. This adviser, who may be an attorney, may privately consult with and advise the student, but may not question witnesses, make statements, or otherwise directly participate in the conference by discussing the matter in question. Any fees charged by the adviser are the sole responsibility of the hiring party. The dean or committee may remove or dismiss a support person/adviser who becomes disruptive or who does not abide by the participation limitations on their participation. If either any party is accompanied by an attorney, then a representative from the Office of the University Counsel may be present.

The panel will decide each of the issues raised in the appeal. The panel's decision will be final and will conclude the process insofar as the University is concerned. A decision must be supported by

the votes of at least three of the panel members. The panel will give written notice of its decision to the student, the faculty or staff member, the dean, and the Provost.

APPENDIX E: On Preventing Conflicts of Interest in Government-Sponsored Research at Universities

A Joint Statement of The Council of the American Association of University Professors and The American Council on Education December, 1964

The increasingly necessary and complex relationships among universities, government, and industry call for more intensive attention to standards of procedure and conduct in government-sponsored research. The clarification and application of such standards must be designed to serve the purposes and needs of the projects and the public interest involved in them and to protect the integrity of the cooperating institutions as agencies of higher education.

The government and institutions of higher education, as the contracting parties, have an obligation to see that adequate standards and procedures are developed and applied; to inform one another of their respective requirements; and to assure that all individuals participating in their respective behalves are informed of and apply the standards and procedures that are so developed.

Consulting relationships between University staff members and industry serve the interests of research and education in the university. Likewise, the transfer of technical knowledge and skill from the University to industry contributes to technological advance. Such relationships are desirable, but certain potential hazards should be recognized.

A. Conflict Situations

1. Favoring of outside interests. When a University staff member (administrator, faculty member, professional staff member, or employee) undertaking or engaging in government-sponsored work has a significant financial interest in, or a consulting arrangement with, a private business concern, it is important to avoid actual or apparent conflicts of interest between his or her government-sponsored university research obligations and his or her outside interests and other obligations. Situations in or from which conflicts of interest may arise are the following:

- (a) Undertaking or orientation of the staff member's University research to serve the research or other needs of the private firm without disclosure of such undertaking or orientation to the University and to the sponsoring agency;
- (b) Purchase of major equipment, instruments, materials, or other items for University research from the private firm in which the staff member has the interest without disclosure of such interest;
- (c) Transmission to the private firm or other use for personal gain of government-sponsored work products, results, materials, records, or information that are not made generally available. (This would not necessarily preclude appropriate licensing arrangements for inventions, or consulting on the basis of government-sponsored research results where

there is significant additional work by the staff member independent of his or her government-sponsored research);

(d) Use for personal gain or other unauthorized use of privileged information acquired in connection with the staff member's government-sponsored activities. (The term "privileged information" includes, but is not limited to, medical, personnel, or security records of individuals; anticipated material requirements or price actions; possible new sites for government operations; and knowledge of forthcoming programs or of selection of contractors or subcontractors in advance of official announcements);

(e) Negotiation or influence upon the negotiation of contracts relating to the staff member's government-sponsored research between the University and private organizations with which he or she has consulting or other significant relationships;

(f) Acceptance of gratuities or special favors from private organizations with which the University does or may conduct business in connection with a government-sponsored research project, or extension of gratuities or special favors to employees of the sponsoring government agency, under circumstances that might reasonably be interpreted as an attempt to influence the recipients in the conduct of their duties.

2. Distribution of effort. There are competing demands on the energies of a faculty member (for example, research, teaching, committee work, outside consulting). The way in which he or she divides his or her effort among these various functions does not raise ethical questions unless the government agency supporting his or her research is misled in its understanding of the amount of intellectual effort he or she is actually devoting to the research in question. A system of precise time accounting is incompatible with the inherent character of the work of a faculty member, since the various functions he or she performs are closely interrelated and do not conform to any meaningful division of a standard work week. On the other hand, if the research agreement contemplates that a staff member will devote a certain fraction of his or her effort to the government-sponsored research, or he or she agrees to assume responsibility in relation to such research, a demonstrable relationship between the indicated effort or responsibility and the actual extent of his or her involvement is to be expected. Each university, therefore, should through joint consultation of administration and faculty develop procedures to assure that proposals are responsibly made and complied with.

3. Consulting for government agencies or their contractors. When the staff member engaged in government-sponsored research also serves as a consultant to a federal agency, his or her conduct is subject to the provisions of the [Conflict of Interest Statutes](#) (18 U.S.C. §§ 202-209 as amended) and the President's memorandum of May 2, 1963, Preventing Conflicts of Interest on the Part of Special Government Employees. When he or she consults for one or more government contractors, or prospective contractors, in the same technical field as his research project, care must be taken to avoid giving advice that may be of questionable objectivity because of its possible bearing on his other interests. In undertaking and performing consulting services, he or she should make full disclosure of such interests to the University and to the contractor insofar as they may appear to relate to the work at the University or for the contractor. Conflict of interest problems could arise, for example, in the participation of a staff member of the University in an evaluation for the

government agency or its contractor of some technical aspect of the work of another organization with which he or she has a consulting or employment relationship or a significant financial interest, or in an evaluation of a competitor to such other organization.

B. University Responsibility

Each university participating in government-sponsored research should make known to the sponsoring government agencies.

1. The steps it is taking to assure an understanding on the part of the University administration and staff members of the possible conflicts of interest or other problems that may develop in the foregoing types of situations, and

2. The organizational and administrative actions it has taken, or is taking, to avoid such problems, including:

(a) Accounting procedures to be used to assure government funds are expended for the purposes for which they have been provided, and that all services that are required in return for these funds are supplied;

(b) Procedures that enable it to be aware of the outside professional work of staff members participating in government-sponsored research, if such outside work relates in any way to the government-sponsored research;

(c) The formulation of standards to guide the individual University staff members in governing their conduct in relation to outside interests that might raise questions of conflicts of interest; and

(d) The provision within the University of an informed source of advice and guidance to its staff members for advance consultation on questions they wish to raise concerning the problems that may or do develop as a result of their outside financial or consulting interests, as they relate to their participation in government-sponsored University research. The University may wish to discuss such problems with the contracting officer or other appropriate government official in those cases that appear to raise questions regarding conflicts of interest.

The above process of disclosure and consultation is the obligation assumed by the University when it accepts government funds for research. The process must, of course, be carried out in a manner that does not infringe on the legitimate freedoms and flexibility of action of the University and its staff members that have traditionally characterized a University. It is desirable that standards and procedures of the kind discussed be formulated and administered by members of the University community themselves, through their joint initiative and responsibility, for it is they who are the best judges of the conditions that can most effectively stimulate the search for knowledge and preserve the requirements of academic freedom. Experience indicates that such standards and procedures should be developed and specified by joint administrative-faculty action.

Appendix F: Policy on Conflict of Interest/Financial Disclosure in Research and Other Sponsored Programs

I. Background

The University of Alabama (UA) realizes that actual or potential conflicts of interest may occur in the normal course of research and other sponsored activities. The University has developed this policy relating to conflicts of interest applicable to all UA investigators and the policy applies to all sponsored programs, including federal, state and local government; industry; or not-for-profit sponsors. The policy also covers UA intellectual property licensed to an entity in which a UA investigator owns an interest or serves as an employee, officer, or member of the board of directors, regardless of the source of funding. The policy is to be administered in conjunction with laws and policies setting forth standards of conduct, including [Title 42 Code of Federal Regulations \(CFR\) Part 50, Subpart F](#); [Title 45 CFR Part 94](#); the [Ethics Act of the State of Alabama](#); and University of Alabama *Faculty Handbook*, Appendix E, On Preventing Conflicts of Interest in Government-Sponsored Research at Universities.

Commented [MOA77]: Internal link

The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services/Public Health Service (PHS), which includes the National Institutes of Health and the National Science Foundation (NSF), have regulations promoting objectivity in research by requiring that a university applying for grants or cooperative agreements for research ensure that there is no reasonable expectation that the design, conduct, and reporting of the research to be funded pursuant to the application will be biased by any significant financial interest of the investigator or other personnel with decision-making capacity working on the research and that the research environment is one that promotes faithful attention to high ethical standards. In further support of this expectation, the federal government has issued agency-wide requirements (PHS and NSF) that policies and procedures regarding financial conflicts of interest be issued on research and other sponsored programs. Other federal agencies do not have specific requirements related to conflicts of interest; however, there is an expectation that universities develop policies and procedures that ensure objectivity when conducting research. The University has adopted this Policy on Conflict of Interest/Financial Disclosure in Research and Other Sponsored Programs (hereinafter referred to as “Policy on Conflict of Interest”) to prevent or resolve, through management and/or mitigation, real or apparent conflicts that may exist in relation to sponsored activities undertaken by UA investigators through a sponsored agreement.

II. Policy Statement Relating to Conflicts of Interest

It is the purpose of this policy to ensure no proposed, awarded, or ongoing UA research or sponsored program (hereinafter referred to collectively as “sponsored activities”) shall be biased by significant financial interest, as defined below, or by a conflicting commitment of UA investigators responsible for the design, conduct, or reporting of that sponsored activity.

All UA faculty or staff who serve as principal investigators, co-principal investigators, project directors, co-project directors or in a decision-making capacity on a grant, contract, cooperative agreement or other sponsored agreement, who have significant financial interest with an entity will disclose that ownership to allow a review of potential conflicts of interest, conflicts of commitment, conflicts regarding employment, and/or use of graduate students in the company.

This policy also applies to any faculty, staff [member](#), student, fellow, trainee, or other individual who, under the aegis of UA or pursuant to the review and approval of UA's Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects (IRB), conducts research involving human subjects.

Prior to seeking UA approvals for submission of sponsored activities proposal or application, each investigator, as defined ~~under definitions~~ below, must have submitted to UA's director and research compliance officer, Office for Research Compliance, a UA Statement of Financial Interest form certifying ~~he/she~~ [the investigator](#) has no conflict of interest or listing all significant financial interests of the investigator and the investigator's immediate family, as defined ~~under definitions~~ below. Each such financial disclosure statement must be updated during the course of the award either on an annual basis, or as new reportable significant financial interests are obtained.

The Office for Research Compliance will maintain confidential records of all: 1) investigator disclosures of significant financial interests (whether or not the interest was deemed a financial conflict of interest); and 2) reviews of investigator disclosures, including any actions taken regarding them. Records will be maintained for at least three years from the date of submission of final expenditure reports. In the case of faculty or staff ownership of a company, all financial disclosures and all actions taken with respect to each significant financial interest will be held for the life of the company plus a number of years as determined under [UA Records Management and Policy and Procedures](#).

This policy establishes guidelines for the appropriate structuring of relationships with industry and other outside ventures to prevent conflict with previously established responsibilities to UA. Investigators are expected to disclose all significant financial interests related to [his/her/their](#) institutional responsibilities. Institutional responsibilities include activities such as research, research consultation, teaching, professional practice, institutional committee memberships, and service on panels such as institutional review boards or data and safety monitoring boards. It is not the intent of this policy to eliminate or prohibit all situations involving potential conflicts of interest. Rather, the policy is intended to enable investigators to recognize situations that may pose a conflict of interest, to provide processes for reporting these situations to UA's research compliance officer and for working with the Office for Research Compliance to manage these situations. This policy is intended to maintain the professional autonomy of researchers inherent in the self-regulation of sponsored activities.

In the event that an investigator participates in sponsored activity subject to this policy and the activity is being simultaneously supported by an organization that has a commercial interest in the outcome of the sponsored project, the sponsored activity supported by such organization must be provided through UA. Any direct compensation or payment to the investigator under that support must be disclosed, regardless of the amount. This policy will provide assurance to the investigators, UA, and, most importantly, the public, that relationships with industry and for-profit entities have been examined and will be conducted in a manner consistent with UA and public values.

UA believes that, with clear guidelines and principles and with appropriate supervision and monitoring, it is possible for interaction between industry and UA to take place in a manner that is consistent with the highest traditions of scientific research and in a way that energizes scientific creativity.

III. Definitions

- A. **University Conflict of Interest Committee (UCIC).** This university committee serves as a resource with respect to matters involving conflicts of interest and the identification, management, mitigation, or elimination of specific conflicts of interest. The committee will also provide oversight for implementation of the Policy on Conflict of Interest and recommend to the Vice president for Research and Economic Development and Provost all future changes/ modifications to the policy.
- B. **Entity.** Entity means any domestic or foreign, public or private, organization (excluding a federal agency) from which an investigator (and spouse and dependent children) receives remuneration or in which any person has an ownership or equity interest.
- C. **Immediate Family.** Immediate family refers to the investigator's spouse and dependent children.
- D. **Investigator.** Investigator means the principal investigator or project director, or any other person, regardless of title or position, who is **responsible** for the design, conduct, or reporting of sponsored activities funded, or proposed for funding, by an external sponsor.
- E. **Institutional Responsibilities.** An investigator's professional responsibilities are those conducted on behalf of the institution and as defined by the institution in its policy on conflict of interest, which may include, for example, activities such as research, research consultation, teaching, professional practice, institutional committee memberships, and service on panels such as institutional review boards or data and safety monitoring boards.
- F. **Research Compliance Officer (RCO).** The RCO directs the UA Office for Research Compliance and will report to the responsible University official (RUO) on all matters concerning this policy. The RCO will be the first point of contact for investigators on issues relating to conflict of interest and will perform the initial review of the statement of financial interest. The RCO will also coordinate the review of this statement with the University's Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects. The RCO will process all paperwork related to conflict of interest disclosures and, if appropriate, conflict of interest management plans. The RCO is responsible for keeping the appropriate external funding agency informed if UA finds it is unable to satisfactorily manage an actual or potential conflict of interest for any activity in which that agency requires that it be notified ~~in such an instance.~~
- G. **Sponsored Activities.** Sponsored Activities means research, training and instructional projects involving funds, materials, or other compensation from external sources.
- H. **Research.** Research means a systematic investigation, including research development, testing, and evaluation, designed to develop or contribute to generalizable knowledge.

- I. **Responsible University Official (RUO).** The responsible University official will be the vice president for Research and Economic Development.
- J. **Significant Financial Interest.** Significant financial interest means anything of actual or potential monetary value (such as remuneration or equity interests) that appears to be reasonably related to the investigator's institutional responsibilities. *Remuneration* includes salary or other payments for services (e.g., consulting, honoraria, paid authorship). *Equity interests* include stock, stock options, or other ownership interests. Significant financial interests include, but are not limited to:
- a) Remuneration received from a publicly traded entity in the last 12 months preceding disclosure **and** the value of any equity interest in the entity at the time of disclosure, if the aggregate value exceeds \$5,000;
 - b) Remuneration received from a non-publicly traded entity in the last 12 months preceding disclosure if the aggregate amount exceeds \$5,000; **or** when the investigator (or ~~his/her~~the investigator's spouse or dependents) holds any equity interest;
 - c) Intellectual property rights (e.g., patents, copyrights, licensing agreements, and royalties from such rights) upon receipt of income related to these; and
 - d) Reimbursed or sponsored travel.

Significant financial interest does not include any of the following:

- 1) Equity interest in a publicly traded entity that, when aggregated for an investigator and the investigator's immediate family, does not exceed \$5,000 in value as determined through reference to public prices or other reasonable measures of fair market value. (NOTE: When the proposed project requires the use of human subjects and approval from the Institutional Review Board, these monetary thresholds do not apply. In such cases, the disclosure threshold is any amount above \$0.);
- 2) Salary, royalties, or other payments that, when aggregated for an investigator and the investigator's immediate family, are not expected to exceed \$5,000 during the next 12-month period;
- 3) Income from investment vehicles, such as mutual funds and retirement accounts, as long as the investigator does not directly control the investment decisions made in these vehicles;
- 4) Salary or other remuneration received from UA, including salary received from external sources through sponsored agreements administered by UA;
- 5) Standard royalties received for published scholarly work or other professional writings;
- 6) Income from seminars, lectures, or teaching engagements, and service on advisory or review panels for federal, state, or local government agencies, institutions of

higher education as defined at 20 U.S.C. 1001(a), ~~an~~ academic teaching hospitals, ~~a~~ medical centers, or ~~a~~ research institutes that ~~is~~ are affiliated with ~~an~~ institutions of higher education;

- 7) Income from services on advisory committees or review panels for governmental entities, public or non-profit entities;
- 8) Travel that is reimbursed or sponsored by ~~a~~ federal, state, or local government agencies, ~~an~~ institutions of higher education as defined at 20 U.S.C. 1001(a), ~~an~~ academic teaching hospitals, ~~a~~ medical centers, or ~~a~~ research institutes that are ~~is~~ affiliated with ~~an~~ institutions of higher education or reimbursed or sponsored by an entity where the combined monetary value is less than \$5,000 for all categories. The University will determine if any travel requires further investigation, including determination or disclosure of the monetary value;
- 9) Intellectual property rights assigned to UA and agreements to share in royalties related to such rights.

K. Use of Human Subjects in Research. Human subject means a living individual about whom an investigator conducting research obtains data through intervention or interaction with the individual or obtains data through identifiable private information. If a potential conflict of interest exists and human subjects are involved in the research, the investigator will need to obtain the approval of UA's Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects.

IV. Conflicts of Interest

A potential or actual conflict of interest exists when an investigator or an investigator's immediate family member has a significant financial interest, as defined above, in an external funding source and that interest could directly and significantly affect decision-making in the design, conduct, or reporting of externally funded sponsored ~~activity~~, educational, or service activities performed on behalf of the University.

V. Procedures

- A. All investigators must certify to the University's research compliance officer (RCO) knowledge of and compliance with UA's policy for promoting objectivity in sponsored activities by identifying, managing, and reducing or eliminating conflicts of interest as outlined herein (the statement of financial interest). This statement of financial interest form also requires similar information about members of the investigator's immediate family. Statements must include detailed supplemental information if an investigator marks any "yes" box on the form.
- B. Investigators must disclose to the RCO on an annual and ad hoc basis new situations in which significant financial interests are obtained and that may raise questions of conflicts of interest as soon as such situations develop.

- C. The RCO will review the statement of financial interest to determine whether a potential for a conflict of interest exists. A potential conflict of interest exists when the RCO reasonably determines that a significant financial interest could affect the design, conduct, or reporting of the sponsored activities in question. If it is determined that no conflict exists, the RCO will sign the statement, seek and obtain the signature of the responsible university official (RUO), and notify the Office for Sponsored Programs. If the RCO determines there may be a potential for a conflict of interest covered by this policy, the RCO will forward this determination, along with the submitted materials, to the RUO.
- D. Should the RUO agree that the situation represents a potential for a conflict of interest and recommend development of a conflict-of-interest management plan, the RCO shall work with the investigator to develop the plan to manage, reduce, or eliminate the actual or potential conflict of interest. The plan will then be submitted to the University Conflict of Interest Committee (UCIC). The UCIC may recommend approval of the plan as developed or may recommend modification of the plan.
- E. Examples of conditions or restrictions that might be part of the plan to manage, reduce, or eliminate actual or potential conflicts of interest include:
- 1) Public disclosure of significant financial interests;
 - 2) Monitoring of the sponsored activity by independent reviewers;
 - 3) Modification of the sponsored activity plan;
 - 4) Disqualification from participation in all or a portion of the sponsored activity in question;
 - 5) Divestiture of significant financial interests;
 - 6) Severance of relationships that create actual or potential conflicts.
- F. The plan will then be forwarded by the UCIC to the RUO. The RUO may approve the proposed plan or may return the plan to the UCIC with suggested modifications. Once a plan approved by the UCIC and the RUO is developed, the research compliance officer will work with the investigator on the implementation and management of the plan.
- G. If the management recommendation involves divestiture of financial interests or severance of relationships that create actual or potential conflicts, the RUO will confer with the Provost. The Provost has the authority to require the divestiture of significant financial interests and/or the severance of relationships that create actual or potential conflicts.
- H. Prior to expenditure of any funds under an externally funded or sponsored activity, the Office for Research Compliance will conduct a review of disclosures of all senior/key

personnel as described above and develop and implement a management plan in each case where a conflict exists.

- I. If an investigator is new to the project or an existing investigator discloses a new significant financial interest during the course of the ongoing project, the RCO shall within 60 days:
(a) conduct a review of the disclosure as outlined above and (b) develop and implement, on at least an interim basis, a management plan if a conflict exists. If necessary, additional interim measures may be implemented prior to completion of the review.

VI. Appeals

Should an investigator wish to appeal a decision made by the University Conflict of Interest Committee (UCIC), ~~he/she~~the investigator may present the appeal to the responsible university official (RUO). The RUO will confer with the Provost. In such cases, the Provost shall review all the materials relating to the action in question and shall discuss the findings/decisions with the investigator, chair of the UCIC, and RUO. After review, the Provost shall make a final decision as to the action. All decisions ~~of~~by the Provost of an appeal under this policy are final.

VII. Investigator Responsibilities

University of Alabama investigators involved in sponsored activities shall be responsible for:

- A. Reading, understanding, and following this policy;
- B. Completion of the required FCOI training at least every four years or when the UA Policy on Conflict of Interest is revised and affects the investigators' requirements;
- C. Disclosing financial interests to the research compliance officer (RCO) by completing, signing, and submitting the statement of financial interest on or before a specified date or before submission of the grant/contract application as follows:
 - HHS/PHS and NSF. The disclosure should be filed prior to submission of the grant or contract proposal/application.
 - All other sponsored activities. The disclosure should be filed upon the notice of award and prior to expenditure of funds.
- D. Updating the statement with the RCO annually so that the statement on file is current and accurate at all times when an award is pending or in force;
- E. Updating the statement with the RCO as changes occur (within 30 days of discovering or acquiring a new or increased financial interest) so that the statement on file is current and accurate at all times when an award is pending or in force;
- F. To the extent possible, ensuring that funded sponsored activities carried out through subgrantees, contractors, or collaborators complies with UA's Policy on Conflict of Interest

or that these entities provide assurance of compliance with all federal regulations and state law.

VIII. Reporting

- A.** For externally funded or sponsored activities, the University must report any conflicting interest to the funding agency prior to expending any funds, and any interest identified as conflicting subsequent to the initial report must be reported within 60 days of that identification, as required. Further, the University agrees to make conflict of interest information available, upon request, to any external funding agency potentially or actually affected by this information. If it is determined that an investigator has biased externally funded or sponsored activities, the University will promptly notify the funding agency of the corrective action taken or to be taken. In the case where a project to evaluate a drug, medical device, or treatment was conducted by an investigator with a conflict that was not disclosed or managed, the University will require the investigator to disclose the conflict in each public presentation of the results of the sponsored activity.
- B.** For PHS-funded research/sponsored activities, the University will provide to the PHS awarding component an annual FCOI report that addresses the status of the FCOI and any changes to the management plan for the duration of the project period (including extensions, with or without funds). The report will specify whether the FCOI is still being managed or explain why it no longer exists.
- C.** Information on an identified Financial Conflict of Interest (FCOI) reported by the institution to the funding agency will include:
- Grant/contract project number;
 - Project director/principal investigator (PD/PI) or contact PD/PI;
 - Name of investigator with the FCOI;
 - Name of the entity with which the investigator has an FCOI;
 - Nature of the FCOI (e.g., equity, consulting fees, travel reimbursement, honoraria);
 - Value of the financial interest (\$0-4,999; \$5,000-9,999; \$10,000-19,999; amounts between \$20,000-\$100,000 by increments of \$20,000; amounts above \$100,000 by increments of \$50,000, or statement that a value cannot be readily determined);
 - A description of how the financial interest relates to the research/sponsored activity and the basis for the institution's determination that the financial interest conflicts with such activity;
 - A description of key elements of the institution's management plan, including: (a) role and principal duties of the investigator in the research/sponsored activity; (b) conditions of the management plan; (c) how the management plan is designed to safeguard objectivity in the research/sponsored activity; (d) confirmation of the investigator's agreement to the plan; (e) how the management plan will be monitored to ensure compliance; and (f) other information as needed.
- D.** Whenever an FCOI is not identified or managed in a timely manner due to nondisclosure by the investigator, lack of institutional review or management of the FCOI, or failure by the investigator to comply with a management plan, the University is required, within

120 days of the noncompliance, to conduct a retrospective review of the investigator's activities and the externally funded research/sponsored activity. The institution will maintain documentation of the following elements from its review: (a) project number; (b) project title; (c) project director/principal investigator or contact PD/PI; (d) name of investigator with the FCOI; (e) reason for the retrospective review; (f) detailed methodology used for the retrospective review, such as methodology of the review process, composition of the review panel, and documents reviewed; (g) findings of the review; and (h) conclusions of the review. Only in cases where bias is found, the institution will be required to notify the funding agency promptly and submit a report to the agency. The report will address the impact of the bias on the sponsored project and the actions the institution has taken, or will take, to eliminate or mitigate the effect of the bias.

IX. Enforcement

UA anticipates that its investigators will comply fully and in a timely manner with this policy. Instances of deliberate breach, including: (i) failure to submit the required statement of financial interest or updates thereof; (ii) failure to provide additional information requested by the research compliance officer (RCO), University Conflict of Interest Committee (UCIC), or the Office for Research; (iii) knowingly filing an incomplete, erroneous, or misleading statement; (iv) knowingly violating applicable laws or UA policies or procedures; or (v) failure to comply with prescribed conditions or restrictions that have been imposed pursuant to this policy, may subject the investigator to disciplinary action under UA policies or procedures. Such action could result in a formal reprimand, non-renewal of appointment, termination of appointment for good cause, or any other enforcement action mandated by a funding agency.

The University shall, within 120 days of the University's determination of non-compliance, complete a retrospective review of the investigator's activities and the sponsored project to determine if there was bias in the design, conduct, or reporting of such sponsored activity. The University will document the retrospective review.

X. Conflict of Interest Committee

- A. Composition of the University Conflict of Interest Committee.** The University Conflict of Interest Committee (UCIC) shall consist of four faculty members appointed by the Provost/vice president for Academic Affairs, who are experienced with the administration of federal grants and contracts; the associate deans for research in the College of Arts and Sciences, College of Community Health Sciences, College of Commerce and Business Administration, and College of Engineering; and a representative of the Faculty Senate. The research compliance officer and a member of the University's Office of Counsel will serve as liaison (non-voting) members. The chair of the committee will be appointed by the Provost/vice president for Academic Affairs from the faculty representatives on the committee. The appointed members of the committee shall serve three-year, staggered terms.
- B. Responsibilities of the University Conflict of Interest Committee.** The UCIC serves as a resource with respect to matters involving conflicts of interest and the identification,

management, mitigation or elimination of specific conflicts of interest. The committee will work with the investigators and research compliance officer to resolve potential or apparent conflicts of interest by implementing reasonable controls that are commensurate with the potential for conflict.

The committee also will provide oversight for implementation of the Policy on Conflict of Interest and recommend to the vice president for [Research and Economic Development](#) and Provost all future changes/modifications to the policy.

XI. Use of Human Subjects

Any faculty, staff, student, fellow, trainee, administrator, volunteer, or other individual who, under the aegis of UA or pursuant to the review and approval of UA's Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects (IRB), conducts research involving human subjects must complete and submit a statement of financial interest for review by the research compliance officer. The statement must be updated as circumstances of the investigator or ~~his/her~~[the investigator's](#) spouse or dependent children change.

XII. Subrecipient Institutions

UA will incorporate, as part of a written agreement, terms that establish whether the UA Policy on Conflict of Interest or that of the subrecipient will apply to subrecipient investigators and include time periods to meet disclosure and/or financial conflict of interest reporting requirements.

Subrecipient institutions that rely on their financial conflict of interest policies must report identified financial conflict of interests to UA within 30 days of identification of the conflict of interest to provide sufficient time for UA to report the financial conflict of interest to the funding agency to meet reporting obligations.

XIII. Public Accessibility

Information concerning identified financial conflicts of interests held by investigators will be made publicly accessible by a written response from the Office for Research Compliance to any requestor within five business days of a request.

XIV. Training Requirements

Each investigator (refer to Section III. D.) must complete training prior to engaging in sponsored activity related to any funded grant or contract at least every four years and immediately under the designated circumstances:

- Institutional FCOI policies change in a manner that affects investigator requirements;
- An investigator is new to an institution;
- An institution finds an investigator non-compliant with the institution's FCOI policy or management plan.

APPENDIX G: The University of Alabama Patent Policy

In view of the far-reaching research in the various divisions of the University, it is inevitable that new discoveries and inventions will be made. The University of Alabama recognizes that the protection and control provided under the patent laws may have to be invoked to obtain the greatest public benefit and usefulness from the products of scientific research. It is recognized that employees of the University need assistance in determining and evaluating patentability and in prosecuting patent applicants of inventions made by them.

Many such inventions involve equities beyond those of the inventors themselves because the use of University facilities, the assignment of duties as a condition of employment, and the use of research funds with contractual obligations regarding patent rights give rise to complicated questions concerning rights and equities of all concerned. Therefore, in order to appraise relative rights and equities of all parties concerned, to facilitate patent applications, licensing, equitable distribution of any royalties or other financial returns, to provide a uniform procedure in patent matters, and to serve the public benefit and interest, The Board of Trustees of The University of Alabama (herein called University), on recommendation of the President of the University, authorizes the establishment of a Patent Committee and the adoption of the patent policy as set forth herein.

1. The President of the University shall appoint a University Patent Committee composed of members representative of the entire University to administer the patent policy and to designate a patent administrator to administer the policies of the committee. This committee and the patent administrator shall serve at the pleasure of, and their actions shall be subject to, the approval and right of review of the President of the University.
2. Subject to the approval of the President of the University, the Patent Committee shall have power to adopt such rules and procedures as are deemed appropriate; to determine the interest of the University in all reported inventions; to cause all reported inventions to be investigated in order to evaluate the interest of the University in said invention (with due consideration given to the achievement of the inventor and the financial returns to the inventor and the University); to authorize the release of patent rights when the Patent Committee decides that the University has no interest in the invention or decides that the University does not desire to pursue the patenting or development of the patent; to authorize applications for patents on reported inventions and to retain patent counsel, in association with the Office of Counsel, for matters pertaining to patent applications; and to make recommendations to the President of the University with regard to the prosecution and protection thereof and any litigation that may arise therefrom. The Patent Committee shall also have power to do all things appropriate for the investigation of patent rights and for the exploitation of patent rights by direct exercise, exclusive or nonexclusive licensing, and make recommendations to the President of the University with regard to partial or total assignment or sale thereof. All questions concerning the methods by which the patent shall be commercially exploited shall be decided by the Patent Committee.
3. This patent policy of the University, as amended from time to time, shall be deemed to be a condition of employment and contractual obligation, both while employed and thereafter, of every employee, including student employees, and a condition of enrollment and

attendance and contractual obligation, both while in attendance and thereafter, by every student ~~at each campus.~~

4. Any invention or discovery (1) that is the result of research carried on by, or under the direction of, an employee of the University and/or having the costs thereof paid from funds provided by, under the control of, or administered by the University, or (2) that is made by an employee of the University and that relates to the employee's field of work, or (3) that has been developed in whole or in part by the utilization of resources or facilities belonging to the University, shall be the property of the University. The applicability of the above stated criteria to any invention or discovery will be determined at the sole discretion of the President of the University or ~~their~~ the President's designee.
5. As a condition of their employment or their continued employment by, or enrollment at, the University, faculty members, employees, and students agree that they are contractually bound by this patent policy as implemented by the University. They shall report to the officer or to any non-profit organization so designated by the President of the University to manage and commercialize such inventions and discoveries, any invention or discovery that such faculty member, employee, or student has conceived, discovered, developed, and/or reduced to practice by them or under their direction at any time following their initial appointment by, employment by, or enrollment with, the University. All inventions and discoveries that meet the criteria of paragraph 4 above are hereby assigned to the University for the benefit of the University. Faculty members, employees, and students do not have the authority to assign rights in such inventions and discoveries to third parties. The President of the University is authorized to further assign any invention or discovery the University is deemed to own pursuant to this policy to a designated non-profit organization established for the benefit of the University. Said assignment shall be conditioned on full compliance with this policy, regulations promulgated hereunder by The Board of Trustees or by the President of the University, and appropriate state and federal law.
6. The Patent Committee shall cause each invention or discovery to be investigated in order to determine the interest of the University and, if the Patent Committee determines that the University has an interest in the invention that it desires to pursue, it shall undertake to obtain a patent on the invention. In determining whether ~~or not~~ the University has an interest in the invention, the Committee shall consider the benefits that might accrue to both the University and the inventor. The patent administrator and the Patent Committee are responsible for prompt action for the purpose of protecting the property rights of the inventor and the University.
7. If it is determined that the invention or discovery is one that is owned by the University pursuant to this policy, but is one in which the University has no interest in retaining ownership, the University (or the non-profit organization to which an invention may have been assigned in accordance with the terms of this policy) may, but is under no obligation to, release its ownership rights to the inventor(s) on terms and conditions determined by the President or ~~their~~ the President's designee, subject to any third-party rights.

8. As further consideration for the assignment of rights set forth herein, the University agrees to pay annually to the inventor^s, their heirs and assigns, fifty percent (50%) of the royalties, fees, or other financial returns received by the University from such invention after a deduction of fifteen percent (15%) thereof for overhead costs, plus a deduction of costs of patenting and protection of patent rights. Recoupment of any unusual expenses paid by the University or the inventor may be allowed by the Patent Committee on patents assigned to the University or to a University-designated non-profit organization established for its benefit.
9. It is understood that many research contracts, grants, and consulting agreements from or with the United States government or its agencies, corporations, or individuals contain ownership of intellectual property clauses that may be at variance with this policy but which, if agreed to, require compliance. Such documents that are at variance with this policy may be referred to the appropriate designated officer of the campus for recommendation prior to approval.
10. This statement of policy shall not apply to copyrights except as they may pertain to inventions covered by this policy. A separate copyright policy exists. See Chapter 3, Section XIV.

Commented [MOA78]: Internal link

APPENDIX H: Policy on Academic Misconduct in Scholarly Activities

I. Introduction

A. General Policy

The University of Alabama (UA or University) has developed these policies and procedures for responding to allegations of misconduct in research and scholarship based on the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, [42 CFR Parts 50](#) and [93](#), Public Health Service Policies on Research Misconduct; Final Rules, May 17, 2005.

The University of Alabama strives to create a research climate that promotes faithful adherence to high ethical standards in the conduct of research and scholarship without inhibiting the productivity and creativity of persons involved in research and/or scholarship. Misconduct or fraud in research or scholarship is an offense that damages not only the reputation of those involved, but also that of the institution and the entire educational community.

B. Scope

This policy and the associated procedures apply to all UA employees and any person paid by, under the control of, or affiliated with UA at the time the alleged misconduct occurred. Such individuals include, but are not limited to, officials, tenured and untenured faculty, teaching and support staff, researchers, research coordinators, technicians, postdoctoral and other fellows, students, volunteers, and agents engaged in research or scholarship. It also applies to any research, research-training, or research-related grant, contract, cooperative agreement, or other sponsored project, and all scholarship activities.

The policy and associated procedures will be followed when the vice president for Research and Economic Development receives an allegation of possible misconduct in research or scholarship. Particular circumstances in an individual case may dictate variation from the normal procedure. Any change from normal procedures must ensure fair treatment to the subject of the inquiry or investigation. The Provost and vice president for Research and Economic Development must approve in advance any significant deviation from these policies and procedures.

Should the requirements of a granting agency be different from those of this policy, the granting agency's requirements shall be considered a part of this policy and incorporated in the investigation of possible misconduct involving a grant from the agency. The vice president for Research and Economic Development shall ensure that the University complies with the requirements of each granting agency, including requirements that the University report to the agency concerning allegations and/or findings of misconduct.

This policy does not apply to UA students accused of academic misconduct. The Academic Misconduct Disciplinary Policy is [Appendix C](#) in the *Faculty Handbook*.

Commented [MOA79]: Internal link

II. Definitions

Allegation means any written or oral statement or other indication of possible misconduct in research or scholarship made to an institutional official.

Complainant means a person who makes an allegation of misconduct in research or scholarship.

Evidence means any document, tangible item, or testimony offered or obtained during a misconduct-in-research-or-scholarship proceeding that tends to prove or disprove the existence of an alleged fact.

Fabrication is intentionally creating data or results and recording or reporting them without a basis in fact.

Falsification is manipulating research materials, equipment, or processes, or changing or omitting data or results such that the research is not accurately represented in the research record.

Good Faith, as applied to a complainant or witness, means having a belief in the truth of one's allegation or testimony that a reasonable person in the complainant or witness's position could have based on the information known to the complainant or witness at the time. An allegation of research or scholarly misconduct or cooperation with a research or scholarly misconduct proceeding is not in good faith if made or done with knowing or reckless disregard for information that would negate the allegation or testimony. Good faith, as applied to panel members, means cooperating with the research or scholarship misconduct proceeding by carrying out the duties assigned impartially for the purpose of helping UA meet its responsibilities. ~~A~~Panel members ~~do~~ not act in good faith if their acts or omissions on the panel are dishonest or influenced by unresolved personal, professional, or financial conflicts of interest with those involved in the research or scholarship misconduct proceeding.

Inquiry means preliminary information-gathering and fact-finding to determine whether an allegation or apparent instance of misconduct in research or scholarship warrants an investigation.

Inquiry Panel is a panel appointed by the vice president for Research and Economic Development to determine whether an allegation or apparent instance of misconduct in research or scholarship warrants an investigation.

Investigation means the formal examination and evaluation of all relevant facts to determine if misconduct in research or scholarship has occurred and, if so, to determine the responsible person and the seriousness of the misconduct.

Investigation Panel is a panel of faculty and administrators appointed by the Provost with sufficient expertise to conduct the investigation.

Misconduct in Research or Scholarship means intentional, knowing, or reckless fabrication, falsification, plagiarism, or other practices that are a significant departure from those that are commonly accepted within the relevant research or academic community in proposing, performing, ~~or reviewing~~ or reporting research or scholarship ~~or in reporting research and~~

[scholarship](#). Misconduct in research or scholarship does not include honest error or differences of opinion.

Office of Research Integrity or ORI means the office to which the secretary of Health and Human Services (HHS) has delegated responsibility for addressing research integrity and misconduct issues relating to Public Health Service supported activities.

Plagiarism is the appropriation of another person's ideas, processes, results, or words without giving credit appropriate to the context and discipline.

Research or Scholarship Record means the record of data or results that embody the facts resulting from scientific inquiry, such as any data, document, computer file, or any other written or non-written account or object that reasonably may be expected to provide evidence or information regarding the proposed, conducted, or reported research or scholarship that constitutes the subject of an allegation of misconduct in research or scholarship. A research or scholarship record includes, but is not limited to, grant or contract applications, whether funded or non-funded; grant or contract progress and other reports; laboratory notebooks; documents; publications; notes; correspondence; videos; photographs; X-ray film; slides; biological materials; computer files and printouts; manuscripts and publications; equipment use logs; laboratory procurement records; animal facility records; human and animal subject protocols; consent forms; medical charts; and patient research files.

Respondent means the person against whom an allegation of misconduct in research or scholarship is directed or the person whose actions are the subject of an inquiry or investigation. There can be more than one respondent in any inquiry or investigation.

III. Rights and Responsibilities

A. Vice President for Research and Economic Development

The vice president for Research and Economic Development will receive any written or oral allegations made by the complainant and all draft and final reports issued by the inquiry or investigation panels. The vice president for Research and Economic Development will consult with the appropriate dean or director to determine whether to initially convene an Inquiry Panel and shall appoint members to serve on a panel if necessary. After receiving the report of an Inquiry Panel, the vice president for Research and Economic Development will decide if an Investigation Panel should be appointed.

B. Provost

The Provost will appoint the Investigation Panel and, based on the outcome of the investigation, make the final determination on allegations of misconduct in research or scholarship. The Provost will determine whether or not to impose sanctions or whether to take other appropriate administrative actions.

C. Research/Scholarship Integrity Officer (RSIO)

The University research compliance officer will serve as the research/scholarship integrity officer who will have primary responsibility for implementation of the procedures set forth in this document. Should the position of University research compliance officer be vacant at the time of an allegation, an acting research/scholarship integrity officer shall be appointed. Neither the vice president for Research and Economic Development nor the Provost may serve as research/scholarship integrity officer.

The RSIO will assist the inquiry and investigation panels and all institutional personnel in complying with these procedures and with applicable standards imposed by the University, the government or external funding sources. The RSIO is also responsible for maintaining files of all documents and evidence and for the confidentiality and the security of the files. The RSIO will report to the vice president for Research and Economic Development or the Provost the status of an inquiry or investigation. This person ~~also~~ will ~~also~~ report, if applicable, to ORI or other federal agencies, as appropriate, and in accordance with applicable federal regulations, and keep ORI or other federal agencies, if applicable, apprised of any developments during the course of the inquiry or investigation that may affect current or potential funding or other federal funding for the individual(s) under investigation or that is needed ~~to know~~ to ensure appropriate use of federal funds and otherwise protect the public interest. The RSIO will work with the vice president for Research and Economic Development to ensure that confidentiality is maintained to the extent possible under the circumstances of each inquiry or investigation.

D. Complainant

The complainant is responsible for making allegations in good faith, maintaining confidentiality, and cooperating with an inquiry or investigation. The complainant will have an opportunity to testify before the Investigation Panel, to be protected from retaliation, and to be informed of the outcome of the investigation. Also, if the RSIO has determined the complainant may be able to provide additional pertinent information on any portions of the draft report, these portions may be given to the complainant for comment.

E. Respondent

The respondent will be informed of the allegations when an inquiry or investigation is opened and will be notified in writing of the final determinations and resulting actions. The respondent also will have the opportunity to be interviewed by and to present evidence to the Investigation Panel, to review the draft inquiry and investigation reports, and to submit written comments during the designated time period. Any comments will be attached to the respective reports.

The respondent is responsible for maintaining confidentiality and cooperating with the conduct of an inquiry or investigation. If the respondent is found not to have committed misconduct in research or scholarship, the respondent has the right to receive reasonable institutional assistance in restoring the individual's ~~his or her~~ professional reputation.

IV. General Policies and Principles

A. Responsibility to Report Misconduct in Research or Scholarship

All employees or individuals associated with the University should initially report in writing or orally [any](#) observed, suspected, or apparent misconduct in research or scholarship to the RSIO or Vice President for Research and Economic Development, in accordance with this policy. If an inquiry or investigation is warranted, the allegations by the complainant shall be made in writing.

If an individual is unsure whether an incident falls within the definition of misconduct in research or scholarship, [he/she/this person](#) may contact the vice president for Research and Economic Development or RSIO to discuss the suspected misconduct informally. If the circumstances described by the individual do not meet the definition of misconduct in research or scholarship, the vice president for Research and Economic Development or RSIO may refer the individual or allegation to other offices or officials with responsibility for resolving the problem. At any time, an employee may have discussions and consultations about concerns of possible misconduct with a department chair, unit head, dean, RSIO, vice president for Research and Economic Development, or the Provost and will be counseled about appropriate procedures for reporting allegations. All University officials are under a duty to report alleged misconduct to the vice president for Research and Economic Development and to maintain confidentiality.

B. Evidentiary Standards

The following evidentiary standards apply to findings made under this policy:

- Misconduct in research or scholarship shall be proven by a preponderance of the evidence.
- UA has the burden of proof for making a finding of research or scholarship misconduct. The destruction, absence of, or respondent's failure to provide research or scholarship records adequately documenting the questioned research or scholarship is evidence of misconduct in research or scholarship when UA establishes by the preponderance of the evidence that: 1) the respondent intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly had research or scholarship records and destroyed them; or 2) the respondent had the opportunity to maintain the records but did not do so; or 3) the respondent maintained the records and failed to produce them in a timely manner; and 4) the respondent's conduct constitutes a significant departure from accepted practices of the relevant research community.
- The respondent has the burden of going forward with and the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, any and all affirmative defenses raised. In determining whether UA has carried the burden of proof imposed by this policy, the panels shall give due consideration to admissible, credible evidence of honest error or difference of opinion presented by the respondent.
- The respondent has the burden of going forward with and proving by a preponderance of the evidence any mitigating factors that are relevant to a decision to impose administrative actions following a misconduct proceeding.

C. Protecting the Complainant, Witnesses, and Panel Members

Individuals who bring allegations of misconduct and those who participate in inquiries or investigations as witnesses or panel members will not be retaliated against in the terms and

conditions of their employment or other status at the institution. The vice president for Research and Economic Development will review instances of alleged retaliation for appropriate action. Employees should immediately report any alleged or apparent retaliation to the Vice President for Research and Economic Development.

To the extent possible under the circumstances of each inquiry or investigation, UA will protect the privacy of those who, in good faith, report misconduct ~~in good faith to the extent possible under the circumstances of each inquiry or investigation.~~ For example, if the complainant requests anonymity, UA will make an effort to honor the request during the allegation assessment or inquiry within applicable policies and regulations and state and local laws, if any. The complainant will be advised that if the matter is referred to an Inquiry Panel or Investigation Panel and the complainant's testimony is required, anonymity may no longer be guaranteed. The University will undertake diligent efforts to protect the positions and reputations of those persons who, in good faith, make allegations.

If a complainant chooses to bring legal counsel to an interview or meeting on the case ~~he/she~~ the complainant must provide the RSIO with a minimum of five working days' notice so that the University's counsel may also be present. Legal counsel may not examine witnesses or otherwise participate in the inquiry or investigation fact-finding process.

D. Protecting the Respondent

Inquiries and investigations will be conducted in a manner that will ensure fair treatment to the respondent(s) in the inquiry or investigation and confidentiality to the extent possible without compromising public health and safety or a thorough inquiry or investigation. The respondent may continue ~~their~~ research activities throughout the inquiry and investigation phases, except in those cases where federal or other governmental policies prevent continuation.

A respondent may consult with legal counsel or a non-lawyer personal adviser (who is not a principal or witness in the case) to seek advice and may bring the counsel or personal adviser to interviews or meetings on the case. Legal counsel may not examine witnesses or otherwise participate in the inquiry or investigation fact-finding process. If a respondent chooses to bring legal counsel or a personal advisor to an interview or meeting with the Inquiry Panel or Investigation Panel, the respondent ~~he/she~~ must provide the RSIO with a minimum of five (5) working days' notice so that the University's counsel may be present.

E. Cooperation with Inquiries and Investigations

UA faculty, staff, and students will cooperate with the RSIO, vice president for Research and Economic Development, Provost, and other institutional officials in the review of allegations and the conduct of inquiries and investigations. UA faculty, staff, and students have an obligation to provide to the RSIO, Inquiry Panel, Investigation Panel, or other institutional officials relevant evidence, including documents and other information pertaining to the research or scholarship record and relating to the misconduct allegations, ~~to the RSIO, Inquiry and Investigation Panels, or other institutional officials.~~

V. Assessment of Allegations

Upon receiving an allegation of misconduct in research or scholarship, the vice president for Research and Economic Development will, in consultation with the appropriate dean or equivalent administrator, immediately assess the allegation and determine whether the allegation falls within the definition of misconduct in research or scholarship and whether it is sufficiently timely, credible, and specific so that potential evidence of misconduct may be identified. An inquiry must be conducted if these criteria are met.

The assessment period should be brief, preferably concluded within a week. In conducting the assessment, the vice president for Research and Economic Development and dean or equivalent administrator need not interview the complainant, respondent, or other witnesses, or gather data beyond any that may have been submitted with the allegation, except as necessary to determine whether the allegation is sufficiently credible and specific so that potential evidence of research misconduct may be identified.

VI. CONDUCTING THE INQUIRY

A. Initiation of the Inquiry Process

Following the preliminary assessment, if the Vice President for Research and Economic Development, in consultation with the appropriate dean or equivalent administrator, determines the allegation falls within the definition of misconduct in research or scholarship and is sufficiently credible and specific so that potential evidence of misconduct in research or scholarship may be identified, the vice president for Research and Economic Development will initiate the inquiry process. In initiating the inquiry, the vice president for Research and Economic Development should identify as clearly as possible the original allegation and any related issues that should be evaluated.

B. Purpose of the Inquiry Process

The purpose of the inquiry is to make a preliminary evaluation of the available evidence to determine whether there is sufficient evidence of possible misconduct to warrant an investigation. Such a determination does not require a full review of all relevant evidence. The purpose of the inquiry is not to reach a final conclusion about whether misconduct definitely occurred or who was responsible. The Inquiry Panel will proceed under [Section VI.G, Inquiry Process](#), in this document. The findings of the inquiry must be set forth in an inquiry report.

Commented [MOA80]: Internal link

If additional information becomes available that substantially changes the subject matter of the inquiry or would suggest additional respondents, the Inquiry Panel will notify the Vice President for Research and Economic Development, who will determine the appropriate course of action.

C. Appointment of the Inquiry Panel

The Vice President for Research and Economic Development, in consultation with the appropriate dean or [their dean's](#) designee and other institutional officials as appropriate, will appoint an Inquiry

Panel within 15 working days of the initiation of the inquiry. The Inquiry Panel should consist of a minimum of three individuals, all of whom do not have real or apparent unresolved conflicts of interest in the case, are unbiased, and have the necessary expertise to evaluate the evidence and issues related to the allegation(s), to interview the principals and key witnesses, and to conduct the inquiry. These individuals may be scientists, subject matter experts, administrators, lawyers, or other qualified persons. At least a majority of the panel members shall be from within the institution. The vice president for Research and Economic Development will select one member to serve as chair of the Inquiry Panel. The RSIO shall facilitate the activities of the Inquiry Panel.

D. Notice to Respondent

The vice president for Research and Economic Development will make a reasonable effort to locate the respondent using the last addresses reported by the respondent, personnel and retirement records, and publicly available database records. The vice president for Research and Economic Development will notify the respondent by certified mail of the allegations ~~against him/her~~ and the composition of panel membership at least seven working days before the inquiry begins. The respondent may submit, within five working days of transmittal of notification, a written objection ~~to panel composition, based on alleged bias or conflict of interest,~~ to the vice president for Research and Economic Development ~~on bias or conflict of interest of panel composition.~~ The vice president for Research and Economic Development will determine whether to replace the challenged member with a qualified substitute.

E. Sequestration of the Research Records

At the time of or before beginning an inquiry, the vice president for Research and Economic Development shall notify the RSIO to take all reasonable and practical steps to obtain custody of all research records and evidence needed to conduct the research or scholarship misconduct proceeding, inventory the records and evidence, and sequester them in a secure manner, except that where the research records or evidence encompass scientific instruments shared by a number of users, In the latter case, custody may be limited to copies of the data or evidence on such instruments, so long as those copies are substantially equivalent to the evidentiary value of the instruments. However, in the case of accusations involving federal funding, records will be sequestered in accordance with federal agency policies and procedures. The respondent will be provided with copies of all research records sequestered as part of the process or will be provided with supervised access to sequestered records for which copies cannot be made.

F. Charge to the Inquiry Panel and the First Meeting

The vice president for Research and Economic Development will prepare a charge for the Inquiry Panel that describes the allegations and any related issues identified during the allegation assessment. The charge will state that the purpose of the inquiry is not to determine whether misconduct definitely occurred or who was responsible, but rather to make a preliminary evaluation of the evidence in order to determine whether there is sufficient evidence of possible misconduct to warrant an investigation.

At the Inquiry Panel's first meeting, the RSIO will review the charge with the panel, discuss the allegations, any related issues, and the appropriate procedures for conducting the inquiry, assist the panel with organizing plans for the inquiry, and answer any questions raised by the panel.

G. Inquiry Process

The Inquiry Panel will examine relevant research and/or scholarship records and related materials. Since the purpose of an inquiry is to conduct an initial review of the evidence to determine whether to conduct an investigation, an inquiry does not require a full review of all the evidence related to the allegation. The Inquiry Panel may interview the complainant, respondent, and/or key witnesses, but this is not required as part of the inquiry.

An Inquiry Panel's purpose is to decide if an allegation warrants an investigation. An investigation is warranted if there is:

- A reasonable basis for concluding that the allegation falls within the definition of research or scholarship misconduct; and
- Preliminary information-gathering and preliminary fact-finding from inquiry indicates that the allegation may have substance.

VII. The Inquiry Report

A. Elements of the Inquiry Report

A written inquiry report must be prepared by the Inquiry Panel that includes, but is not limited to, the following information:

- The name and position of the respondent;
- A description of the allegations of research or scholarship misconduct;
- A description of federal support (if applicable), including grant numbers, grant applications, contracts, and publications listing federal support;
- The basis for recommending that the alleged actions warrant an investigation or do not warrant an investigation; and,
- Any comments on the report by the respondent or the complainant.

This report shall be prepared by the Inquiry Panel chair and submitted by the Inquiry Panel chair to the RSIO, who will forward the report to the Vice President for Research and Economic Development.

B. Comments on the Draft Report by the Respondent

The RSIO will provide the respondent with a copy of the draft inquiry report for comment. Notification for comments will be sent by the RSIO to the respondent via certified mail using the respondent's address identified as described in [Section VI. D.](#) If the certified mail is returned to the RSIO as undeliverable, but was mailed to the address identified as described in [Section VI. D.](#), this will be noted and the process will continue.

Commented [MOA81]: Internal link

Commented [MOA82]: Internal link

C. Confidentiality

In distributing the draft report, the RSIO will inform the respondent of the confidentiality under which the draft report is made available and may establish reasonable conditions to ensure such confidentiality. For example, the RSIO may request the respondent sign a confidentiality statement or come to the RSIO's office to review the report.

D. Receipt of Comments

Within 15 working days of transmission of the draft report, the respondent will provide written comments, if any, to the RSIO, who will forward them to the Inquiry Panel. Any comments the respondent submits on the draft report will become part of the final inquiry report and record. Based on the comments, the Inquiry Panel may revise the report as appropriate.

E. Final Report, Inquiry Decision and Notification

The RSIO will transmit to the vice president for Research and Economic Development the final report. The vice president for Research and Economic Development will review the report and make the determination of whether findings from the inquiry provide sufficient evidence of possible misconduct to justify conducting an investigation. The inquiry is formally completed when the vice president for Research and Economic Development makes this determination, which should be made within five working days of receipt of the report. Any extension of this period will be based on good cause and recorded in the inquiry file.

The vice president for Research and Economic Development will notify in writing the respondent, the complainant, and all appropriate institutional officials of the decision.

F. Time Limit for Completing the Inquiry Report

The Inquiry Panel will normally complete the inquiry and submit its report in writing to the vice president for Research and Economic Development no more than 60 calendar days following the initiation of the Inquiry Panel, unless the vice president for Research and Economic Development approves an extension for good cause. If the vice president for Research and Economic Development approves an extension, the reason for the extension will be entered into the records of the case and the report. The respondent and complainant also will be notified of the extension.

G. Record Retention

All documentation and records of the inquiry must be kept for at least seven years after the termination of the inquiry. This includes documentation and records if the decision is not to investigate. Such documentation and records must be available to ORI, as appropriate, and must be kept sufficiently detailed to permit a later assessment, by ORI or another legal entity, of the reasons why UA chose to conduct or not to conduct an investigation.

VIII. Conducting the Investigation

A. Initiation and Purpose of the Investigation

After determination is made that an investigation is warranted, the Provost will initiate the investigation process, which must begin within 30 calendar days. The purpose of the investigation is to explore in detail the allegations, to examine the evidence in depth, and to determine specifically whether misconduct has been committed, by whom, and to what extent. The findings of the investigation will be set forth in a report. A finding of misconduct in research or scholarship requires that:

- There be a significant departure from accepted practices of the relevant research community;
- The misconduct was committed intentionally, or knowingly, or recklessly; and
- The allegation has been proven by a preponderance of the evidence.

B. Appointment of the Investigation Panel

The Provost may appoint the Inquiry Panel as the Investigation Panel or may appoint a new panel for the purpose of conducting the investigation. The Investigation Panel will be appointed and will normally meet within 30 calendar days of the completion of the inquiry. The Investigation Panel should consist of at least three individuals, all of whom do not have real or apparent unresolved conflicts of interest and have the necessary expertise to evaluate the evidence and issues related to the allegations, to interview the principals and key witnesses, and to conduct the investigation. Individuals appointed to the Investigation Panel may be scientists, administrators, subject matter experts, lawyers, or other qualified persons. At least a majority of the panel members shall be from within the institution. The Provost will select one member to serve as chair of the Investigation Panel. The RSIO shall facilitate the activities of the Investigation Panel.

C. Notice to Respondent

The Provost will notify the respondent in writing of the allegations and the composition of panel membership. Such notification will be within a reasonable amount of time after determining that an investigation is warranted, but before the investigation begins. The respondent may submit to the Provost within five working days of transmittal of notification, a written objection to panel appointees on the basis of bias or conflict of interest. The Provost will determine whether to replace the challenged member with a qualified substitute.

D. Sequestration of the Research Records

To the extent ~~that it is the~~ RSIO has not already done so at the allegation or inquiry stages, the RSIO will immediately sequester -research and/or scholarship records and evidence needed to conduct the research and/or scholarship proceeding, inventory the records and evidence, and sequester them in a secure manner, except that where the research records or evidence encompass scientific instruments shared by a number of users. In the latter case, custody may be limited to copies of the data or evidence ~~on such instruments~~, so long as those copies are substantially equivalent to the

evidentiary value of the [instruments originals](#). Whenever possible, UA must take custody of the records:

- Before or at the time it notifies the respondent; and,
- Whenever additional items become known or relevant to the investigation.

The respondent will be provided with copies of all research records sequestered as part of the process or will be provided with supervised access to sequestered records for which copies cannot be made.

E. Charge to the Panel and the First Meeting

The Provost will define the subject matter of the investigation in a written charge to the panel that describes the allegations and related issues identified during the inquiry, defines the misconduct the respondent is alleged to have committed, and identifies the name of the respondent. The charge will state that the panel is to evaluate the evidence and testimony of the respondent, complainant, and key witnesses to determine whether, based on a preponderance of the evidence, misconduct in research or scholarship occurred and, if so, to what extent, who was responsible, and its seriousness. The charge of the Investigation Panel will also be to recommend, if the respondent(s) is found to have committed misconduct in research or scholarship, a course of institutional administrative action the University should follow (See Section XI).

Commented [MOA83]: Internal link

At the Investigation Panel's first meeting, the RSIO will review the charge with the panel, discuss the allegations, any related issues, and the appropriate procedures for conducting the investigation, assist the panel with organizing plans for the investigation, and answer any questions raised by the panel.

During the investigation, if additional information becomes available that substantially changes the subject matter of the investigation or would suggest additional respondents, the panel will notify the RSIO, who will consult with the Provost to determine the appropriate course of action.

F. Investigation Process

The investigation will normally involve examination of all documentation including, but not necessarily limited to, relevant research records, computer files, proposals, manuscripts, publications, correspondence, memoranda, and notes of telephone calls. Whenever possible, the panel should interview the complainant(s), the respondents(s), and other individuals who might have information regarding aspects of the allegations. All interviews will be transcribed or summarized. Summaries or transcripts of the interviews should be prepared, provided to the interviewed party for comment or revision, and included as part of the investigatory file. The Investigation Panel will evaluate the evidence and testimony of the respondent, complainant, and key witnesses to determine whether, based on a preponderance of the evidence, misconduct in research and/or scholarship has occurred and, if so, to what extent, who was responsible, and its seriousness.

The Investigation Panel will use diligent efforts to ensure that the investigation is thorough and sufficiently documented and includes examination of all research records and evidence to reach a decision on the merits of the allegations. The Investigation Panel will take reasonable steps to ensure an impartial and unbiased investigation, to the maximum extent practicable and shall pursue diligently all significant issues and leads ~~discovered that are considered~~ relevant to the investigation and will continue the investigation to completion.

G. Time

The Investigation Panel shall normally complete the investigation within 120 calendar days of beginning it, including conducting the investigation, preparing the report of findings and providing the draft report for comment. If the panel is unable to complete the investigation in 120 days, the panel chair will ask the Provost for an extension. If the investigation involves NIH funding, the RSIO will send a request to ORI asking for an extension.

IX. The Investigation Report

A. Elements of the Investigation Report

The investigation report must be in writing and include the following:

- A description of the nature of the allegations;
- A description of the specific allegations of misconduct in research or scholarship for consideration in the investigation;
- A description, if federal funds are involved, of the research or scholarship activity under which funding was received, including any grant numbers, grant applications, contracts, and publications listing federal government support. (If PHS funding is involved, the report must list any current support or known applications or proposals for support that the respondent has pending with PHS and identify PHS support and non-PHS support.);
- Identification and summary of the research or scholarship records and evidence reviewed and/or evidence taken into custody but not reviewed;
- A statement of findings that lists each separate allegation of misconduct in research or scholarship identified during the investigation and that provides a finding as to whether misconduct in research or scholarship was falsification, fabrication, or plagiarism and if it was intentional, knowing or in reckless disregard;
- Summarize the facts and the analysis that support the conclusion and consider the merits of any reasonable explanation by the respondent;
- Identify whether any publications need correction or retraction;
- Identify the person(s) responsible for the misconduct; and,
- Recommend actions to be taken by the Provost (See Section XI).

Commented [MOA84]: Internal link

B. Comments on the Draft Report

The RSIO will provide the respondent with a copy of the draft investigation report for comment and, concurrently, a copy of, or supervised access to, the evidence on which the report is based. Comments of the respondent on the draft report, if any, must be submitted in writing within

30 working days of the date the draft investigation report was sent by the RSIO via certified mail to the respondent. If the certified mail is returned to the RSIO as undeliverable but was mailed to the last address known by the University of the respondent, this will be noted and the process will continue. The respondent's comments, if any, must be included and considered in the final report.

The RSIO may provide the complainant with either a copy of the draft investigation report or relevant portions of the report, as determined by the panel. If the panel chooses to seek comments of the complainant on the draft report or relevant portions of it, the complainant will be asked to submit comments in writing within 30 working days of the date the draft investigation report or relevant portions were sent by the RSIO via certified mail to the complainant. If the certified mail is returned to the RSIO as undeliverable but was mailed to the last address known by the University of the complainant, this will be noted and the process will continue.

In distributing the draft report or relevant portions to the respondent or complainant, the RSIO will inform the recipients of the confidentiality under which the draft report is made available and may establish reasonable conditions to ensure such confidentiality. For example, the RSIO may request the recipient to sign a confidentiality statement or to come to [the RSIO's](#) office to review the report.

C. Transmittal of the Final Investigation Report

After comments have been received and the necessary changes have been made to the draft report, the Investigation Panel chair will prepare and transmit the final report, with attachments, including the respondent's or, if applicable, the complainant's comments, to the Provost through the RSIO.

D. Acceptance of Final Report

The Provost will make the final determination as whether to accept the investigation report, its findings, and the recommended institutional administrative actions outlined but not limited to [Section XI, Institutional Administrative Actions](#), in this document. If a decision is rendered that is different from that of the Investigation Panel, the Provost will explain in writing the basis for rendering the decision. This explanation will be transmitted to the RSIO, Vice President for Research and Economic Development, Investigation Panel and respondent. If appropriate, the explanation will be transmitted, along with the report, to the appropriate federal agency. The Provost's explanation should be consistent with the University's definition of misconduct in research and scholarship, UA's policies and procedures, and the evidence reviewed and analyzed by the Investigation Panel. The Provost may also return the report to the Investigation Panel with a request for further fact-finding or analysis. The Provost's determination, together with the Investigation Panel's report, constitutes the final investigation report.

When a final decision on the case has been reached, the Provost will notify both the respondent and the complainant in writing. In addition, the Provost will determine whether law enforcement agencies, professional societies, professional licensing boards, editors of journals in which reports may have been published, collaborators of the respondent in the work, or other relevant parties should be notified of the outcome of the case. The RSIO is responsible for ensuring compliance with all notification requirements of funding or sponsoring agencies.

Commented [MOA85]: Internal link

X. Special Requirements for Reporting to the Federal Government

A. Reporting Requirements

Federal Policy on Research Misconduct ~~and Public Health Service Policies on Research Misconduct~~ issued by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, [42 CFR Parts 50](#) and [93](#) requires that federal agencies and research institutions share responsibility for the research process and work together in identifying and reporting research misconduct related to PHS grants and contracts.

It is in cooperation with federal policy that UA implements the following requirements when federal funds are involved in the misconduct inquiry or investigation.

If U.S Public Health Service (PHS) funding is involved, UA will follow the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, [42 CFR Parts 50](#) and [93](#), Public Health Service Policies on Research Misconduct (final rules, May 17, 2005). UA's decision to initiate an investigation must be reported in writing to the director of ORI, on or before the date the investigation begins. At a minimum, the notification should include the name of the person(s) against whom the allegations have been made, the general nature of the allegation as it relates to the PHS definition of scientific misconduct, and the PHS applications or grant number(s) involved.

ORI must also be notified of the final outcome of the investigation and must be provided with the following:

- A copy of the investigation report, including all attachments and any appeals;
- Information concerning the final institutional action, including whether UA found misconduct and if so, who committed the misconduct;
- A statement of whether UA accepts the finding of the Investigation Panel;
- Institutional administrative actions that describe any pending or completed administrative actions against the respondent; and
- [Explanation of a](#)Any significant variations from the provisions of the institutional policies and procedures ~~should be explained in any reports submitted to ORI.~~

If federal agencies are involved that do not follow ORI policy and procedures, the misconduct will be reported in accordance with the sponsoring agency's printed policies and procedures. If required by a federal agency, the RSIO shall notify a federal agency of the results of inquiries or investigations.

B. Termination and Extension of PHS-related Inquiry or Investigation

If UA plans to terminate an inquiry or investigation for any reason without completing all relevant requirements of the PHS regulations, the RSIO will submit a report of the planned termination to ORI, including a description of the reasons for the proposed termination.

If the institution determines that it will not be able to complete the investigation within 120 calendar days, the RSIO will submit to ORI a written request for an extension that explains the delay, reports on the progress to date, estimates the date of completion of the report, and describes other necessary steps to be taken. If the request is granted, the RSIO will file periodic progress reports as requested by the ORI.

C. Working with ORI

When PHS funding or applications for funding are involved and an admission of misconduct in research is made, the RSIO will contact ORI for consultation and advice. Normally, the individual making the admission will be asked to sign a statement attesting to the occurrence and extent of misconduct. When the case involves PHS funds, the institution cannot accept an admission of scientific misconduct as a basis for closing a case or not undertaking an investigation without prior approval from ORI.

The RSIO will notify ORI at any stage of the inquiry or investigation if:

- the health or safety of the public is at risk, including an immediate need to protect animal or human subjects;
- there is an immediate need to protect federal resources or interests;
- research activities should be suspended;
- federal action is needed to protect the interests of the person(s) making the allegations or of the individual(s) who is the subject of the allegations as well as their co-investigators and associates, if any, and others involved in the misconduct proceedings;
- it is probable that the alleged incident is going to be reported publicly; or
- there is a reasonable indication of possible violations of civil or criminal law. In this instance, the institution must inform ORI within 24 hours of obtaining that information.

XI. Institutional Administrative Actions

UA will take appropriate administrative actions against individuals when an allegation of misconduct in research or scholarship has been substantiated. If the Provost determines that the alleged misconduct is substantiated by the findings, ~~he/she~~[the Provost](#) will decide the appropriate actions to be taken. The actions may include, but are not limited to, the following:

- withdrawal or correction of all pending or published abstracts and papers emanating from the research or scholarship where misconduct was found;
- removal of the responsible person from the particular project;
- letter of reprimand;
- probation;
- suspension;
- salary reduction;
- initiation of steps leading to possible rank reduction;
- termination of employment; and/or
- restitution of funds, as appropriate.

XII. Other Considerations

A. Termination of Institutional Employment or Resignation Prior to Completing Inquiry or Investigation

The termination of the respondent's institutional employment, by resignation or otherwise, before or after an allegation of possible misconduct in research or scholarship has been reported, will not preclude or terminate the misconduct inquiry or investigation.

If the respondent, without admitting to the misconduct, elects to resign prior to the initiation of an inquiry, but after an allegation has been reported, or during an inquiry or investigation, the inquiry or investigation will proceed. If the respondent refuses to participate in the process after resignation, the panel will use its best efforts to reach a conclusion concerning the allegations, noting in its report the respondent's failure to cooperate and ~~is the~~ effect of this non-cooperation on the panel's review of ~~all the~~ evidence.

B. Restoration of the Respondent's Reputation

If UA finds no misconduct ~~has~~ occurred, the vice president for Research and Economic Development will undertake, after consulting with the respondent, reasonable efforts to restore the respondent's reputation. If the case involves PHS funding ORI must concur with UA that no misconduct has occurred before reasonable efforts to restore the respondent's reputation can take place. Depending on the particular circumstances, the vice president for Research and Economic Development may notify those individuals aware of or involved in the investigation of the final outcome, publicizing the final outcome in forums in which the allegation of misconduct was previously publicized, or removing all reference to the misconduct allegation from the respondent's personnel file. Any institutional actions to restore the respondent's reputation must first be approved by the Provost.

C. Protection of the Complainant, Witnesses, and Panel Members

The vice president for Research and Economic Development will undertake reasonable efforts to protect the positions and reputations of good faith complainants, witnesses, and panel members and protect them from retaliation. Upon completion of an investigation, the Provost will determine what steps, if any, are needed to restore the position or reputation of the complainant, witnesses, and panel members. The vice president for Research and Economic Development is responsible for implementing any steps the Provost approves. The vice president for Research and Economic Development also will take appropriate steps during the inquiry, and the Provost during the investigation, to prevent any retaliation against the complainant, witnesses, and panel members.

D. Allegations Not Made in Good Faith

Based on the reports of the inquiry and/or investigative panels, the Provost will determine whether the complainant's allegations of misconduct in research or scholarship were made in good faith. If an allegation was not made in good faith, the Provost will determine the institutional administrative

action(s) to be taken against the complainant. Possible administrative actions that may be taken against a complainant shown not to have acted in good faith include:

- letter of reprimand;
- probation;
- suspension;
- salary reduction;
- initiation of steps leading to possible rank reduction; and/or
- termination of employment.

XIII. Record Retention

After completion of the inquiry or investigation and all ensuing related actions, the RSIO will prepare a complete file, including the records of ~~any-the~~ inquiry ~~and/or~~ investigation (if an investigation was conducted) and copies of all documents and other materials furnished to the RSIO or panels. Research and scholarship misconduct records will be kept in a secure manner for seven years after completion of the proceeding or if PHS funding is involved, seven years after completion of the proceeding or the completion of any PHS proceeding involving the research misconduct allegation, whichever is later.

APPENDIX I: Principles and Procedures for Merger or Discontinuance of Academic Units

I. Principles

The University's mission in teaching, research, and service includes providing a liberal education as well as advancing and disseminating highly specialized knowledge. However, to allocate its resources effectively, the University must from time to time merge or discontinue academic units (e.g., colleges, institutes, departments, programs) when they are no longer central to the institution's mission or when these units can be maintained only by using funds essential for units whose continuance is deemed more critical to the University's mission.

The Board of Trustees of The University of Alabama has responsibility for approval of the University's mission, role, and scope, and for the degree programs offered by the University. The Board delegates to the President responsibility for administration of the University and its programs of instruction, research, and service. Decisions to merge or discontinue academic units are the responsibility of the President. The President will seek the advice of administrators and faculty within the University in considering such decisions and will ensure that all faculty and staff who might be affected by merger or discontinuance of programs are consulted before a final decision is made and that the decision will consider the needs of current students. The President will base decisions to merge or discontinue an academic unit essentially on educational considerations that reflect long-range judgment that the overall educational mission of the University will be enhanced by the merger or discontinuance.

II. Procedures

A standing committee called the University Committee on the Merger or Discontinuance of Academic Units (referred to hereafter as the committee) will represent the faculty as a whole in cases where merger or discontinuance could result in termination of a faculty appointment (i.e., termination of an appointment with tenure or a probationary or special appointment before the end of the specified time). The specified time for notification of termination of appointments for probationary faculty shall conform to requirements for notification of non-retention in the *Faculty Handbook*.¹ Persons who have special appointments, or appointments that are neither tenured nor tenure-track, are reviewed annually; continuation of such appointments depends on a record of satisfactory performance and on a continuing need for the services performed.

~~Its~~ The committee's function will be to determine whether merger or discontinuance of an academic unit would benefit the educational mission of the University as a whole. This determination will be based essentially on educational considerations similar to those that affect the President's decision and the recommendations by deans and the Provost. Examples of factors that may be considered include program viability (based on demand for a program and the potential for growth), and the need to avoid duplication, or to effect economies in management, or to strengthen related programs).² An academic unit's record of excellence will be a consideration in decisions regarding merger or discontinuation, but will not be the decisive factor.

The committee shall consist of nine tenured faculty members who are not members of the University Mediation and Grievance Committee, with three members elected by the Faculty

Commented [MOA86]: Internal link

Senate, three elected by the Graduate Council, and three elected by the Council of Deans. The three persons elected by each group will serve staggered three-year terms, with a new member elected each fall semester for a term to begin at the start of the following spring semester. The initial committee will begin to serve when elected, rather than at the start of the following spring semester, and the terms of members will be extended accordingly. Each group shall assign terms of one, two, and three years to the three persons it elects to the initial committee. The initial Committee will meet as soon as possible to elect its chairperson. No person elected by a group shall be a member of that group at the time of the election, and the Council of Deans shall not elect any person who is a current member of the Council of Assistant and Associate Deans. No two of the three serving members elected by a group shall be faculty members of the same college or school (other than the Graduate School). Members completing a term on the committee are not eligible for reelection until two years have passed. The committee elects its own chairperson from among its members at the start of each spring semester.

When the dean, after consultation with the Provost and any other appropriate deans or department chairs, believes it necessary to consider a merger or discontinuance of an academic unit, the dean shall proceed as follows:

1. The dean shall convene a meeting of the appropriate faculty. At this meeting, the dean shall explain the reasons for considering a merger or discontinuance and propose the terms and conditions of any changes in faculty status resulting from the proposed merger or discontinuance, such as termination of faculty positions, reassignment of faculty, modification in research or teaching assignments, changes in reporting channels, or retraining that would be provided to facilitate continued employment of faculty. The dean shall ask the faculty to introduce any information in support of continuation of the academic unit or to suggest alternatives. This information may be conveyed to the dean orally or in writing, individually or in groups, and must be received within a reasonable period of time following the meeting (normally two weeks). In addition, any faculty member with tenure who believes that reassignment or modifications in research or teaching assignments is tantamount to termination of their appointment with the University shall inform the dean in writing, providing reasons for ~~their~~ [the faculty member's](#) concern, within a reasonable period of time (normally two weeks).
2. If, after a reasonable period following the meeting with the unit in question (normally two weeks), the dean decides to continue considering the proposed merger or discontinuance, the dean shall convene a second meeting of the appropriate faculty and convey to them a summary of whatever information has been assembled and the alternatives suggested. For those tenured faculty members who indicated to the dean in writing that they believe their reassignments or other modifications in faculty assignments are tantamount to termination of their appointment with the University, the dean shall provide a written statement explaining plans for continued employment in a faculty position within the University. Those tenured faculty members not satisfied by the dean's written statement of explanation shall indicate their concerns to the dean in writing, requesting that the merger or discontinuance be reviewed by the committee; such a request will be dealt with as described in [Item 4](#) below. The dean shall allow a reasonable period following this second meeting for the faculty to respond to any information or alternatives discussed in the meeting and to respond to the written statement of explanation (normally two weeks).

Commented [MOA87]: Internal link

3. If the dean decides to continue considering the proposed merger or discontinuance, ~~he or she~~ the dean shall convey the reasons for considering a merger or discontinuance, along with a summary of all responses received, to the Council of Deans, the Faculty Senate, and, in cases that might affect graduate programs, the Graduate Council. A copy of the summary conveyed by the dean will be available to the faculty in the office of the academic unit under consideration. Such notification is to provide opportunity to identify consequences that may have been overlooked or elicit suggestions for alternatives. The dean shall allow a reasonable period (normally 30 days during the fall and spring semester) for these groups to respond.
4. If, after receiving any responses from the groups in Item 3 above, the dean decides to proceed with consideration of the merger or discontinuance, and no faculty appointments are to be terminated, then the dean shall proceed directly to Item 5. However, when the proposed merger or discontinuance includes termination of tenured faculty appointments of probationary or special appointments without appropriate notification, or in cases where tenured faculty have requested a review as in Item 2 above, the dean shall forward a summary of the information gathered to the University Committee on the Merger or Discontinuance of Academic Units, requesting the committee determine whether the merger or discontinuance is based essentially on educational considerations. The committee shall have a summary of all data gathered and shall have access to the original materials from which the summary has been compiled. The committee is free to gather other materials at its discretion; it may seek advice from knowledgeable parties on campus or elsewhere. Normally, the ~~the~~ committee should complete its work within ~~thirty~~ 30 days, but it may extend this period in difficult cases. The committee will convey its report to the dean.
5. If the dean, after receiving information and recommendations from all groups, decides to proceed with the merger or discontinuance, the dean shall submit a recommendation to the Provost. This recommendation will include all information and advice regarding the proposed merger or discontinuance that has been offered by individuals or groups including, when appropriate, the report of the committee. The dean's recommendation will include proposed provisions to allow students already enrolled to complete their degree requirements.
6. The Provost is responsible for reviewing the recommendation for merger or discontinuance from the dean, and for ensuring that all steps in these procedures have been followed. The Provost may ask for additional information or clarification concerning items included in the dean's recommendation and may seek advice from knowledgeable parties on campus or elsewhere. The Provost will make a recommendation to the President.
7. The President, after studying the recommendation from the Provost and obtaining any additional information, clarification, or advice that ~~he or she~~ the President thinks necessary, will make the decision whether to merge or discontinue academic units. If the President decides to merge or discontinue units, provisions shall be made to allow students already enrolled to complete their degree requirements. Every effort will be given to finding continued employment at the University for administrative, technical, or clerical staff members whose jobs might be lost.
8. In cases where the merger or discontinuance above is a merger or discontinuance of colleges or schools, the Provost will perform the duties assigned to the dean in this

Commented [MOA88]: Internal link

Commented [MOA89]: Internal link

Commented [MOA90]: Internal link

document, and the first recommendation shall be made to the President rather than to the Provost.

III. Additional Considerations

The University shall make every reasonable effort to provide other suitable positions for faculty members whose appointments are lost due to a decision to merge or discontinue a unit. Probationary faculty members whose appointments are lost due to a decision to merge or discontinue a unit may have their appointments terminated with appropriate notification as defined in [Chapter 2, VII](#). If placement in another position at the University for a tenured faculty member would be facilitated by a reasonable period of training, financial and other essential support for such training will be proffered. If no position is available within the University, with or without reasonable retraining, the tenured faculty member's appointment may be terminated. Notice of termination to faculty members will be provided consistent with policies published in this [Faculty Handbook](#).

Commented [MOA91]: Internal link

Commented [MOA92]: Internal link

If the University is unable to provide suitable employment for a tenured faculty member who is displaced by the merger or discontinuance of academic units, the University shall provide at least one year of notice, or at least one academic year of severance pay. In determining the date of severance and the amount of severance pay, the University will consider the faculty member's service to the University and will be mindful of the interests of the faculty members who are approaching eligibility for vesture in the retirement system or eligibility for retirement.

Any tenured faculty member whose appointment is terminated because of merger or discontinuance of a unit, or who believes changes in [their](#) assignments are tantamount to termination of appointment, and who questions whether the University followed the policy described in this document, is entitled to appeal to the [University Mediation and Grievance Committee](#). The hearing will be limited to questions as to whether the University has followed policy described in this document; the decision to merge or discontinue the unit shall not be at issue.

APPENDIX J: Qualifications for the Graduate Faculty of The University of Alabama

The purpose of the graduate faculty at The University of Alabama is to set standards for graduate work and provide graduate instruction. It is the responsibility of the graduate faculty in each division to elect its representative(s) to the Graduate Council, which acts for the faculty in matters relating to graduate work. There are three categories of members: full, associate, and affiliate. Only members of the graduate faculty may teach courses numbered 500 or above, and only members of the graduate faculty may chair thesis and examining committees. Only full members may chair dissertation committees.

A. Criteria for Full and Associate Members

The dean of each academic division has the responsibility of nominating members to serve on the graduate faculty. These nominees who must meet the following criteria:

1. (a) They must hHold the PhD or other terminal degree, and (b) must hHold the rank of at least Assistant Professor~~assistant professor~~ in a full-time, tenure-track position.
2. Full and associate members must demonstrate ability and continuing interest in the graduate program and in research or creative activity. Full members must show a strong, continuing record of productive research, publication, creative activity, and scholarly activity appropriate to the discipline. These broad requirements are best interpreted by each department and college considering their unique aspects.
3. They must bBe recommended by the departmental graduate faculty, department chairperson, and dean of the academic division. These nominations will then be acted upon by the cChairperson of the Graduate Council and the dDean of the Graduate School.

B. Terms of Appointment

Full and associate members are appointed for six-year renewable terms.

C. Affiliate Membership

Affiliate membership may be extended to well-qualified individuals, who do not satisfy the above criteria, to perform specific functions for specific time periods, not to exceed ~~one-three~~ calendar years. They should be recommended by the departmental graduate faculty, department chairperson, and dean of the academic division. These nominations will then be acted upon by the chairperson of the Graduate Council and the dean of the Graduate School.